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PART |

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

Based in Richmond, Virginia, The Brink's Companyipremier provider of secure logistics and segwwaiutions, including the transportation of vallesh cash logistics and
other securityrelated services to banks and financial institugjaetailers, government agencies, mints, jeweladsother commercial operations around the woBither service
provided are armored transportation, automatedrtelachine (“ATM”) replenishment and servicing; sexglobal transportation of valuables (“Global\Begs”); guarding
services (including airport security or “Aviatioe&urity"); currency deposit processing and cashagament services. Cash management services inthstidogistics services
(“Cash Logistics”), deploying and servicing safesl aafe control devices (e.g. our patented CommfSsdrvice), coin sorting and wrapping, integratedc&hend cash
processing services (“Virtual Vault Services”), grdviding bill payment acceptance and processamngises to utility companies and other billers (fReent Services”). The
Brink’s Company, along with its subsidiaries, ifereed to as “we,” “our,” “Brink’s,” or “the Compayi throughout this Form 10-K.

Brink’s brand and reputation spans across the globe international network serves customers inertban 100 countries and employs approximatelyOQLp@ople. Our
operations include approximately 1,100 facilitiesl 42,800 vehicles. Our globally recognized bragtdbal infrastructure, expertise, longevity anditage are important
competitive advantages. Over the past severasyaar have changed from a conglomerate (with ojpergtn the U.S. monitored home security, heavyghefreight
transportation, coal and other natural resourcastriés) into a company focused solely on the sgcimdustry.

Our operating segments consist of four geograpHesope, Middle East, and Africa (‘EMEA”); Latinmerica; Asia Pacific; and North America, which aggregated into two
reportable segments: International and North Anaeri€inancial information related to our two repbie segments (International and North America)rmomtsegment income
and expenses are included in the consolidateddiabstatements on pages 69-118.

A significant portion of our business is conducite@rnationally, with 76% of our $3 billion in renees earned outside the United States. In thetfaurarter of 2010, we
completed an acquisition in Mexico and anotheram&ja. We expect that these operations will gémeaggproximately $450 to 500 million in revenue2@il. Financial
results are reported in U.S. dollars and are afteby fluctuations in the relative value of foreigunrrencies. Our business is also subject to atbles customarily associated w
operating in foreign countries including changiagdr and economic conditions, political instabijlitgstrictions on repatriation of earnings and dpas well as nationalization,
expropriation and other forms of restrictive gowveant actions. The future effects of these risksioéibe predicted. Additional information abosks associated with our
foreign operations is provided on pages 11, 436hd

We have significant liabilities associated with oetirement plans, a portion of which has been éahdSee pages 51-53 and 57—-61 for more informatichese
liabilities. Additional risk factors are described pages 10-14.

Available Information and Corporate Governance Doments
The following items are available free of chargeoom website ((www.brinks.conas soon as reasonably possible after filing orifling them with the Securities and Excha
Commission (the “SEC"):

« Annual reports on Form 10-K

« Quarterly reports on Form 10-Q

« Current reports on Form 8-K, and amendments toethegorts

In addition, the following documents are also aafali¢ free of charge on our website:
« Corporate governance policies
« Business Code of Ethics
« The charters of the following committees of our Bbaf Directors (the “Board”):Audit and Ethics, Compensation and Benefits, anth@ate Governance a
Nominating

Printed versions of these items will be mailed fséeharge to shareholders upon request. Sucles¢gjoan be made by contacting the Corporate Seg@t1801 Bayberry
Court, P. O. Box 18100, Richmond, Virginia 2322&81




General

Our 2010 segment operating profit was $209 milborrevenues of $3.1 billion, resulting in a segnogerating profit margin of 6.7%.
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(I billions)
$3.2 $3.1 $3.1
$2.7
$2_4 Foli] 0.9 0.5
£ 0.9
0.8
$2.2 $2.4 b 2.2
$1.5 o

2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

O International 0 North America

Segment Operating Profit
(fomillions)

$272
5 57
$223 $213 $209
¥isd LTO b 57 baa
k70
$215
b 15 3 4 157 % 165
5 114)
] ] 1 1 ]

2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

O International O North America
Amounts may not add due to roundil

Brink’s operations are located around the worlchvifite majority of our revenues (71%) and segmeataimg profits (79%) are earned outside of Northekica.
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Brink’s serves customers in over 100 countries. HAkee ownership interests in operations in appreatéfy 50 countries and have agency relationshipis ether companies in
other countries to complete our global networkinBs ownership interests in subsidiaries and iaffdld companies ranged from 36% to 100% at DeceBthe2010. In some
instances, local laws limit the extent of Brink\wiership interest.

International operationshas three regions: Europe, Middle East and AffiIEMEA”); Latin America and Asia Pacific. On a coimid basis, international operations generated
2010 revenues of $2.2 billion (71% of total) angreent operating profit of $165 million (79% of thta

Brink's EMEA generated $1.2 billion in revenues in 2010 or (38%rink’s total 2010 revenues) and operates 261 brancl&bkdountries. Its largest operations ar
France, the Netherlands and Germany. In 2010 cEraocounted for $533 million or 44% of EMEA reves{17% of total).

Brink’s Latin America generated $877 million in revenues in 2010 (28%) @perates 388 branches in nine countries. Igekroperations are in Mexico, Brazil,
Venezuela and Colombia. Brazil accounted for $3dBon or 35% of Latin American revenues (10% ofet) in 2010. Venezuela accounted for $186 omillor 21%
of Latin American revenues (6% of total) in 201®exico had $52 million of revenues in the last tmwonths of 2010.

Brink’s Asia-Pacific generated $127 million in revenues in 2010 (4%) eperates 106 branches in nine countries.

North American operationdnclude 181 branches in the U.S. and 53 branch€aiada. North American operations generated g®dhues of $918 million (29% of total) and
segment operating profit of $44 million (21% oféal)t We have included our newly acquired Mexicarragions with our International — Latin America i@y

The largest eight Brink’s operations (U.S., Fra®®gzil, Venezuela, the Netherlands, Colombia, @arend Germany) accounted for $2.3 billion or 74%t@al 2010 revenues.

(In millions) 2010 % total % change 2009 % total % change 2008 % total % change
Revenues by
region:
EMEA:
France $ 533 17 13 $ 61E 20 12 $ 69¢ 22 11
Other 667 21 4 642 20 (3) 661 21 18
Total 1,20C 38 (5) 1,257 40 @) 1,35¢ 43 14
Latin America:
Brazil 302 10 17 25€ 8 33 194 6 20
Venezuel: 18€ 6 (52) 37€ 12 7 351 11 56
Other 38¢ 12 44 271 9 6 25€ 8 23
Total 877 28 (©) 90¢E 29 13 801 25 35
Asia Pacific 127 4 61 79 2 10 72 2 15
Total
Internationa 2,20¢ 71 2 2,241 71 - 2,232 70 21
North America 91€ 29 3 894 29 (4) 93z 30 5
Total Revenue $ 3,127 10C - $ 3,13t 10C 1 $ 3,16¢ 10C 16

Amounts may not add due to roundil

Geographic financial information related to revenaad long-lived assets is included in the cadatéd financial statements on page 86.




Services
Our primary services include:
« Cash-in-transit (“CIT") — armored vehicle transgdidn
« Automated teller machine (“ATM”) — replenishmentaservicing
« Global Services — transportation of valuables dlgba
« Cash Logistics — supply chain management of cash
« Payment Services — consumers pay utility and ditilsrat payment locations
« Guarding Services — including airport security

Brink’s typically provides customized services undeparate contracts designed to meet the disteeds of customers. Contracts usually cover gialitérm of at least one
year and range up to five years, depending onghgéce. The contracts generally remain in efférethe initial term until canceled by either pal

Core Services (54% of total revenue in 2010)
CIT and ATM Services are core services we provideustomers throughout the world. Core servieaeated approximately $1.7 billion of revenue2040.

CIT — Serving customers since 1859, our success irigaifiven by a combination of rigorous securitygtiges, high-quality customer service, risk
management and logistics expertise. CIT servieeeglly include the secure transportation of:

« cash between businesses and financial institusook as banks and credit unions,

« cash, securities and other valuables between cocthbanks, central banks, and investment bankimbaiokerage firms, and

« new currency, coins, bullion and precious metalsémtral banks and other customers.

ATM Services- We manage nearly 94,000 ATM units worldwide fanks and other cash dispensing operators. Wedeaash replenishment, monitoring
and forecasting capabilities, deposit pickup aratessing services. Advanced online tools delieasolidated electronic reports for simplified
reconciliation. With our recent acquisition in @ala, we acquired the capability to assist finanogtitutions in managing the processes and infnasire that
are critical to the deployment of ATM networks afdctronic payment networks.

High-value Services (35% of total revenue in 2010)
Our core services, combined with our brand andaloffrastructure, provide a substantial platfononf which we offer additional high-value servicebligh-value
services generated approximately $1.1 billion e€raies in 2010.

Global Services — Serving customers in more than 100 countries)kiis a leading global provider of secure logistior valuables including diamonds,
jewelry, precious metals, securities, currencyhHirh devices, electronics and pharmaceuticals. cbheprehensive suite of services provides packidup,
secure storage, inventory management, customsadlearconsolidation, and secure transport andetglihrough a combination of armored vehicles and
secure air and sea transportation to leveragexdangve global network. Our specialized diamond gwelry operations have offices in the majontbad
and jewelry centers of the world.

Cash Logistics- Brink’s offers a fully integrated approach to ragimg the supply chain of cash, from pointsale through transport, vaulting, bank deposit
related credit. Cash Logistics services include:

money processing and cash management services,

deploying and servicing “intelligent” safes andesabntrol devices, including our patented CompuSagervice,

integrated check and cash processing servicest(alivault”), and

check imaging services

Money processing services generally include cognsrting and wrapping currency. Other currenenagement services include cashier balancing,
counterfeit detection, account consolidation amdtebnic reporting. Retail and bank customersBrigk’s to count and reconcile coins and currerprgpare
bank deposit information, and replenish coins amdency in specific denominations.

Brink’s offers a variety of advanced technology laggtions, including online cash tracking, casheintory management, check imaging for real-time diépo
processing, and a variety of other web-based irdtion tools that enable banks and other custornenediuce costs while improving service to theirtomers.




Brink’s CompuSafe® service offers customers an integrated, closed-yspem for preventing theft and managing cash.maket CompuSafe services to a
variety of cash-intensive customers such as coeweeistores, gas stations, restaurants, retaillaid entertainment venues. Once the speciaieds
installed, the customer’s employees deposit cugrémto the safe’s cassettes, which can only be xenidy Brink’s personnel. Upon removal, the cassedre
securely transported to a vault for processing wlventents are verified and transferred for depd3itr CompuSafe system features currency-recagnind
counterfeit-detection technology, multi-languagecto screens and an electronic interface betweepdim¢-of-sale, back-office systems and external

banks. Our electronic reporting interface witheemtil banks enables our CompuSafe Service custdmezseive same-day credit on their cash balares)
if the cash remains on the customer’s premises.

Virtual Vault services combine CIT, Cash Logistieaulting and electronic reporting technologietiétp banks expand into new markets while minimizing
investment in vaults and branch facilities. Inigidd to secure storage, we process deposits, geastieck imaging and reconciliation services, cwye
inventory management, ATM replenishment orders,eladtronically transmit debits and credits.

We believe the quality and scope of our cash psingsnd information systems differentiate our Clasgistics services from competitive offerings.

Payment Services We provide bill payment acceptance and processngces to utility companies and other billeren€umers can pay their bills at our
payment locations or locations that we operateeairal of billers and bank customers.

Commercial Security SystemsIn certain markets in AsiBacific and Europe, we provide commercial seciaystem services. The services include the d¢
and installation of the security systems, includitgyms, motion detectors, closed-circuit televisiadigital video recorders, access control sysiegiading
card and biometric readers, electronic locks, grtital turnstiles. Monitoring services may alsopvevided after systems have been installed.

Other Security Services (11% of total revenue in@p

Security and Guarding- We protect airports, offices, warehouses, sta@ed,public venues with electronic surveillanceess control, fire prevention and
highly trained patrolling personnel.

Our guarding services are generally offered in paam markets, including France, Germany, LuxembanhGreece. A significant portion of this busies
involves long-term contracts related primarily toagding services at airports and embassies. Génestiier guarding contracts are for a one-yeaiopethe
majority of which are extended. Our security daffie are typically stationed at customer sites,rasdonsibilities include detecting and deterringcsfic
security threats.

Growth Strategy
Our growth strategy is summarized below:

» Maximize profits in developed markets (primarily Kb America and Europe’
» Accelerate productivity and cost control efforts.
» Invest in higher-margin solutions; shift revenueita High-value services (primarily Cash Logistared Global Services).

« Invest in emerging marketby acquiring businesses that meet internal mefiicprojected growth, profitability and return amwvestment.

« Invest in adjacent securi-related marketswhere we can create value for customers with oandhr security expertise, global infrastructure atiter competitiv
advantages. Current examples include commerciarisg@and payment processir




Industry and Competitior
Brink’s competes with large multinational, regiomald smaller companies throughout the world. @rgdst multinational competitors are G4S plc (headgred in the U.K.);
Loomis AB, formerly a division of Securitas AB (Sden); Prosegur, Compania de Seguridad, S.A. (Speial) Garda World Security Corporation (Canada).

We believe the primary factors in attracting aneiréng customers are security expertise, senviggity, and price. Our competitive advantagesudet
« brand name recognition
« reputation for a high level of service and security
« risk management and logistics expertise
« global infrastructure and customer base
« proprietary cash processing and information systems
« proven operational excellence
« high-quality insurance coverage and general firerstrength

Our cost structure is generally competitive, altffiogertain competitors may have lower costs dueuariety of factors, including lower wages, lesstly employee benefits, or
less stringent security and service standards.

Although we face competitive pricing pressure immanarkets, we resist competing on price alone. bélve our high levels of service and securigynall as value added
solutions differentiate us from competitors.

The availability of high-quality and reliable insurce coverage is an important factor in our abibtgttract and retain customers and manage tkeirikerent in our
business. We purchase insurance coverage forslassxcess of what we consider to be prudent $evieself-insurance. Our insurance policies cdosses from most causes,
with the exception of war, nuclear risk and certaimer exclusions typical in such policies.

Insurance for security is provided by differentgpe of underwriters at negotiated rates and teffmemiums fluctuate depending on market conditioFise security loss
experience of Brink’s and, to a limited extent,etArmored carriers affects our premium rates.

Revenues are generated from charges per serviftgmped or based on the value of goods transpordesia result, revenues are affected by the levecohomic activity in
various markets as well as the volume of businessgfecific customers. CIT and ATM contracts ulsuabver an initial term of at least one year ameniany cases one to three
years, and generally remain in effect thereaft¢it canceled by either party. Contracts for Caslgiktics are typically longer. Costs are incunéten preparing to serve a ni
customer or to transition away from an existingteoeer. Operating profit is generally strongerhie second half of the year, particularly in therfbuuarter, as economic
activity is typically stronger during this period.

As part of the spin-off of our former monitored hesecurity business, Brink's Home Security Holdirlgs. (“BHS”), we agreed to not compete with BHStie United States,
Canada and Puerto Rico with respect to certainities related to BHS's security system monitorargl surveillance business until October 31, 2013.

Service Mark and Patent

BRINKS is a registered service mark in the U.S. eadain foreign countries. The BRINKS mark, naene related marks are of material significanceuobusiness. We own
patents expiring in 2011 and 2012 for certain cmirting and counting machines. We also own pafentsafes, including our integrated CompuSagervice, which expire
between 2015 and 2022. These patents providethsmportant advantages; however, we are not depsdrah the existence of these patents.

We have licensed the Brink’s name to a limited namdf companies, including a distributor of seguptoducts (padlocks, door hardware, etc.) offéoecale to consumers
through major retail chains.




Government Regulation
Our U.S. operations are subject to regulation leyUtS. Department of Transportation with respecttfety of operations, equipment and financial eespbility. Intrastate
operations in the U.S. are subject to state reigulatOur International operations are regulatedaying degrees by the countries in which we ofgera

Employee Relation

At December 31, 2010, our company had approximate)@00 full-time and contract employees, includipgproximately 9,000 employees in the United Staiesshom
approximately 1,000 were classified as part-tim@leyees) and approximately 62,000 employees outhielénited States. At December 31, 2010, Benkas a party to twel
collective bargaining agreements in North Amerigdwarious local unions covering approximatelydQ®mployees. The agreements have various expirdéites from 2011
to 2015. Outside of North America, approximateRbof branch employees are members of labor or@meplorganizations. We believe our employee wiatare
satisfactory.

Acquisitions

We have grown in the last several years partiallp &esult of acquiring security-related businegsesrious markets to meet our Growth Strategeactjes. Our largest
acquisitions in the last two years were in Mexiod €anada in 2010 and Brazil and India in 2009addition, we made smaller but strategically imaottacquisitions in
emerging markets including Russia and China. Betosvsummary of our recent acquisitions. See @atethe consolidated financial statements foreminformation on these
acquisitions.

Mexico. We acquired a controlling interest$ervicio Pan Americano de Proteccion, S.A. de CSPP”), a CIT, ATM and money processing businéss$60 million in
November 2010. We previously owned a 20.86% inteneSPP and we acquired an additional 78.89% ebihitstanding shares. In compliance with Mexican the remaining
0.25% noncontrolling interest is held by a Mexicampany. SPP is the largest secure logistics coyjpadexico and this acquisition expands our operet in one of the
world’s largest CIT markets. SPP has approximatdy0 million in annual revenues with approximate®y000 fulltime and contract employees, 80 branches and BBB60re«
vehicles across its nationwide network of CIT, ABKMd money processing operations.

Canada. We acquired Threshold Financial Technologies Ifithieshold”) from Versent Corporation for $39 milli in December 2010. Threshold is a leading pervid
payments solutions in Canada, specializing in medagrM and transaction processing services fomfana institutions and retailers. Threshold’s aalmevenue is
approximately $48 million, about half of which ismerated by providing outsourced ATM network adstiaition and transaction processing solutions. cimepany, which
employs approximately 125 people, also owns andabdge a network of private-label ATMs in Canada.

Brazil. We acquired two businesses, Sebival-Seguranca Barodustrial e de Valores Ltda. and Setal Sewigspecializados, for $48 million in January 200%e
acquisitions expanded our CIT and payment procgssaerations into the mid-western region of Brazil.

India. We acquired additional shares of Brink’'s Arya, & @hd Global Services business, in September 200&asing our ownership from 40% to 78% for $28iam.

France. We acquired Est Valeurs S.A., a provider of CIT aagh services in Eastern France in March 2010v&surs employs approximately 100 people and @092
revenue of $13 million.

Russia. We acquired a majority stake in a Russian cashgssing business in April 2010 that complementsssRn CIT business that was acquired in Januar9.2@¢0th
principal operations in Moscow and approximatel ®dnployees, the combined operations offer a &nge of CIT, ATM, money processing and Global Smwioperations for
domestic and international markets.

China. We acquired a majority stake in ICD Limited, awoercial security business in the Asia-Pacific oegh September 2009. ICD designs, installs, na@iistand manages
commercial security systems with offices in Hongn§plndia, Singapore and Australia, and has apprateély 200 employees.

PanamaWe acquired the remaining outstanding shares grenored transportation operation in Panama in Fepr2009. We previously owned 49% of the company.

Jordan. We acquired a majority stake in a Jordan CIT armb&ll Services business in February 2011. We puslycheld a 45% ownership interest. The Jordaoferations
employ approximately 90 people.




DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

Brink’s Home Security Holdings, Inc.

On October 31, 2008, we completed the 100% spimfolfrink’s Home Security Holdings, Inc. (‘“BHS")BHS offered monitored security services in North&ina primarily
for owner-occupied, single-family residences. Tlesser extent, BHS offered security services onmercial and multi-family properties. BHS typigahstalled and owned
the on-site security systems and charged fees totan@nd service the systems.

As part of the spin-off, we agreed not to compeitt BHS in the United States, Canada and Puerto Rith respect to certain activities related to BsSecurity system
monitoring and surveillance business until Octdier2013.

In connection with the spin-off, we entered intotai agreements with BHS to define responsibftityobligations arising before and after the spffydacluding obligations
relating to liabilities of the businesses, emplsydaxes and intellectual property. We enteredl @&nBrand Licensing Agreement with BHS. Underdagesement, BHS licensed
the rights to use certain trademarks, includinderaarks that contain the word “Brink’s” in the UrdtStates, Canada and Puerto Rico. In exchandkedse rights, BHS agreed
to pay a royalty fee equal to 1.25% of its net rexes during the period after the spin-off until éxgiration date of the agreement. This royaltome is recorded in continuing
operations within other operating income and expens

On June 28, 2010, we amended our Brand Licensirrgekgent with the successor by merger to BHS. Thended agreement (i) fixed a termination date ofusid 5, 2010, fo
the Brand Licensing Agreement and establishedealfioyalty amount of $2.8 million for the periodgo@ning April 1, 2010, and ending on the terminataate, and (ii) provide
the successor with the right to extend the ternonadate to August 27, 2010, for an additional paptrof $0.3 million. During the third quarter, theccessor exercised its right
to extend the termination date. The royalty incamlated to the amended agreement was recognizaalydrom April 1, 2010, through the terminatioatd.

Former Coal Business
We have significant liabilities related to bengfiins that pay medical costs for retirees of ounfer coal operations. A portion of these liakektihave been funded. We expect
to have ongoing expenses within continuing openat@and future cash outflow for these liabiliti€¥ee notes 3 and 17 to the consolidated financ#sients for more

information.




ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

We are exposed to risk in the operation of ourfesses. Some of these risks are common to all @oepdoing business in the industries in whicltoperate and some are
unique to our business. In addition, there atesrassociated with investing in our common stotkese risk factors should be considered carefutigmevaluating the compa
and its businesses.

We may not realize the expected benefits of strategquisitions because of integration difficultieend other challenges, which may adversely affeat éinancial condition,
results of operations or cash flows.

Our ability to realize the anticipated benefitsffroecent acquisitions will depend, in part, on sssfully integrating each business with our compswell as improving
operating performance and profitability through management efforts and capital investments. TBke to a successful integration and improvememipefrating performance
and profitability include, among others, failureitimplement our business plan, unanticipated issuggegrating operations with ours, unanticipathdnges in laws and
regulations, labor unrest resulting from union apiens, regulatory, environmental and permittirgpes, the effect on our internal controls and caampé with the regulatory
requirements under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2804 difficulties in fully identifying and evaluatinpotential liabilities, risks and operating issu@e occurrence of any of
these events may adversely affect our expectediteenkthe recent acquisitions and may have a riedtadverse effect on our financial condition,uks of operations or cash
flows.

The inability to access capital or significant ineases in the cost of capital could adversely affeat business

Our ability to obtain adequate and cost-effectinaricing depends on our credit ratings as welhadiquidity of financial markets. A negative chanig our ratings outlook or
any downgrade in our current investment-grade tratings by our rating agencies could adverseigcabur cost and/or access to sources of liquiity capital. Additionally,
such a downgrade could increase the costs of bargounder available credit lines. Disruptions ie trapital and credit markets could adversely affectability to access short-
term and long-term capital. Our access to fundeushort-term credit facilities is dependent onabéity of the participating banks to meet theinfling commitments. Those
banks may not be able to meet their funding comenitis if they experience shortages of capital aqddity. Longer disruptions in the capital and dtedarkets as a result of
uncertainty, changing or increased regulation, cedwalternatives, or failures of significant finedénstitutions could adversely affect our accessapital needed for our
business.

We have significant retirement obligations. Pooniestment performance of retirement plan holdingsut unfavorably affect our liquidity and results adperations.

We have substantial pension and retiree medic@atiwns, a portion of which have been funded. @mmunt of these obligations is significantly aféztby factors that are not
in our control, including interest rates used ttedmine the present value of future payment stre@mestment returns, medical inflation rates, iggration rates and changes in
laws and regulations. Our liabilities for thesar increased significantly in 2008 primarily agsult of a decline in value of plan investmerifs.improve the funded status of
The Brink’s Company Pension-Retirement Plan, weerasoluntary $150 million cash and stock contiitrutn 2009. The funded status of the plan was@pmately 80% as
of December 31, 2010. Based on actuarial assungpéibthe end of 2010, we expect that we will lppiired to make contributions totaling $136 millimnThe Brink's Compan’
Pension-Retirement Plan over a five-year periodrenoh 2016. This could adversely affect our lidjty and our ability to use our resources to matguasitions and to
otherwise grow our business. The net periodicscokbur retirement plans in 2009 and 2010 weresesbly affected by the investment losses sustam2@08, and although
plan investments have partially recovered in tisé ti@o years, we anticipate that expenses in futaegs will continue to be affected as the unreczeghlosses are recognized
into earnings. If these investments have additimsses, our future cash requirements and costhése plans will be further adversely affected.
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We have significant operations outside the Uniteth®s.

We currently serve customers in more than 100 cmstincluding approximately 50 countries whereoperate subsidiaries. Seventy-six percent (7&%uprevenue in 2010
came from operations outside the U.S. We expeetge outside the U.S. to continue to represeigrafisant portion of total revenue. Business @tiens outside the U.S. are
subject to political, economic and other risks i@me in operating in foreign countries, such as:

« the difficulty of enforcing agreements, collectiregeivables and protecting assets through foreigallsystems;

« trade protection measures and import or exporh$icey requirements;

« difficulty in staffing and managing widespread agt@ns;

« required compliance with a variety of foreign lasred regulations;

« varying permitting and licensing requirements ifiedent jurisdictions;

« foreign ownership laws;

« changes in the general political and economic ¢@di in the countries where we operate, partitpiaremerging markets;

« threat of nationalization and expropriation;

« higher costs and risks of doing business in a nurobforeign jurisdictions;

« laws or other requirements and restrictions astetiaith organized labor;

« limitations on the repatriation of earnings;

« fluctuations in equity, revenues and profits dueh@anges in foreign currency exchange rates, ifmfucheasures taken by governments to devalue afffazirrenc
exchange rates; ar

« inflation levels exceeding that of the U.S.

We are exposed to certain risks when we operateuntries that have high levels of inflation, irdilug the risk that:

« the rate of price increases for services will ne¢fx pace with the cost of inflation;

« adverse economic conditions may discourage busgresgh which could affect demand for our services;

« the devaluation of the currency may exceed theahiteflation and reported U.S. dollar revenues prafits may decline; and
« these countries may be deemed “highly inflationdoy”U.S. generally accepted accounting princigt€&AAP”) purposes.

We try to manage these risks by monitoring curesmt anticipated political and economic developmantsadjusting operations as appropriate. Chaingég political or
economic environments of the countries in whichoperate could have a material adverse effect omasiness, financial condition, results of operatiand cash flows.

Restructuring charges may be required in the futu

There is a possibility we will take restructuringtians in one or more of our markets in the futioreeduce expenses if a major customer is losgcifirring operating losses
continue, or if one of the risks described abovednnection with our foreign operations materiaiz&hese actions could result in significant regtiring charges at these
subsidiaries, including recognizing impairment gjesrto write down assets, and recording accrualsmployee severance and operating leases. Thasges, if required,
could significantly and materially affect resultfsoperations and cash flows.

Earnings of our Venezuelan operations may not beagriated for the foreseeable future, which wills&ict our ability to use these earnings and casbvis for genera
corporate purposes such as reducing our U.S. debt.

Under a June 2010 law in Venezuela, exchanging mgaency for U.S. dollars requires the approvidghe government’s central bank. Approved trarisastmay not exceed
$350,000 per legal entity per month. We beliewel#w will limit the repatriation of cash from Veneela for the foreseeable future, and as a resililireduce the amount of
cash in the future that could be used for genenglarate purposes, including reducing our U.S. détttDecember 31, 2010, our Venezuelan subsididredd $3.3 million of
cash and short-term investments denominated inddlfars and $18.2 million of cash denominatedafiar fuertes.

We operate in highly competitive industries
We compete in industries that are subject to sicanit competition and pricing pressures in mostket@: Because we believe we have competitive adgas such as brand

name recognition and a reputation for a high lefelervice and security, we resist competing ooepalone. However, continued pricing pressurectaffect our customer base
or pricing structure and have an adverse effecwrbusiness, financial condition, results of oieres and cash flows.
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Our earnings and cash flow could be materially affed by increased losses of customer valuables.

We purchase insurance coverage for losses of cesteatuables for amounts in excess of what we dengirudent deductibles and/or retentions. Instgas provided by
different groups of underwriters at negotiatedsated terms. Coverage is available to us in magurance markets, although premiums charged d&jecuo fluctuations
depending on market conditions. Our loss expeeend that of other armored carriers affects premrates charged to us. We are self-insured fael®below our coverage
limits and recognize expense up to these limitafdual losses. Our insurance policies cover Bsen most causes, with the exception of war, earctisk and various other
exclusions typical for such policies. The availiépif high-quality and reliable insurance covegdg an important factor in order for us to obtanu retain customers and to
manage the risks of our business. If our losserease, or if we are unable to obtain adequatednse coverage at reasonable rates, our finarmmaliton, results of operations
and cash flows could be materially and adversdicédd.

We have risks associated with confidential indivalinformation.

In the normal course of business, we collect, pgs@nd retain sensitive and confidential informatibout individuals. Despite the security measuresave in place, our
facilities and systems, and those of third-partyise providers, could be vulnerable to securityawhes, acts of vandalism, computer viruses, nusglar lost data,
programming or human errors or other similar evedsy security breach involving the misappropmoatiloss or other unauthorized disclosure of canftal information,
whether by us or by third-party service provideld damage our reputation, expose us to the asktgation and liability, disrupt our business otherwise have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial conditiesults of operations and cash flows.

We operate in regulated industries.

Our U.S. operations are subject to regulation leyUtS. Department of Transportation with respesaiety of operations and equipment and finaneisponsibility. Intrastate
operations in the U.S. are subject to regulatiosthye regulatory authorities and interprovincig@tions in Canada are subject to regulation ya@an and provincial
regulatory authorities. Our international openasi@re regulated to varying degrees by the cosntmieshich we operate. Many countries have peregjtiirements for security
services and prohibit foreign companies from prmmgdifferent types of security services.

Changes in laws or regulations could require a ghan the way we operate, which could increasesomsbtherwise disrupt operations. In additiofliufa to comply with any
applicable laws or regulations could result in sab8al fines or revocation of our operating peswand licenses. If laws and regulations were tmge or we failed to comply,
our business, financial condition, results of ofierss and cash flows could be materially and adgraffected.

Failures of our IT system could have a material eetge effect on our business.

We are heavily dependent on our information teabgwl(IT) infrastructure. Significant problems wiblr infrastructure, such as telephone or IT sydtghare, computer viruse
or other third-party tampering with IT systems, kcblialt or delay our ability to service our custaséhinder our ability to conduct our business eeguire significant
remediation costs. In addition, we continue toleate and implement upgrades to our IT systems.aWeaware of inherent risks associated with répigihese systems,
including accurately capturing data and systermmugisons, and believe we are taking appropriateoadt mitigate these risks through testing, trajnend staging
implementation. However, there can be no assusatheg we will successfully launch these systenm@asned or that they will occur without disruptioto our operations. Any
of these events could have a material adverseteaffeour business, financial condition, result®pérations and cash flows.

We have retained obligations from the sale of BAXoGal.
In January 2006 we sold BAX Global. We retainechs of the obligations related to these operatiprisjarily for taxes owed prior to the date of satel for any amounts paid
related to one pending litigation matter for whigl paid $11.5 million in 2010. In addition, we pigted indemnification customary for these sortgrafisactions. Future

unfavorable developments related to these matterisl cequire us to record additional expenses dtemtash payments in excess of recorded liabilitidse occurrence of these
events could have a material adverse affect orfilmamcial condition, results of operations and césWs.
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We are subject to covenants for credit facilities.

We have credit facilities with financial covenaritgluding a limit on the ratio of debt to earnirfysfore interest, taxes, depreciation, and amaidizalimits on the ability to
pledge assets, limits on the total amount of inelééss we can incur, limits on the use of proceédsset sales and minimum coverage of interess cddthough we believe
none of these covenants are presently restriadivpérations, the ability to meet the financial@oants can be affected by changes in our resutiperitions or financial
condition. We cannot provide assurance that weméket these covenants. A breach of any of theserants could result in a default under existirgglit facilities. Upon the
occurrence of an event of default under any ofavedit facilities, the lenders could cause amoontstanding to be immediately payable and termiaiteommitments to
extend further credit. The occurrence of thesenswould have a significant effect on our liquydiind cash flows.

Our growth strategy may not be successful.

One element of our growth strategy is to extendbwand, strengthen our brand portfolio and expamdgeographic reach through active programs ottieke

acquisitions. While we may identify numerous asgign opportunities, our due diligence examinasiamd positions that we may take with respect py@piate valuations and
other transaction terms and conditions may hinderadility to successfully complete acquisitionsatthieve our strategic goals. In addition, acgoiss present risks of failing
to achieve efficient and effective integrationastgic objectives and anticipated revenue improvesnand cost savings. There can be no assurartce tha

« we will be able to acquire attractive businessefagorable terms,
« all future acquisitions will be accretive to eaggnor
« future acquisitions will be rapidly and efficienilytegrated into existing operations.

Our effective income tax rate could change.

We serve customers in more than 100 countriesydiroy approximately 50 countries where we operabsisliaries, all of which have different income taws and associated
income tax rates. Our effective income tax ratela significantly affected by changes in the nfipietax earnings by country and the related inctareates in those
countries. In addition, our effective income tateris significantly affected by the ability to liea deferred tax assets, including those assatiatth net operating

losses. Changes in income tax laws, income agponient, or estimates of the ability to realize defeé tax assets, could significantly affect oueefive income tax rate,
financial position and results of operations.

We have certain environmental and other exposuretated to our former coal operations.

We may incur future environmental and other liaieii that are presently unknown in connection with former coal operations, which could materialhd adversely affect our
financial condition, results of operations and ctsis.

We may be exposed to certain regulatory and finaicisks related to climate change.

Growing concerns about climate change may resultérimposition of additional environmental regidas to which we are subject. Some form of federgllation may be
forthcoming with respect to greenhouse gas emisdimcluding carbon dioxide) and/or "cap and tralégfislation. The outcome of this legislation magult in new regulation,
additional charges to fund energy efficiency atitséi or other regulatory actions. Compliance wlitgse actions could result in the creation of &aoldti costs to us, including,
among other things, increased fuel prices or amfuii taxes or emission allowances. We may not ketatrecover the cost of compliance with new orenstringent
environmental laws and regulations from our cust@mehich could adversely affect our business.tif@armore, the potential effects of climate changg related regulation on
our customers are highly uncertain and may adweegfédct our operations.

Forward-Looking Statements

This document contains both historical and forwlaaking information. Words such as “anticipatégstimates,” “expects,” “projects,” “intends,” “pia,” “believes,” “may,”
“should” and similar expressions may identify fordkldooking information. Forward-looking informatian this document includes, but is not limitedstatements regarding
expected revenue growth and earnings, includingracgrevenue growth and segment operating profigiman 2011, the pursuit of growth through accinsis in developed,
emerging and adjacent markets, employee relatiiatslities, expenses and cash outflows relatefbtmer operations, including benefit plans to petyree medical costs, the
outcome of pending litigation, including litigatiom Belgium, and the anticipated financial effetthe disposition of these matters, the growthwf Gash Logistics services,
expected non-segment income and expenses, theateali of deferred tax assets, our anticipated
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effective tax rate for 2011 and our tax positidre teinvestment of earnings on operations outsidé)tS., 2011 projected interest expense, capif@nditures, net income
attributable to noncontrolling interests, capitddes and depreciation and amortization, the fgnafimur acquisition strategy and pension obligatiahe trend of capital
expenditures exceeding depreciation and amortizatidgure payment of bonds issued by the PenirBatés Authority of Virginia, the ability to meegliidity needs, estimated
contractual obligations for the next five years &egtond, projected contributions, expenses andytayor the U.S. retirement plans and the non-pe®sion plans and the
expected long-term rate of return and funded statdise primary U.S. pension plan, expected futmetributions to the UMWA plans, liability for bladung obligations, the
effect of accounting rule changes, our ability bdadn U.S. dollars operate our business in Venezaethe SITME rate, the repatriation of cash fimmVenezuelan operations,
the deductibility of goodwill, future amortizatioigo net periodic pension cost, the recognitiommfecognized tax positions, the purchase of aufthtishares of Brink’s Arya,
minimum repayments of long-term debt and minimutarfe lease payments. Forwdobking information in this document is subjeckiwmown and unknown risks, uncertainti
and contingencies, which could cause actual requetsormance or achievements to differ materifliyn those that are anticipated.

These risks, uncertainties and contingencies, mémshich are beyond our control, include, but aoé lmited to the timing of the recovery from thklgal economic slowdown
and its impact on our business opportunities, ¢eemt market volatility and its impact on the dedhéor our services, the implementation of investtaén technology and High-
value services and cost reduction efforts and ihgdact on revenue and profit growth, the abildyidentify and execute further cost and operatiomprovements and
efficiencies in our core businesses, the willingnesour customers to absorb fuel surcharges awet @iture price increases, the actions of compstitregulatory and labor
issues in many of our global operations and secthieats worldwide, the impact of turnaround awdiocesponding to current conditions in Europe stability of the Venezuele
economy and changes in Venezuelan policy regaehobange rates, fluctuations in value of the Veakubolivar fuerte, variations in costs or experesed performance
delays of any public or private sector supplieryiee provider or customer, our ability to obtappaopriate insurance coverage, positions takembyrers with respect to claims
made and the financial condition of insurers, saéetd security performance, our loss experiencangés in insurance costs, the outcome of pendiddudare claims and
litigation, including claims in Belgium relating tor former CIT business in that country, riskstoosarily associated with operating in foreign coies including changing
labor and economic conditions, currency devaluatisafety and security issues, political instapiliestrictions on repatriation of earnings anditzdmationalization,
expropriation and other forms of restrictive gowveant actions, costs associated with the purchaséngriementation of cash processing and securitypaoent, employee and
environmental liabilities in connection with ourfieer coal operations, black lung claims incidertbe,impact of the Patient Protection and Afforda®&re Act on black lung
liability and operations, changes to estimatediliigds and assets in actuarial assumptions dymyonents made, investment returns and annual @dttearaluations, the fundir
requirements, accounting treatment, investmenppmdnce and costs and expenses of our retiremams,the VEBA and other employee benefits, prajestregarding the
number of participants in and beneficiaries of employee and retiree benefit plans, mandatory bmtary retirement plan and VEBA contributions, thenber of dependents
of mine workers for whom benefits are providedpattetirement experience of the former coal opené& employees, actual medical and legal experedasng to benefits,
changes in inflation rates (including medical itiia) and interest rates, changes in mortality muaabidity assumptions, discovery of new facts iatato civil suits, the additio
of claims or changes in relief sought by adverséigms our cash, debt and tax position and growveds, our demand for capital and the availability eost of such capital, the
nature of our hedging relationships, changes inleyee obligations, overall domestic and internagicgtonomic, political, social and business condii capital markets
performance, the strength of the U.S. dollar reéato foreign currencies and foreign currency erdearates, access to the capital and credit madgsges in estimates and
assumptions underlying our critical accounting giek, as more fully described in the section “Agglion of Critical Accounting Policies” but includj the likelihood that net
deferred tax assets will be realized, discountstaggpectations of future performance and antiegbagturn on assets, the timing of deductibiliterpenses and inflation, the
promulgation and adoption of new accounting stasigland interpretations, including ASU 2009-13 ar@UA200914, seasonality, pricing and other competitive stdufactors
labor relations, new government regulations anerpretations of existing regulations, legislatimgiatives, judicial decisions, issuances of pesmitariations in costs or
expenses and the ability of counterparties to perfoThe information included in this documentdpresentative only as of the date of this docuneend, The Brink’'s Company
undertakes no obligation to update any informationtained in this document.
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ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

Not applicable

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

We have property and equipment in locations througkhe world. Branch facilities generally havéiag space to support operations, a vault to sécprecess and store
valuables and a garage to house armored vehictesaame as a vehicle terminal. Many branches hddéional space to repair and maintain vehiclesddition to these
branches, we operate approximately 200 leased kioskatin America related to our payment servigesiness.

We own or lease armored vehicles, panel truckso#imer vehicles that are primarily service vehicl€ur armored vehicles are of bullet-resistant tmieion and are specially
designed and equipped to provide security for teevand cargo.

The following table discloses leased and ownedif@s and vehicles for Brink’s most significanterations as of December 31, 2010.

Facilities Vehicles
Region Leasec Owned Total Leasec Owned Total
u.sS. 172 25 197 2,08¢ 24C 2,32¢
Canade 47 12 59 50€ 50 55€
North America 21¢ 37 25€ 2,59t 29C 2,88¢
EMEA 241 41 282 71€ 3,00¢ 3,72¢
Latin America 33¢ 96 43t 451 5,13¢ 5,58¢
Asia Pacific 10¢ - 10¢ 2 552 554
Internationa 68¢ 137 82€ 1,171 8,69/ 9,86¢
Total 90¢ 174 1,082 3,76¢€ 8,98/ 12,75(

During 2010, we installed approximately 2,000 unitst of dispositions, for our CompuSafe® servitis is a 19% increase in the installed base dime&nd of 2009. Our
installed base in the U.S. now stands at approxityd2,300 units. In 2010, revenues from our Co8gfa® service represented approximately 8% of NArtierica’s revenue:

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Our former cash-in-transit operation in Belgiumi(i&fs Belgium) filed for bankruptcy in November 2D&fter a restructuring plan was rejected by larebn employees and
was placed in bankruptcy on February 2, 2011. @oelnber 7, 2010, the court-appointed provisionaliai$trators of Brink’s Belgium filed a claim ineghCommercial Court of
Brussels for €20 million against Brink’s Securitytdrnational, Inc. (“BSI"), a subsidiary of Brink&d the majority shareholder of Brink’s Belgiuffihe claim alleges that BSI
has a binding obligation to support the operatieamd liabilities of Brink’s Belgium based on a lettd future financial support issued in connectiaith the statutory audit of
Brink’s Belgium’s 2009 accounts. We do not beli¢hvat this claim has merit, and we are pursuinggareus defense to contest this action. We belibaeit is reasonably
possible that we will incur a loss of up to €20lioii (equivalent to $26.5 million at December 3010) if we lose in the court proceeding, but iaiiso reasonably possible that
we will prevail in the court resulting in no losgVe do not believe that any loss within this rarggprobable and have not accrued for this maftére ultimate resolution of this
matter is unknown and the estimated liability magmge in the future. We do not believe that thienalte disposition of this matter will have a m&kadverse effect on our
liquidity, financial position or results of operaitis.

In addition, we are involved in various other lawsand claims in the ordinary course of businés% are not able to estimate the range of losgesofoe of these matters. We
have recorded accruals for losses that are corsigegpbable and reasonably estimable. We do rieveehat the ultimate disposition of any of thesatters will have a
material adverse effect on our liquidity, finangialsition or results of operations.

ITEM 4. [REMOVED AND RESERVED]

15




Executive Officers of the Registrant

The following is a list as of February 20, 2011l names and ages of the executive and otheedsfof Brink’s indicating the principal positioasd offices held by
each. There are no family relationships amongdrifie officers named.

Name Age Positions and Offices He Held Since
Executive Officers:

Michael T. Dar 60 President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairmathef Boarc 1998
Joseph W. Dziedzi 42 Vice President and Chief Financial Offic 2009
Frank T. Lennor 69 Vice President and Chief Administrative Offic 2005
McAlister C. Marshall, Il 41 Vice President and General Coun 2008
Matthew A. P. Schumach 52 Controller 2001
Other Officers:

Jonathan A. Leo 44 Treasurel 2008
Lisa M. Landry 45 Vice Presiden- Tax 2009
Michael J. McCullougt 40 Secretary 2009
Arthur E. Wheatley 68 Vice Presiden— Risk Management and Insurar 1988

Executive and other officers of Brink’s are elecggthually and serve at the pleasure of the Board.

Mr. Dan was elected President, Chief Executived@ffiand Director of Brink’s in February 1998 andsvedected Chairman of the Board effective Januat®29. He also
serves as Chief Executive Officer of Brink’s, Ingorated, a position he has held since July 1998mFAugust 1992 to July 1993 he served as Presifdvbrth American
operations of Brink’s, Incorporated and as Exeatfice President of Brink’s, Incorporated from 1965.992.

Mr. Dziedzic is the Vice President and Chief Finah©fficer of Brink’s. Mr. Dziedzic was hired dvlay 25, 2009 and appointed to this position on Asidy 2009. Before
joining Brink's, Mr. Dziedzic was Chief Financial Officer for Gkviation Services, a producer, seller and servidget engines, turboprop and turbo shaft engarebrelated
replacement parts, from March 2006 to May 20090rRo this position, Mr. Dziedzic was Manager-GibFinancial Planning & Analysis for GE Energy, rayider of products
and services related to energy production, didtidnuand management, from January 2003 to Feb2@0g.

Mr. Lennon was appointed Vice President and Chidrhistrative Officer in 2005. Prior to this padsit, he was the Vice President, Human Resourceg\dnnistration of
Brink’s from 1990 through 2005.

Mr. Marshall was appointed Vice President and Ganeéounsel of Brink’s in September 2008 and aldd ttee office of Secretary from September 2008uly 2009. Prior to
joining Brink’s, Mr. Marshall was the Vice President, Generali@®!| and Secretary at Tredegar Corporation, a faeiuer of plastic films and aluminum extrusiofism
October 2006 to September 2008. Prior to thistjpwsiMr. Marshall was the Assistant General Coliasd Secretary for Brink’s from July 2006 to Sepkeer 2006. Prior to
this position, Mr. Marshall was the Assistant Gah&ounsel and Director-Corporate Governance andpliance for Brink’s from July 2004 to July 200Brior to this position,
Mr. Marshall was the Assistant General CounseBfiank’s from July 2000 to July 2004.

Messrs. Schumacher and Wheatley have served inpresient positions for more than the past fivegea

Ms. Landry was appointed Vice President-Tax of Bgron July 10, 2009. Prior to this position, Nlsndry was Director of Taxes and Chief Tax Counddrink’s from
December 2006 to July 2009. Prior to this posjtids. Landry had held various tax management mostfrom March 1998 to December 2006.

Mr. Leon is the Treasurer of Brink’s. Mr. Leon whised in June 2008 and appointed to this positiafuly 2008. Before joining Brink’s, Mr. Leon was the Assistaiteasurer
for Universal Corporation, a leaf tobacco mercteart processor, from January 2007 to June 200&r frthis position, Mr. Leon was the Assistantdarer for Brink’s from
July 2005 to January 2007. Prior to this positidn, Leon had held various financial managementtigos with Brink’s from February 1998 to July 2005

Mr. McCullough was appointed Secretary of Brinkisuly 10, 2009. Prior to this position, Mr. Mc@uigh was Assistant General Counsel and Direct@arporate

Governance and Compliance of Brink’s from Octo@d&to July 2009, and served as Assistant SecrétaryJuly 2007 to July 2009. Prior to this pasiti Mr. McCullough
had held various internal counsel positions witmBs from July 2003 to October 2006.
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PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELA TED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Our common stock trades on the New York Stock Ergbaunder the symbol “BCO.” As of February 17, 20there were 1,896 shareholders of record of comshack.

The dividends declared and the high and low pridesur common stock for each full quarterly periithin the last two years are as follows:

2010 Quarters 2009 Quarter
1 H 2 n 3 n 41 l ! 2 n 3 r 4l
Dividends declared per comi
share $ 0.100( 0.100( 0.100( 0.100C $ 0.100( 0.100( 0.100( 0.100(
Stock prices
High $ 28.9¢ 29.5¢ 23.7% 274z  $ 32.3¢ 31.2¢ 30.6¢€ 26.8¢
Low 23.3i 19.0C 18.3( 22.5¢8 20.7: 25.7¢ 25.0C 22.2%

See note 16 to the consolidated financial statesrfenta description of limitations of our ability pay dividends in the future.
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The following graph compares the cumulative 5-ytetal return provided to shareholders on The B8rBRbmpany’s common stock compared to the cumul&biied returns of
the S&P Midcap 400 index and the S&P Midcap 400 €mmtial Services & Supplies Index. The graph trabksperformance of a $100 investment in our comstook and in
each index from December 31, 2005, through Decei®be2010. The performance of the Brink’'s Comparggmmon stock assumes that the shareholder régnvath
dividends received during the period and reinvetitecbroceeds of a hypothetical sale of sharesvetérom the spin-off of our former monitored segubusiness on October

31, 2008.

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*

Among The Brink's Company, the S&F Midcap 400 |ndex
and S&F Midcap 400 Commercial Services & Supplies Index

$° 1 L L I
12/05 12108 12/07 12/08 12/09 1210
The Brink's Company
— S &P Midcap 400
-S&P Midcap 400 Commercial Services & Supplies
*$100imvested on 12/31/05 in stock arindex, including reinvestment of dividends.
Fiscal wear ending December 31.
Copyright® 2011 5&P, a division of The McGraw-Hill Companies Inc. All rights reserved.
Source — Research Data Group, Inc.
Comparison of Five-Year Cumulative Total Return Amag
Brink’s Common Stock, the S&P MidCap 400 Index and
the S&P Midcap 400 Commercial Services & Suppliesidex ()
Years Ended December &
2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010
The Brink's Compan $ 100.00 133.94 125.89 177.49 163.11 183.27
S&P Midcap 400 Inde 100.00 110.32 119.12 75.96 104.36 132.16
S&P Midcap 400 Commercial Services & Supplies In $ 100.00 118.13 135.34 92.16 110.37 136.57

Copyright© 2011, Standard & Poor's, a division of The McC-Hill Companies, Inc. All rights reserve

(1) For the line designated as “The Brink’s Comgehe graph depicts the cumulative return on $it@@sted in The Brink’s Company’s common stockr fhe S&P
Midcap 400 Index and the S&P Midcap 400 Commer8alices & Supplies Index, cumulative returns aeasared on an annual basis for the periods fronember 31
2005, through December 31, 2010, with the valueash index set to $100 on December 31, 2005. Tetiadn assumes reinvestment of dividends and theestment of
proceeds from the sale of the shares receivecetetatthe spin-off of our former monitored secubitysiness on October 31, 2008. We chose the S&Rapid00 Index
and the S&P Midcap 400 Commercial Services & S@gsplndex because we are included in these indidg@sh broadly measure the performance of mid-soraganies

in the United States mark
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
Five Years in Review

(In millions, except per share amoun 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006

Revenues and Incomi

Revenue: $ 3,121t 3,135.( 3,163.t 2,734.¢ 2,354
Segment operating pro $ 208.¢ 213.¢ 271.¢ 223.: 184.1
Non-segment income (expens (62.€) (46.€) (43.4) (62.%) (73.4)
Operating profit $ 146.2 166.€ 228.t 161.C 110.%
Income attributable to Brink’s:

Income from continuing operatiol 56.€ 195.% 131.¢ 78.4 53.1
Income from discontinued operations 0.2 4.5 51.F 58.¢ 534.1
Net incomeattributable to Brink 's $ 57.1 200.2 183.% 137.% 587.2

Financial Position

Property and equipment, r $ 698.¢ 549.t 534.( 1,118.¢ 981.¢
Total asset 2,270.t 1,879.¢ 1,815.¢ 2,394.: 2,188.(
Long-term debt, less current maturiti 323.7 172.3 173.C 89.2 126.3
Brink’s shareholde’ equity 516.2 534.¢ 214.C 1,046.: 753.¢

Supplemental Information

Depreciation and amortizatic $ 136.¢ 135.1 122.% 110.C 93.C
Capital expenditure 148.¢ 170.€ 165.2 141.¢ 113.¢

Earnings per share attributable to Brink’s common sareholders

Basic:
Continuing operation $ 1.1¢€ 4.14 2.8t 1.6¢€ 1.0€
Discontinued operations ( 0.01 0.1C 1.11 1.27 10.6¢
Net income $ 1.1€ 4.2% 3.9€ 2.9t 11.7¢
Diluted:
Continuing operation $ 1.17 4.11 2.82 1.67 1.0t
Discontinued operations ( 0.01 0.1C 1.1C 1.2t 10.5¢
Net income $ 1.1€ 4.21 3.9¢ 2.92 11.64
Cash dividend $ 0.400( 0.400( 0.400( 0.362¢ 0.212¢

Weighted-average Share:

Basic 48.2 47.2 46.5 46.5 50.C
Diluted 48.4 47.5 46.7 47.C 50.£

(a) Income from discontinued operations reflects therafions and gains and losses, if any, on dispisalr former home security, and air freight busses. Expenses rela
to postretirement obligations are recorded as apoownt of continuing operations after the respectiisposal dates. Adjustments to contingent li#dsl are recorde
within discontinued operation
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIN ANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

THE BRINK'S COMPANY
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OPERATIONS
The Brink’s Company

The Brink’s Company offers transportation and ltigssmanagement services for cash and valuablesdhout the world. These services include:
« armored car transportation, which is also knowoash in transit (“CIT”")
« automated teller machine (“ATM”) replenishment a®alvicing
« arranging secure transportation of valuables oweg distances and around the world (“Global Ses/ice
« security and guarding services (including airpedusity)
« currency deposit processing and cash managemeteser Cash management services include cashitsggervices (“Cash Logistics™leploying and servicing sa
and safe control devices (e.g. our patented Confp® service), coin sorting and wrapping, integratedc&rend cash processing servic* Virtual Vault Service”)
« providing bill payment acceptance and processimgiaes to utility companies and other billers (“Ragnt Services”)

Overview of Results

Nor-GAAP Financial Measures
We provide an analysis of our operations below ath la generally accepted accounting principle (“GXAand non-GAAP basis. The purpose of the non-GA#formation is
to report our financial information

« without certain income and expense items in 200892and 2010,

« as if our results from Venezuela had been trarslatehe less-favorable parallel exchange rat®@82nd 2009, and

« after adjusting tax expense for certain items.

The non-GAAP financial measures are intended toigeoinformation to assist comparability and estiesaof future performance. The adjustments areritesl in detail and
are reconciled to our GAAP results on pages 41- 42.

2010 versus 2009

GAAP Basis: Our revenues were slightly lower tR809 and our operating profit declined $21 millmm12% in 2010. Our earnings per share from caivignoperations was
$1.17, down from $4.11 last year. Revenues wererdanainly due to unfavorable currency effectsteslgprimarily to a change in the way we translate\éenezuelan results to
U.S. dollars. Revenues also declined due to exaifrrench guarding business in 2009 and a ClThbssiin Belgium in 2010. Revenues were favoratbécted in 2010 by
organic growth in our International segment andentental revenues from the acquisition of a ClTifess in Mexico. Our earnings in 2010 were lovirant2009 primarily
because of a $118 million income tax valuationwaloce reversal in 2009, lower profits in Venezwsda result of a change in the way we translatgethesults, a $14 million
gain in 2009 related to an acquisition in Indi&1d million income tax charge in 2010 related t&Lhealthcare legislation, $13 million of lossesognized related to the exit of
the CIT business in Belgium, and a $9 million mestsl related to the 2010 Mexican acquisition. Bsafi North America were lower than 2009 on prioé &olume pressure. Our
earnings in 2010 were favorably affected by orgamigrovements in Latin America, improved Global\Beges performance around the world, lower safety security losses
and higher profits in Europe.

Non-GAAP Basis: Our revenues increased $224 millioB% and our operating profit increased $47 milliwr89% in 2010. Our earnings per share from ooiittig operations
was $1.71, up from $1.16 last year. Revenuesaser mainly due to improved performance on an érdzasis in our International segment, reflectinghler inflation-based
prices. Revenues were also helped in Latin Amdraa the acquisition of a Mexican CIT businesgtipdly offset by exiting a French guarding busiea&s 2009 and a CIT
business in Belgium in 2010. Our earnings in 28&0e favorably affected by improved Global Servipesformance around the world, lower safety andisgclosses, higher
profits in Europe, and organic improvements in h@merica. Profits in North America were lower th2009 on price and volume pressure.

2009 versus 2008

GAAP basis: Our revenues and operating profitidedlin 2009. Our segment margin declined in anrenment that was extremely difficult for custoraén the banking,
retail, and diamond and jewelry sectors. The dpegarofit decline was primarily due to a highlyofitable monetary conversion project in Veneztiela008, a $23 million
repatriation charge and higher retirement expenmsesally offset by a $14 million gain on an acgjtion in India. The $23 million repatriation clggrwas the result of our
decision to repatriate 76 million bolivar fuertesrh our Venezuelan operations at the parallel magte. In addition, acquired businesses helpeemges and operating profit
20009.
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Non-GAAP basis: Our revenues and operating profitided in 2009. Revenues in 2009 decreased prigndué to unfavorable changes in currency exchaatgs rpartially
offset by the net positive effect of businessesuaed and disposed in 2009. The operating prefiide was primarily due to a highly profitable netery conversion project in
Venezuela in 2008 and higher severance and restingtcosts in 2009.

Outlook for 2011

Our organic revenue growth rate for 2011 is exmktiebe in the mid-to-high single-digit range. éftactoring in $450 million of acquisition-relateevenue from Mexico and
Canada at approximately break-even margin rate2@ld segment operating profit margin is expettelte on the high end of a range between 6.5% #9.7See page 40 for
a summary of our 2011 Outlook.

Definition of Organic Growtt
Organic growth represents the change in revenueparating profit between the current and prioiquerexcluding the effect of the following itemacquisitions and
dispositions, currency effects (as described ore 239, and the 2010 remeasurement of net monesagtsain Venezuela under highly inflationary actimgn

Business and Strategy Overvie

We have four geographic operating segments: Euldklle East, and Africa (‘EMEA”); Latin Americasia Pacific; and North America, which are aggredanto two
reportable segments: International and North Anaei@ur North America segment includes operatiorteénU.S. and Canada. Our newly acquired Mexigeeration is
included in our Latin American operating segment.

We believe that Brink’s has significant competitadvantages including:
« brand name recognition
« reputation for a high level of service and security
« risk management and logistics expertise
« global infrastructure and customer base
« proprietary cash processing and information systems
« proven operational excellence
« high-quality insurance coverage and general firerstirength

We focus our time and resources on service quaittecting and strengthening our brand, and adidrg®ur risks. We are a premium provider of s@wiin most of the
markets we serve. Our marketing and sales effmetnhanced by the “Brink’s” brand, so we segrtdect and build its value. Since our servicesifoon handling,
transporting, protecting, and managing valuablesstrive to understand and manage risk. Overlagingapproach is an understanding that we mustdoéptined and patient
enough to charge prices that reflect the valueigesl; the risk assumed and the need for an adecptata for our investors.

Business environments around the world change aotigt We must adapt to changes in competitivddaapes, regional economies and each customeekdebusiness. We
balance underlying business risk and the effecthahging demand on the utilization of our resosircas a result, we operate largely on a decem@dlbasis so local
management can react quickly to changes in thenbssienvironment.

We measure financial performance on a long-ternsbaghe key financial measures are:
« Return on capital
« Revenue and earnings growth
« Cash flow generation

These and similar measures are critical comporwrdar incentive compensation plans and performawveduations.

Because of our emphasis on managing risks whileigirg a high level of service, we focus our maikg@tand selling efforts on customers who appredtaevalue and breadth
of our services, information and risk managemepabdities, and financial strength.

In order to earn an adequate return on capitafomes on the effective and efficient use of resesras well as appropriate pricing levels. We giteim maximize the amount of

business that flows through our branches, vehehessystems in order to obtain the lowest costsipleswithout compromising safety, security or $egv Due to our higher
investment in people and processes, we generadisgethigher prices than competitors that do notigeothe same level of service and risk management.

The industries we serve have been consolidatirga fesult, the demands and expectations of custaméhese industries have grown. Customersrareasingly seeking
suppliers, such as Brink’s, with broad geograpbiations, sophisticated outsourcing capabilitied financial strength.
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Operating results may vary from period to peri&ince revenues are generated from charges pecegreiformed or based on the value of goods trateshdhey can be
affected by both the level of economic activity ahe volume of business for specific customers.céstracts generally run for one or more yearstscare incurred to prepare
serve, or to transition away, from a customer. alée periodically incur costs to reduce operatiwhen volumes decline, including costs to reducentiraber of employees and
close or consolidate branch and administrativeifees. In addition, safety and security costs vary depending on performance, cost of insuraneerage, and changes in
crime rates (i.e., attacks and robberies).

Cash Logistics is a fully integrated solution tpedactively manages the supply chain of cash fromtgof-sale through bank deposit. The process includgsi@abalancing ar
reporting, deposit processing and consolidatiod,&actronic information exchange (including “sad®s¢’ credit capabilities). Retail customers usaBs Cash Logistics
services to count and reconcile coins and currémeysecure environment, to prepare bank depdsitiration, and to replenish customer coins andenay in proper
denominations.

Because Cash Logistics involves a higher levekofise and more complex activities, customers hegged higher prices, which result in higher masgifihe ability to offer
Cash Logistics to customers differentiates Brirfkgn many of its competitors. Management is focuse continuing to grow Cash Logistics revenue.

Brink’s revenues and related operating profit aregally higher in the second half of the yeartipalarly in the fourth quarter, because of gerlgrialcreased economic activity
associated with the holiday season.

Former Operations
On October 31, 2008, we completed the tax-free-sffiof Brink’s Home Security Holdings, Inc. (“BH$"a former monitored security business in Northekita. We have
reported the earnings and cash flows of these tpesawithin discontinued operations for all pesqatesented.

We have significant liabilities associated with éormer coal operations, primarily related to mirent plans, which are partially funded by plastsu These trusts sustained
significant market losses during the second ha#Gff8.

Information about our liabilities related to formgperations is contained in the following sectiofthis report:
« Non-segment Income (Expense) on page 34
« Liquidity and Capital Resources — Contractual Cdtiigns — on page 51
« Application of Critical Accounting Policies — onga55
« Notes 3 and 17 to the consolidated financial states) which begin on page
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Consolidated Review

GAAP % Change Non-GAAP % Change

Years Ended December 31 2010 2009 2008 2010 2009 2010 2009 2008 2010 2009

(In millions, except per share

amounts,

Revenue: $ 3,127 3,13t 3,16¢ - 1 $ 3122 2,891 2,99( 8 ?3)
Segment operating profit ( 20¢ 2ilg 272 ) (22 22€ 17t 228 29 (22
Non-segment expen: (63) (47 (43) 34 7 (59) (55) (58) 6 (4)
Operating profit 14€ 167 22¢ 12 27) 167 12C 16€ 39 (28)

Income from continuing operatiol

(b) 57 19¢€ 132 (72) 48 83 55 98 51 (44)

Diluted EPS from continuing

operations (b 1.17 4.11 2.82 (72) 46 1.71 1.1€ 2.1C 47 (45)

Amounts may not add due to rounding.

(a) Segment operating profit is a non-GAAP measure whegsented in any context other than prescribedAbgounting Standards Codification Topic 28Begmer
Reporting. The tables on pages 41 and 42 reconcile theunsragnt to operating profit, a GAAP measure. Disgte of total segment operating profit enableg$tor:
to assess the total operating performance of Bsiekcluding non-segment income and expense. Fddwaking estimates related to total segment opegatimfit anc
nor-segment income (expense) for 2011 are providecage g0

(b) Amounts reported in this table are attributabléh®shareholders of Bri’'s and exclude earnings related to noncontrollinerésts

Summary Reconciliation of Non-GAAP EPS

Years Ended December 31 2010 2009 2008

GAAP EPS $ 1.17 4.11 2.82
Exclude certain large deferred tax adjustmu 0.2¢ (2.4¢) -
Exclude Venezuela related itel 0.04 0.04 (0.59)
Exclude acquisition and disposit-related item: 0.2z (0.52) (0.1€)

Non-GAAP EPS $ 1.71 1.1€ 2.1C

Amounts may not add due to rounding. Non-GAAP ltssare reconciled to the applicable GAAP resultpages 41-42.
Revenues

GAAP

2010 versus 2009

Revenues in 2010 decreased $14 million or less tBaprimarily due to unfavorable changes in curyeexchange rates ($273 million) related primariythe reporting of 2010
results from Venezuela at a less favorable excheatge Revenues also were affected by the sajearfding operations in France in 2009 ($48 millianyl the exit of
unprofitable CIT business in Belgium ($8 milliopjrtially offset by organic growth ($228 millionp@the positive effect of businesses acquired tD2hd 2009 ($88
million). See page 22 for our definition of “orgeri

Revenues increased 7% on an organic basis dueynaihigher average selling prices (including tieats of inflation in several Latin American cotisst).

2009 versus 2008

Revenues in 2009 decreased 1% primarily due tovordble changes in currency exchange rates ($14i6myj mostly offset by the net positive effectlmfisinesses acquired in
2009, net of dispositions ($97 million) and orgagiowth.

Revenues increased 1% on an organic basis dueynaihigher average selling prices (including tifects of inflation in several Latin American coties), mostly offset by
lower volumes in Global Services operations anddks of guarding contracts in France.
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Non-GAAP
2010 versus 2009
Revenues in 2010 increased 8% primarily due torocggrowth ($157 million) and revenues from bussessacquired in 2010 and 2009 ($88 million).

Revenues increased 5% on an organic basis dueynaihigher average selling prices (including tieats of inflation in several Latin American cotiast).

2009 versus 2008
Revenues in 2009 decreased 3% primarily due tovanddle changes in currency exchange rates ($1Biémyj partially offset by the net positive effect businesses acquired
and disposed in 2009 ($97 million).

Revenues remained flat on an organic basis compar2@08. Higher average selling prices (includimg effects of inflation in several Latin Americeountries), were mostly
offset by lower volumes in Global Services opergiand the loss of guarding contracts in France.

Operating Profit

GAAP

2010 versus 2009

Operating profit decreased 12% due mainly to:
« an unfavorable currency effect ($44 million), reprimarily to the reporting of 2010 results fréfenezuela at a less favorable exchange rate,
« expenses of exiting an unprofitable CIT busine€8etgium, and
« higher non-segment expenses;

partially offset by growth on an organic basis ur tnternational segment.

2009 versus 2008
Operating profit decreased 27% due mainly to
« the inclusion in 2008 results of profits from themetary conversion project in Venezuela that waspteted in 2008,
« a $12 million increase in restructuring and seveeatosts, primarily in Europe,
« $6 million in accounting corrections in Belgium,dan
« higher non-segment expenses.

Non-GAAP

2010 versus 2009

Operating profit increased 39%. The operatingipno€rease in the International segment more tféset the decline in North America. Results wals affected by price and
volume pressure across most of our global markets.

2009 versus 2008

Operating profit decreased 28% mainly due to
« the inclusion in 2008 results of profits from themetary conversion project in Venezuela that waspieted in 2008,
« a $12 million increase in restructuring and seveearosts, primarily in Europe, and
« $6 million in accounting corrections in Belgium;

partially offset by lower non-segment expenses.
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Income from continuing operations and Net income, rad related per share amounts
(attributable to Brink’s)

GAAP

2010 versus 2009

Income from continuing operations and net inconmel (@lated per share amounts) was lower in 201(eoad to 2009. In addition to the above descriletbfs affecting
operating profit, income from continuing operatiatsibutable to Brink’s and earnings per shareesed primarily due to a $118 million income taknation allowance
reversal in 2009 and a $14 million income tax ckdmy2010 related to U.S. healthcare legislatibhese factors were partially offset by a $7 millimon-cash income tax benefit
related to an income tax settlement.

2009 versus 2008
Income from continuing operations and net inconmal (@lated per share amounts) was higher in 206thaoed to 2008 primarily as a result of a reledsedeferred tax
valuation allowance, as more fully described onepd8, partially offset by lower operating profits.

Non-GAAP

2010 versus 2009

Income from continuing operations and net inconmal (@lated per share amounts) was higher in 20fpaced to 2009 primarily as a result of better genfance of our
International segment.

2009 versus 2008
Income from continuing operations and net inconmal (@lated per share amounts) was lower in 200%eo&ad to 2008 primarily as a result of lower opagaprofits.
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Segment Operating Results
Segment Review
2010 versus 2009

GAAP
Organic Acquisitions / Currency % Change
(In millions) 2009 Change Dispositions (b’ (c) 2010 Total Organic
Revenues:
EMEA 1,25¢ 33 (45) (46) 1,20C (5) 3
Latin America 90E 171 52 (250) 877 3 19
Asia Pacific 79 18 25 5 127 61 23
International 2,241 222 32 (290) 2,20 2 10
North America 894 7 - 17 91¢ 3 1
Total 3,13% 22¢ 32 (273) 3,122 - 7
Operating profit:
Internationa 157 80 4) (68) 16E 5 51
North America 57 (13) - 1 44 (22) (24)
Segment operating
profit 213 67 4 (67) 20¢ 2 31
Non-segment (a (47) (15) (24) 23 (63) 34 32
Total 167 52 (28) (44) 14€ (12) 31
Segment operating
margin:
Internationa 7.C% 7.5%
North America 6.2% 4.£%
Segment operatin
margin 6.8% 6.7%
Non-GAAP
Organic Acquisitions / Currency % Change
(In millions) 2009 Change Dispositions (b’ (c) 2010 Total QOrganic
Revenues:
EMEA 1,25¢ 33 (45) (46) 1,20C (5) 3
Latin America 667 10C 52 59 877 32 15
Asia Pacific 79 18 25 5 127 61 23
International 2,002 15C 32 19 2,20¢ 10 8
North America 894 7 - 17 91¢ 3 1
Total 2,897 157 32 36 3,122 8 5
Operating profit:
Internationa 11¢ 49 9 6 181 53 41
North America 57 (13) - 1 44 (22) (24)
Segment operating
profit 17¢ 35 9 7 22¢ 29 20
Non-segment (a (55) (4) - - (59) 6 6
Total 12C 32 9 7 167 39 26
Segment operating
margin:
Internationa 5.6% 8.2%
North America 6.2% 4.£%
Segment operatin
margin 6.C% 7.2%

Amounts may not add due to roundil

(a) Includes income and expense not allocated to segnieee page 34 for detail

(b) Includes operating results and gains/losses onisitiqns, sales and exit of business

(c) Revenue and Segment Operating Profit The “Currency” amount in the table is the sumoratf the monthly currency changes, plus (minus)UkS. dollar amount of
remeasurement currency gains (losses) of boliventéudenominated net monetary assets recorded higldy inflationary accounting rules in 2010 reldtto the
Venezuelan operations. The monthly currency chamggqual to the Revenue or Operating Profit feronth in local currency, on a country-by-courtagis, multiplied
by the difference in rates used to translate tmeeatiperiod amounts to U.S. dollars versus thestedion rates used in the year-ago month. Thetiiomal currency in
Venezuela was the bolivar fuerte in 2009, and bectma U.S. dollar in 2010 under highly inflationagcounting rules. Remeasurement gains and losskes these rules
in 2010 are recorded in U.S. dollars but theseggaind losses are not recorded in local currenocalcurrency Revenue and Operating Profit in 20964 in the
calculation of monthly currency change for Veneaugdve been derived from the U.S. dollar resulth@fVenezuelan operations under GAAP (excludimgegsurement
gains and losses) using current period currenchiange rates
Non-Segment Operating Profit: The “Currency” amount in the table is the 2008skes incurred in Venezuela related to increaseash held in U.S. dollars by Venezuela
subsidiaries (see page 42 for deta
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Segment Review
2010 versus 2009

Total Segment Operating Profit

GAAP
Segment operating profit decreased 2% as the urgblecurrency effect in our International segnmaamd losses recognized on the exit of unprofitable lilisiness in Belgium
were mostly offset by organic growth.

Non-GAAP
Segment operating profit increased 29% as growtaroarganic basis in the International segmentthaadet positive effect from acquisitions and di&pons was partially
offset by a decline on an organic basis in Northefioa.

International Segment

Total International

GAAP

Revenues in 2010 for our international segment \2&dower ($37 million) than 2009 as:
« revenues in EMEA were 5% lower ($58 million), and
« revenues in Latin America were 3% lower ($27 mil)ip

partially offset by 61% ($48 million) higher revessiin Asia Pacific.

Operating profit in our international segment wés lBigher ($8 million) as better results in EMEA ahsia Pacific were mostly offset by lower profitsliatin America.

Non-GAAP
Revenues in 2010 for our international segment 8é higher ($201 million) than 2009 as:
« revenues in Latin America were 32% higher ($211iom), including the positive effect of businessesjuired in 2010, and
« revenues in Asia Pacific were 61% higher ($48 onil)j including the positive effect of businesseguared in 2009;
partially offset by 5% lower ($58 million) revenuesEMEA.

Operating profit in our international segment w&8®higher as all regions showed improvement.

EMEA
GAAP
EMEA revenues decreased by 5% ($58 million) dueniyido:
« negative currency translation ($46 million),
« loss of revenue resulting from the sale of certaiarding operations in France in 2009 ($48 milljon)
« loss of guarding contracts in France ($9 millicar)d
« loss of revenue resulting from fourth quarter 2@%@ of CIT business in Belgium ($8 million);
partially offset by organic revenue growth.

Revenue improved on an organic basis by 3% driyetiid 2010 rebound of Global Services, as welhggrovements in Germany and emerging markets.

EMEA operating profit increased in total ($14 nufi) as well as on an organic basis ($25 millioiyeir by:
« lower severance ($7 million),
« 2009 included accounting corrections in Belgium i¢§i6ion),
« characterization of a French business tax as amiadax ($6 million),
« improved safety and security performance,
« the sale of guarding operations in France,
« improved results in Global Services,
« lower losses resulting from the exit of unprofi@@IT business in Belgium, and
« lower software impairment charges.

The operating profit improvements were partiallfsef by $13 million of charges related to the efibur CIT business in Belgium (write-off of ourrcging value of the
investment and advances to the subsidiary) asasdligher costs to support our expansion and grow¢merging markets.
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Non-GAAP
The analysis of EMEA non-GAAP revenues is the samthe analysis of EMEA GAAP revenues.

EMEA operating profit increased in total ($27 nuli) as well as on an organic basis ($25 millioiyetr by:
« lower severance ($7 million),
« 2009 included accounting corrections in Belgium i¢i6ion),
« characterization of a French business tax as amiadax ($6 million),
« improved safety and security performance,
« the sale of guarding operations in France,
« improved results in Global Services,
« lower losses from the exit of unprofitable CIT mess in Belgium, and
« and lower software impairment charges;
partially offset by higher costs to support our @xgion and growth in emerging markets.

Deconsolidation of Brin's Belgium

Our cash-in-transit subsidiary in Belgium (BrinBglgium) filed for bankruptcy in November 2010 aféerestructuring plan was rejected by local uremployees. We
deconsolidated the subsidiary in November 2010,nvthe court-appointed trustee assumed controle$tibsidiary, as we no longer control or providedfng for the
subsidiary. See a more detailed discussion ilCth&ingent Matters section on page 54.

A summary of the revenues and operating losseBriok’s Belgium in the three years ending Decentter2010, is as follows:

(In millions) 2010 2009 (b) 2008
Revenue: $ 35.2 51.2 50.1
Operating loss (¢ 7.€ 9.4 0.4

(a) Operating loss includes severance charges of $mih 2010 and $2 million in 200!
(b) Operating loss includes accounting correctionséofriillion, which relate to prior period

Latin America

GAAP

Revenue in Latin America decreased 3% ($28 millias)unfavorable currency translation ($250 miliorore than offset the incremental revenues fromagquisition in
Mexico ($52 million) and growth on an organic basis

The 19% revenue growth on an organic basis ($17ibnjiwas due to inflation-based price increasess the region.

Operating profit decreased $13 million due primyardl unfavorable currency items ($65 million), paiy offset by organic volume growth throughouétfegion and improved
safety and security performance.

Non-GAAP

Revenue in Latin America increased 32% ($210 mm)lidue to incremental revenues from our acquisitioexico ($52 million), inflation-based price ireases and a favorable
currency effect ($59 million) primarily in VenezagBrazil and Colombia.

The inflation-based price increases were also timgpy reason for the organic revenue increasess.1

Operating profit increased $29 million due primpatid organic growth and improved safety and segymirformance.
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Asia-Pacific
Revenue in Asia Pacific increased 61% ($48 milliprijnarily due to Global Services’ strong finishtb& year, reflecting increased commodities voluaileag with some
improvements in the diamond and jewelry businessyell as third-quarter 2009 acquisitions in Ing#&6 million) and China ($9 million).

Operating profit increased $7 million driven by anic growth ($5 million) and the 2009 acquisitig®& million).

North American Segment

Revenues in North America increased 3% ($24 mijlmmfavorable currency rates in Canada ($17 mi)lioRevenue increased slightly (1% or $7 million)an organic basis
despite continued CIT volume and pricing pressures.

Operating profit declined $13 million or 22% maimlye to CIT volume and pricing pressure, partiaffiget by improved safety and security performaace Global Services
improvement.
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Segment Review
2009 versus 2008

GAAP
Organic Acquisitions / Currency % Change
(In millions) 2008 Change Dispositions (b) 2009 Total QOrganic
Revenues:
EMEA 1,35¢ (22 3 (83) 1,25¢ @) 2
Latin America 801 75 80 (51) 90& 13 9
Asia Pacific 72 (4) 12 (1) 79 10 (5)
International 2,231 49 95 (235) 2,241 - 2
North America 932 (28) 2 (11) 894 (4) (3)
Total 3,16¢ 21 97 (14¢6) 3,13t (1) 1
Operating profit:
Internationa 21E (60) 9 8 157 (27) (28)
North America 57 - - - 57 (1) -
Segment operating
profit 272 (60) 9 (8) 213 (22) (22)
Non-segment (a (43) (3) - - (47) 7 7
Total 22¢ (63) 9 (8) 167 (27) (27)
Segment operating
margin:
Internationa 9.€% 7.C%
North America 6.1% 6.2%
Segment operatin
margin 8.€% 6.8%
Non-GAAP
Organic Acquisitions / Currency % Change
(In millions) 2008 Change Dispositions (b) 2009 Total Organic
Revenues:
EMEA 1,35¢ (22) 3 (83) 1,25¢ 7 2)
Latin America 627 58 80 (99 667 6 9
Asia Pacific 72 (4) 12 (1) 79 10 (5)
International 2,05¢ 32 95 (183 2,00 (©)] 2
North America 932 (28) 2 (11) 894 (4) (3)
Total 2,99( 4 97 (194 2,891 3 -
Operating profit:
Internationa 16€ (46) 9 (11) 11¢€ (29) (27)
North America 57 - - - 57 (1) -
Segment operating
profit 222 (46) 9 (12) 17t (22) (20)
Non-segment (a (58) 2 - - (55) (4) (4)
Total 16€ (43) 9 (12) 12C (28) (26)
Segment operating
margin:
Internationa 8.1% 5.%%
North America 6.1% 6.2%
Segment operatin
margin 7.5% 6.C%

See page 27 for footnotes.

31




Segment Review
2009 versus 2008

Total Segment Operating Profit

GAAP

Segment operating profit decreased 22% in totaleaman organic basis due mainly to
« the inclusion in 2008 results of profits from themetary conversion project in Venezuela that waspieted in 2008,
« a$12 million increase in restructuring and seveeatosts, primarily in Europe, and
« $6 million in accounting corrections in Belgium.

Non-GAAP

Segment operating profit decreased 22%, and 20&na@rganic basis, mainly due to
« the inclusion in 2008 results of profits from themetary conversion project in Venezuela that waspieted in 2008,
« a$12 million increase in restructuring and seveeatosts, primarily in Europe, and
« $6 million in accounting corrections in Belgium.

International Segment

Total International

GAAP

Revenues in 2009 for our international segment \egesn with 2008 as
« revenues in EMEA were 7% lower,

« revenues in Latin America were 13% higher, and
« revenues in Asia Pacific were 10% higher.

Operating profit in our international segment w@%ower than 2008 as we earned lower profits inE2Vand Latin America.

Non-GAAP
Revenues in 2009 for our international segment \B&dower than 2008 as
« revenues in EMEA were 7% lower,

« revenues in Latin America were 6% higher, and
« revenues in Asia Pacific were 10% higher.

Operating profit in our international segment w88%ower than 2008 as we earned lower profits inE2Vand Latin America.

EMEA
EMEA revenues were down 7% due mainly to
« unfavorable currency ($83 million),
« aloss of guarding contracts in France ($34 mi)liand
« a sale of certain guarding operations in Francen{ifiton).

EMEA revenues were down 2% on an organic basigaue
« the loss of guarding contracts in France ($34 ami)lj and
« continued pricing and volume pressure throughogibre

EMEA operating profit was down 65% due primarily to
« higher severance costs (up $10 million) relatecbiutract losses and turnaround efforts,
« accounting corrections in Belgium ($6 million), and
« Global Services being down across the region orkwieamond and jewelry demand.
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Latin America

GAAP

Revenue in Latin America increased 13% on
« higher CIT volume,
« inflation-based price increases, and
« an acquisition in Brazil ($74 million).

Revenue increased 9% on an organic basis on higjffevolume throughout the region including inflatibased price increases.

Operating profit decreased 13% as 2008 includadtseBom highly profitable monetary conversion je in Venezuela, and higher foreign currency<eation losses in
Venezuela ($8 million) were partially offset by fitoncreased as a result of the Brazil acquisiti$h0 million).

Non-GAAP
Revenue in Latin America increased 6% on
« higher CIT volume,

« inflation-based price increases, and
« an acquisition in Brazil ($74 million).

Revenue increased 9% on an organic basis on higjffevolume throughout the region including inflatibased price increases.

Operating profit decreased 9% as 2008 includedteeBom highly profitable monetary conversion @ in Venezuela, partially offset by profit inceea as a result of the
Brazil acquisition ($10 million).

Asia-Pacific
Revenue in Asia Pacific increased 10% due mainthitd-quarter acquisitions in India ($8 millionj@China ($4 million).

Revenues on an organic basis and operating prefi¢ wown due to lower diamond and jewelry demand.
North American Segment

Revenues in North America were down 4% on loweunrw in CIT and Global Services, partially offsettigher selling prices. Operating profit in NoAmerica was flat with
2009 with revenue declines offset by cost redustion
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Non-segment Income (Expense) (a)

GAAP Years Ended December & % change
(In millions) 2010 2009 2008 2010 2009
Corporate and former operatiol
General and administrati\ $ (38.6) (36.7) (48.¢) 5 (25)
Strategic reviews and proxy matt - - (4.9) - (100)
Retirement costs (primarily former operatio (22.7) (20.7) 2.7 10 NM
Subtotal (61.9) (57.9) (50.9) 7 13
Other amounts not allocated to segme
Gains (losses) related to business acquisiti
Bargain purchase of Mexican CIT busin 5.1 - - NM -
Remeasurement of previously held ownership intertestair
value (13.7) 14.¢ - NM NM
Royalty income
Brand licensing fees from BH 4.¢ 6.8 1.1 (28) fav
Other 21 1.8 1.7 17 6
Currency exchange transaction gains (los - (22.9) (8.9 (200) 165
Gains on sale of property and other as 0.2 9.€ 13.1 (97) (27)
Subtotal .3 10.€ 7.3 NM 44
Non-segment income (expens $ (62.€) (46.€) (43.9) 34 7

(a) Includes corporate, former operations and othertsonot allocated to segment rest

Non-segment expenses in 2010 were $16 million or 3#feen than 2009, mainly due to
« a 2010 net loss recognized related to Mexico a@gqng($9 million), and
« 2009 included a $15 million gain from business asitjans in India and Panama, and
« lower 2010 gains on the sale of property and atissets ($9 million);

partially offset by
« higher 2009 currency exchange transaction los$llion), including a $23 million charge relatemrepatriating dividends from Venezuela.

Non-segment expenses in 2009 were $3 million or 7%étighan 2008, mainly due to
« higher retirement expenses ($23 million),
« higher currency exchange transaction losses ($llbm)j including a $23 million charge related &patriating dividends from Venezuela, and
« lower gains on asset sales ($4 million);

mostly offset by
« lower general and administrative expense ($12 ani)liincluding lower bonus accruals ($6 million),

« again on an acquisition in India ($14 million),
« higher royalty income ($6 million), and
« costs in 2008 for strategic reviews and proxy mat{®5 million).

Outlook for 2011
We believe that non-segment expenses will remgimcegimately $63 million in 2011. See page 40 fauanmary of our 2011 Outlook.
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Non-GAAP Years Ended December & % change
(In millions) 2010 2009 2008 2010 2009
Corporate and former operatiol
General and administrati\ $ (38.6) (36.7) (48.¢) 5 (25)
Strategic reviews and proxy matt - - (4.9) - (100)
Retirement costs (primarily former operatio (22.7) (20.7) 2.7 10 NM
Subtotal (61.9) (57.9) (50.9) 7 13
Other amounts not allocated to segme
Royalty income 2.1 1.8 1.7 17 6
Currency exchange transaction gains (los - 0.2 (8.4) (200) NM
Gains on sale of property and other as 0.2 - - NM -
Subtotal 2.4 2.C 6.7 20 NM
Non-segment income (expens $ (58.9) (55.9) (57.6) 6 (4)

Non-segment expenses on a non-GAAP basis in 2010 $4eneillion or 6% higher than 2009, mainly due tgter retirement costs ($2 million) and general adahinistrative

expenses ($2 million).

Non-segment expenses in 2009 were $2 million or 4%efawvan 2008, mainly due to
« lower general and administrative expense ($12 eni)liincluding lower bonus accruals ($6 million),
« lower foreign exchange losses ($9 million), and
« costs in 2008 for strategic reviews and proxy mat{®5 million);

partially offset by higher retirement expenses (flion).

Other Operating Income (Expense)

Other operating income (expense) includes segmehhan-segment other operating income and expense.

Years Ended December & % change

(In millions) 2010 2009 2008 2010 2009
Gains (losses) related to business acquisiti

Bargain purchase of Mexican CIT busin $ 5.1 = = NM -

Remeasurement of previously held ownership interestair

value (13.7) 14.¢ - NM NM
Deconsolidation of Brin's Belgium and writ-down to fair value (13.9 - - NM -
Currency exchange transaction gains (los (4.0) (41.9) (18.7) (90) 12¢
Royalty income 7.€ 8.€ 2.8 (12) fav
Gains on sales of property and other as 1.2 9.4 13.1 (87) (28)
Share in earnings of equity affiliat 3.6 4.5 510 (13 (10
Impairment losse (0.7 (2.7 (1.€ (74) 42
Other a3 3.2 3.7 41 (14)
Other operating income (expen: $ 9.9 (3.9 4.€ 171 NM

2010 versus 2009

Other operating expense increased in 2010 primasils result of
« $9 million of net losses related to 2010 acquisiias compared to $15 million in gains relatedcgusitions in 2009,
« a $13 million charge related to the deconsolidatibBrink’s Belgium, and
« lower gains on sales of property and other as$&tsnfllion);

partially offset by higher 2009 currency exchangasaction losses of $37 million, including a $28iam charge related to repatriating dividendsnfr&/enezuela.
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2009 versus 2008
Other operating income (expense) was worse in Poid®arily as a result of
« higher foreign currency transaction losses, ineigahe $23 million loss from repatriating 76 mitlidolivar fuertes held in Venezuela at the paraielhange rate;
« lower gains on asset sales of $4 million;
partially offset by
« gains that total $15 million primarily related teetacquisition of a controlling interest in Indéd
« royalty income from the licensing agreement with®wtas $6 million higher.

Nonoperating Income and Expense
Interest Expenst

Years Ended December & % change
(In millions) 2010 2009 2008 2010 2009

Interest expens $ 14.€ 11.5 12.C 31 (6)

We renegotiated our $400 million revolving creditifity in July 2010. As expected, our interespexse was higher in 2010 as a result of higherdasteate spreads above
LIBOR and other costs related to the new facilityterest expense was also higher due to higheageeborrowings on our revolving credit facilitystéting from repurchases of
our common stock and acquisitions.

Interest expense in 2009 decreased mainly duenerlaverage interest rates.

Outlook for 2011
We expect our interest expense to be $20-24 miitid2011, up from $15 million in 2010 because of:
« higher average debt outstanding due to:
« acquisitions in Mexico and Canada late in 2010;
« financing capital investments (including capitaides); and
« 2010 share repurchases;
« higher average interest rates due to:
« the 2010 refinancing of the Revolving Facility dtigher interest rate;
« the January 2011 issuance of $100 million in uns=tprivate placement notes at interest ratesatteehigher than recent average rates; and
« expected increases in the Revolving Facility LIB{DBex rates.

The higher interest rates and other costs of bangswnder a new credit facility are further dissegsinLiquidity and Capital Resources — CapitalizatioDebt.

Interest and Other Incom

Years Ended December & % change
(In millions) 2010 2009 2008 2010 2009
Interest incomt $ 4.1 10.€ 15.C (62 (28)
Othe-thar-temporary impairment of availal-for-sale securitie - - (7.2) - (200)
Gain on availabl-for-sale securitie 3.8 - 0. NM (100)
Other, ne 0.2 - (0.7) NM (100)
Total $ 8.1 10.€ 8.1 (25) 33

Interest income was lower in 2010 primarily duéower average levels of cash and cash equivaler¥enezuela resulting from repatriations of casthenfourth quarter 2009
and first half 2010 as well as overall lower innates in 2010. Interest income also decreasedaltranslating Venezuelan operations using &ereexchange rate in 2010
compared to 2009. We recognized a $4.0 milliom ga2010 on the conversion of certain availablesale securities. The conversion resulted fromrexahange of the
securities we held for shares of equity securitigsvo other publicly held companies and a smalbant of cash. The shares received in the conversare sold in January
2011 and we recognized another $1.8 million gaithénfirst quarter of 2011.

In 2009, interest income decreased due to lowerest rates and lower average levels of cash astdexuivalents in certain countries. Our resual30d08 included a $7.1
million other-than-temporary impairment loss onitalzde-for-sale securities.
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Income Taxes

Summary Rate Reconciliatio— GAAP
Years Ended December &

(In percentages 2010 2009 2008

U.S. federal tax rat 35.(% 35.(% 35.(%

Increases (reductions) in taxes due
Adjustments to valuation allowanc 10.5 (68.2) (6.1)
Foreign income taxe (7.9 (3.5) (5.9
Medicare subsidy for retirement pla 9.8 (0.9) (0.9)
Nontaxable acquisition (gain) lo 2.1 (2.9 -
Nondeductible repatriation char - 4.7 -
Other (2.0) (0.€) 1.3

Income tax rate on continuing operatic 48.(% (36.7%) 23.6%

Summary Rate Reconciliatio— Non-GAAP (a)
Years Ended December &

(In percentages 2010 2009 2008
U.S. federal tax rat 35.(% 35.(% 35.(%
Increases (reductions) in taxes due
Adjustments to valuation allowanc 7.1 3.4 (7.8
Tax settlemen (4.5) - -
French business t¢ 2.E - -
Other (4.2) (1.7) (2.4)
Income tax rate on N-GAAP continuing operation 36.(% 36.7% 24.8%

(@) See pages ~42 for a reconciliation of n-GAAP results to GAAP

Overview
Our effective tax rate has varied in the past tlyesg's from the statutory U.S. federal rate dueatious factors, including:
« changes in judgment about the need for valuatitmwvahces
« changes in the geographical mix of earnings
« a nondeductible Venezuela repatriation charge
« nontaxable acquisition gains and losses
« changes in laws in the U.S. and France
« timing of benefit recognition for uncertain tax gems
« state income taxes

We establish or reverse valuation allowances féerded tax assets depending on all available in&tion including historical and expected future @peg performance of our
subsidiaries. Changes in judgment about the furabzation of deferred tax assets can resulignificant adjustments to the valuation allowancBssed on our historical and
future expected taxable earnings, we believeritase likely than not that we will realize the bahef the deferred tax assets, net of valuatioavedinces.

Outlook

The effective income tax rate for 2011 is expettebe between 36% and 39%. Our effective taxmag fluctuate materially from these estimates aduehtanges in forecasted
permanent book-tax differences, the expected gpbgral mix of earnings, changes in current or defiétaxes due to legislative changes, changedimatian allowances or
accruals for contingencies and other factors.

Continuing Operations

2010 Compared to U.S. Statutory Rate

The effective income tax rate on continuing operatiin 2010 was higher than the 35% U.S. statutoryate largely due to a $13.7 million reductiordeferred tax assets as a
result of U.S. healthcare legislation enacted ih®@&nd $13.5 million in higher taxes related to#hS. tax jurisdictions, partially offset by a @million non-cash income tax
benefit related to a tax settlement. Non-U.S.daxere higher than 35% primarily due to an incréasrir valuation allowance position as a resulbof assessment of historical
and future taxable income, the characterizatioa Bfench business tax as an income tax based egistative changes effective January 1, 2010 ameshaeductible loss on the
Mexico acquisition.
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2009 Compared to U.S. Statutory Rate

The effective income tax rate on continuing operatiin 2009 was lower than the 35% U.S. statutaxyrate due to $117.8 million in lower tax expepsearily resulting from
the reversal of a U.S. valuation allowance, $4.8ioniin lower taxes due to the nontaxable Indiengpartially offset by $7.9 million in higher tagelue to the nondeductible
Venezuela repatriation charge. (See Applicatio@tical Accounting Policies—Deferred Tax Assetlivation Allowance on page 55 for an explanatioa alescription of our
accounting policy, assumptions used and a sengitvialysis).

2008 Compared to U.S. Statutory Rate

The effective income tax rate on continuing operatiin 2008 was lower than the 35% U.S. statut@xyrate due to a net $13.6 million decrease invaiuation allowance
position in U.S. and non-U.S. jurisdictions as suileof our assessment of historical and futuraléeincome in these jurisdictions. In additidrere was a $13.0 million
decrease in the non-U.S. tax provision, primarilg ¢b the geographical mix of earnings in the fgmgurisdictions.

Other

As of December 31, 2010, we have not recorded féderal deferred income taxes on approximately $4illon of undistributed earnings of foreign sutisries and equity
affiliates in accordance with Accounting Princip@sard Opinion 23Accounting for Income Taxes — Special Areasamended. We expect that these earnings will be
permanently reinvested in operations outside ti& Ut is not practical to compute the estimateféidted tax liability on these earnings.

Noncontrolling Interests

Years Ended December & % change
(In millions) 2010 2009 2008 2010 2009

Net income attributable to noncontrolling intere $ 15.7 31.7 39.€ (50) (20)

The decrease in net income attributable to nonobimiy interests in 2010 was primarily due to amese in the earnings of our Venezuelan subsidiase result of reporting
2010 results at a less favorable exchange rate.

The decrease in net income attributable to nonobimig interests in 2009 was primarily due to am@se in the earnings of our Venezuelan operatidmen mainly by the
absence of the highly profitable 2008 currency &vsion project.

Outlook for 2011. We expect net income attributable to noncontroliimtgrests to be $20-24 million in 2011, up fron6$iillion reflecting expected increased earningsnr
non-wholly owned subsidiaries, including Venezuela.
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Income from Discontinued Operations

Years Ended December &

(In millions) 2010 2009 2008
Brink’s Home Security Holdings, In¢“BHS"):
Income from operations before tax $ = = 105.4
Expense associated with the s-off - - (23.0
Adjustments to contingencies of former operatic
Gain from FBLET refund - 19.7 -
BAX Global indemnificatior 1.7 (13.2) -
Insurance recoveries related to BAX Global indeimatfon 1.€ - -
Workers compensatiol (7.2 (1.5) (2.0)
Other 0.8 1.8 5.¢
Income (loss) from discontinued operations befoo®ine taxe (3.7 6.8 97.2
Provision (credit) for income tax« (3.9 2.2 45.¢€
Income from discontinued operations, net of $ 0.2 4.5 51.F

(a) Revenues of BHS were $442.4 million in 2008 (péastezar).

Federal Black Lung Excise Tax (“FBLET") refunds
The Energy Improvement and Extension Act of 2008béed taxpayers to file claims for FBLET refunds periods prior to those open under the previoaglglicable statute of
limitations. In 2009, we received FBLET refundsiaacognized a pre-tax gain of $19.7 million.

BAX Global

BAX Global, a former business unit, had been defemd claim related to the apparent diversion ltlyiral party of goods being transported for a cugtonOn April 23, 2010,

the Dutch Supreme Court denied the final appe8/AX Global, letting stand the lower court rulingattBAX Global is liable for this claim. We hadrtoactually indemnified
the purchaser of BAX Global for this contingend¥e recognized €9 million ($13.2 million) relatedttes matter in discontinued operations in 2009 mwadie an $11.5 million
payment in 2010 in satisfaction of the judgmente Kéve insurance coverage applicable to this matgwe have collected $1.6 million from insurancepanies in 2010.

BHS Spir-off

On October 31, 2008, we distributed all of ouriiegt in BHS to our shareholders of record as ottbse of business on October 21, 2008, in a teg-flistribution. We
distributed one share of BHS common stock for esdgre of our common stock outstanding. We comteith $50 million in cash to BHS at the time of #pén-off. We also
forgave all the existing intercompany debt owedbiS to us as of the distribution date.

BHS offered monitored security services in Northe&ina primarily for owner-occupied, single-familysidences. To a lesser extent, BHS offered sgaeitices for
commercial and multi-family properties. BHS tydiganstalled and owned the on-site security systemd charged fees to monitor and service theragste

In connection with the spin-off, we entered intdax Matters Agreement with BHS which provided ai®#sr the preparation and filing of tax returns fwe-spin and post-spin
operations of BHS in 2008. As authorized by thg Watters Agreement, we made certain electiongedlto BHS’ operations for our U.S. federal andes2008 consolidated
tax returns in 2009. These elections have the effiedecreasing the net deferred tax assets alddatBHS at the time of the spifift. As a result, we increased the amount of
current income tax receivable during 2009 by $26ilfon, with an offsetting increase in retainedr@ags to adjust the amount of the spin-off disttibn.

After the spin-off, we reclassified BHS' resultsagerations, including previously reported resatigl non-segment income (expense) directly relatélet spin-off, within
discontinued operations.

Interest Expenst

Interest expense included in discontinued operateas $0.3 million in 2008. Interest expense r@ediin discontinued operations includes only irgeos third-party
borrowings made directly by BHS.
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Summary of Selected Results and Outlook

2011 Revenue: Mid-to-high single-digit percentage organic growtrer 2010

2011 Segment Margin: High end of 6.5% to 7.0% (includes effect of 2010 acquisitions)

GAAP Non-GAAP
Full-Year 2011 Full-Year 2011
Full-Year 201C Estimate Full-Year 201C Estimate
Non-Segment:
General and administratiy $ 39 4 % 39 40
Retirement plan 23 28 23 25
Royalty income (a (@) 2 ) )
Acquisition loss (b’ 9 - - -
Other - - - -
Non-Segment $ 63 63 $ 59 63
Effective income tax rate 48% 36%— 39% 36% 36%- 3%%
Interest Expense $ 15 20-24 % 15 20-24
Net income attributable to
noncontrolling interests $ 16 20-24 % 17 20-24
Property and equipment acquired during the year
Capital expenditures (i $ 14¢ 190-20C $ 14¢ 190- 20C
Capital leases 34 30-4C 34 30-40
Total 188 220-24C 182 220- 24C
Depreciation and amortization 137 160-17C 137 160-17C

Amounts may not add due to rounding.

(a) Non-GAAP reflects the elimination of royalties from foer home security unit in 201

(b) Amount is the net of $14 million remeasurement lossour previously held noncontrolling interest3P and a $5 million

acquisition of a controlling interest in SF
(c) The 2011 estimate includes $30 million related texho acquisition

For more information about our outlook, see:
« page 22 for organic revenue growth,
« page 22 for segment operating margin,
« page 34 non-segment expenses,
« page 37 for effective income tax rate,
« page 36 for interest expense,
« page 38 for net income attributable to nonconmgliinterests,
« page 46 for property and equipment acquired dutiegyear, and
« page 46 for depreciation and amortization.
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Non-GAAP Results — Reconciled to Amounts Reportednder GAAP
Non-GAAP results described in this filing are finariei@easures that are not required by, or presentaddordance with generally accepted accountimgiples (“GAAP”).
Purpose of Non-GAAP Information

The purpose of the non-GAAP information is to remur financial information
« without income and expense items described beld@0@8, 2009 and 2010,
« as if our results from Venezuela had been trargslatéhe less-favorable parallel exchange rat®082nd 2009, and
« after adjusting tax expense for items describedvbel

The non-GAAP information provides information tes&ss$ comparability and estimates of future perfaroe Brink’s believes these measures are helpfagsessing operations
and estimating future results and enable periogetded comparability of financial performance. NGAAP results should not be considered as an aligento revenue, incon
or earnings per share amounts determined in accoeda&ith GAAP and should be read in conjunctiorhwtfiteir GAAP counterparts.

Re-measure
Venezuelan Exit Belgium Mexico Non-Segmen  Adjust Incom
Net Monetan  Royalty from CIT Busines Acquisition Asset Sales Tax Non-GAAP
GAAP Basis Assets (a BHS (b) (c) (d) (e) Rate (f) Basis
Full Year 2010
Operating profit:
International $ 164.¢ 3.2 - 134 - - - 181.¢
North America 44.1 - - - - - - 44.1
Segment operating pro’ 208.¢ 3.2 - 134 - - - 225k
Non-segment (62.€) - (4.9) - 8.€ - - (58.€)
Operating profit $ 146.% 3.2 (4.9 13.4 8.€ - - 166.€
Amounts attributable to Brink’s:
Income from cont. ops $ 56.€ 2.C (3.0) 7.8 8.€ (3.0) 13.7 82.¢
Diluted EPS- cont. ops 1.17 0.04 (0.0€) 0.1€ 0.1¢ (0.0€) 0.2¢ 1.71

Amounts may not add due to rounding.

(a) To reverse remeasurement gains and losses in Velaezkior accounting purposes, Venezuela is coreide highly inflationary economy. Under GAAP, sidliaries the
operate in Venezuela record gains and losses iminggsrfor the remeasurement of bolivar fu-denominated net monetary ass

(b) To eliminate royalty income from Bri’'s Home Security

(c) To eliminate loss on exit of Belgium ci-in-transit (CIT) busines

(d) To eliminate a bargain purchase gain related toattwpuisition of a controlling interest in Mexicodaa loss from the remeasurement of a previouslg hehcontrollin
interest which was previously accounted for asst-method investmen

(e) To eliminate gain on exchange of marketable eéturities

(f) The full-year 2010 noGAAP tax expense excludes $13.7 million of tax edgeerelated to the reversal of a deferred tax assetresult of U.S. healthcare legislation as
as the tax effect of the other pretax -GAAP adjustments. The fi-year no-GAAP effective income tax rate for 2010 was 3¢
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Non-GAAP Results — Reconciled to Amounts Reportedridler GAAP (Continued)

Change to Venezuelan Non-Segmen Adjust
Parallel Rate Currency Acquisition Royalty from Asset Sales Income Tax Non-GAAP
GAAP Basis (@) Losses (b Gain (c) BHS (d) (e) Rate (f) Basis
Full Year 2009
Revenues:
EMEA $ 1,257t - - - - - - 1,257t
Latin America 904.7 (237.9 - - - - - 666.¢
Asia Pacific 78.7 - - - - - - 78.7
Internationa 2,240.¢ (237.9 - - - - - 2,003.(
North America 894.1 - - - - - - 894.1
Revenues $ 3,135.( (237.9) - - - - - 2,897.:
Operating profit:
Internationa $ 156.¢ (43.0 4.t - - - - 118.2
North America 56.€ - - - - - - 56.€
Segment operating pro’ 213.¢ (43.0 4.t - - - - 174.¢
Non-segment (46.€) - 22.5 (14.9) (6.9) (9.6) - (55.4)
Operating profit $ 166.¢ (43.0) 27.C (14.9) (6.8) (9.€) - 119.5
Amounts attributable to Brink ’s:
Income- continuing operation $ 195.% (23.2) 25.2 (14.9) (4.9 (5.9 (117.¢) 55.C
Diluted EPS- cont. ops 4.11 (0.49) 0.5 (0.31) (0.09) (0.12) (2.4¢€) 1.1€
Full Year 2008
Revenues:
EMEA $ 1,358.¢ - - - - - - 1,358.¢
Latin America 800.€ (173.9) - - - - - 627.2
Asia Pacific 71.€ - - - - - - 71.€
International 2,231 (173.9) - - - - - 2,057.¢
North America 932.2 - - - - - - 932.2
Revenues $ 3,163. (173.9) = = = = - 2,990.:
Operating profit:
International $ 215.( (48.¢) - - - - - 166.2
North America 56.¢ - - - - - - 56.¢
Segment operating pro 271.¢ (48.¢) = = = = = 223.]
Non-segment (43.4) - - - (1.7 (13.7) - (57.€)
Operating profit $ 228.t (48.¢) - - (1.3 (13.1) - 165.5
Amounts attributable to Brink 's:
Income- continuing operation $ 131.¢ (25.1) - - (0.79) (8. - 97.¢
Diluted EPS- cont. ops 2.82 (0.59) - - (0.0 (0.19) - 2.1C

(a) To reduce revenues and segment operating incomeflext the 2009 and 2008 results of Venezuelarsididries had they been translated using the ghralirrenc
exchange rate in effect at the time. The averagellel exchange rate used for the non-GAAP yelkr earnings was 6.0 bolivar fuertes to the Udlad compared to ¢
average rate of 2.2 bolivar fuertes to the U.Sladdhat was used for the GAAP financial statemeitise official rate of 2.15 bolivar fuertes to thieS. dollar was used f
translation of Venezuela for most of 2009 until ffeeallel rate was adopted during December. Tkeofishe weaker rate to translate 2009 B®AP revenues and earnir
of the Venezuelan subsidiaries decreased each necag63%.

(b) To eliminate currency losses incurred in Venezuelated to increases in cash held in U.S. dollgr¥énezuelan subsidiaries. These losses wouldhaeg been incurre
had the operations been translated at the paratke

(c) To eliminate gains/losses recognized related taiaitipns of controlling interests in subsidiarteat were previously accounted for as equity methedstments

(d) To eliminate royalty income from Bri’'s Home Security

(e) To eliminate certain nc-segment gains on sales of ass

(f) The full-year 2009 noGAAP effective income tax rate is equal to the 2@¥RAP effective income tax rate revised to excl®d48 million of income tax benefits that w
recorded under GAAP in 2009 related to a redudtidhe amount of valuation allowance needed for. deSerred tax assets as a result of improved tmess in retireme
plans and improved credit marke
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Foreign Operations
We currently serve customers in more than 100 cmstincluding approximately 50 countries whereoperate subsidiaries.

We are subject to risks customarily associated dating business in foreign countries, includingolaand economic conditions, political instabiliggntrols on repatriation of
earnings and capital, nationalization, expropriaéod other forms of restrictive action by localgmments. Changes in the political or economidgrenments in the countries
in which we operate could have a material adveifeeteon our business, financial condition and hessof operations. The future effects, if anytludse risks cannot be
predicted.

Our international operations conduct a majorityhefir business in local currencies. Because oanfifal results are reported in U.S. dollars, theyadfected by changes in the
value of various local currencies in relation te th.S. dollar. Brink’s Venezuela is subject to Ideavs and regulatory interpretations that deteentire exchange rate at which
repatriating dividends may be converted. See Apfibn of Critical Accounting Policies—Foreign Ceincy Translation on page 62 for a description afamecounting methods
and assumptions used to include our Venezuelaratiperin our consolidated financial statements, anigscription of the accounting for subsidiaripsrating in highly
inflationary economies.

Changes in exchange rates may also affect transaotthich are denominated in currencies other tharfiunctional currency. From time to time, we f@®ign currency
forward and swap contracts to hedge transactiosis associated with foreign currencies, as dismligsltem 7A on page 67. At December 31, 2010naterial foreign
currency forward contracts were outstanding.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Overview

Over the last three years, we have used cash geddram our continuing operations to

invest in the infrastructure of our business (nasilities, cash sorting and other equipment for@ash logistics operations, armored trucks, Corafa@units, an
custome-facing and bac-office information technology) ($485 million

acquire businesses ($187 million) including $101liom in 2010, primarily in Mexico and Canada, af@d5 million in BRIC (Brazil, Russia, India and Chj
countries in 200¢

repurchase shares of our stock ($97 million),

make voluntary contributions to our primary U.Sngien plan ($92 million), and

pay dividends ($56 million).

In addition, we contributed $50 million to our hosecurity business prior to the spin off of theibess to our shareholders in 2008.

Outlook

We continue to consider acquisition opportunitiethie secure transportation and cash logisticssindand in adjacent security markets. We mayouseash fror
operations and borrowings to fund the purchaseesé acquisition:

We may be required to contribute cash to our Uebsiwn plans in the future, and the amount of dmnions may exceed the amount of cash providedusyU.S
subsidiaries. We may choose to borrow cash ittlse rather than pay incremental taxes that we e&voule upon repatriatiol

We began translating cash flows from our Venezuelperations at a less favorable rate late in 2089.a result, our cash flow amounts reported fas(
operations in 2010 and the future will be lowentipgior years

Summary Cash Flow Information

Years Ended December & $ change
(In millions) 2010 2009 2008 2010 2009
Cash flows from operating activities
Continuing operations
Before contributions to U.S. pension plan and cleangcustome
obligations and income tax payme $ 2722 276.1 3236 $ (4.5 (46.9
Payment of income taxt (65.5) (12.¢) (69.2) (52.9) 56.€
Increase in customer obligatio 38.E - - 38.E -
Contributions to primary U.S. pension pl - (92.4) - 92.4 (92.4)
Subtotal 245.2 171.7 254.¢ 73.E (82.7)
Discontinued operatior (9.9 23.E 172.7 (33.49) (149.2)
Operating activitie: 235.2 195.2 427.1 40.1 (231.9)
Cash flows from investing activities
Capital expenditure (148.¢) (170.6) (165.9) 21.¢ (5.9)
Acquisitions (100.7) (74.€) (11.7) (26.7) (62.9
Cash held by BHS at the s-off date - - (50.0) - 50.C
Other (5.9 4.1 17.¢ (10.0 (13.9)
Discontinued operatior - - (150.¢) - 150.¢
Investing activities (255.9) (241.]) (359.9) (14.9) 118.¢
Cash flows before financing activities $ (20.7) (45.9) 672 $ 25.€ (113.0)
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Operating Activities

Operating cash flows increased by $40.1 millio2@10 compared to 2009 as a result of a $73.5 millierease in cash flow from continuing operatiafiset by a $33.4 millio
decrease in cash flow from discontinued operations.

Operating cash flows from continuing operationsengigher in 2010 mainly due to a $92.4 million cashtribution made in 2009 to our U.S. pension pl@ur operating cash
flows in 2009 also included $43 million of inconaxtrefunds, much of which were primarily the resiltax deductions associated with the U.S. pens#sih contribution and
$57.6 million of Brink’s common stock that was atsmtributed to the plan. In certain cash logsbperations, title to the cash we receive andge®transfers to us for a short
period of time but is then generally credited tstomers’ accounts the following day. We do not @eisthis cash as available for general corporatpgses. The increase in
amounts owed to customers for these cash procesperations contributed $38.5 million to the ina®n operating cash flows.

Excluding the effect of the pension contributiamgome tax payments and the increase in customigatibhs, operating cash flows declined by $4.9iamilin 2010 compared 1
2009. The decrease was primarily due to an inergathe use of cash flows for working capital reed

The decrease in cash flows provided by discontirapetations resulted from the receipt of $23.7iomlIFederal Black Lung Excise Tax cash refundsOif@compared to an
$11.5 million 2010 payment for a legal claim asatai with BAX Global, a former business unit. Wavé insurance coverage applicable to this matteéicatiected $1.6 millio
from insurance companies in the third quarter df®0We believe that we will recover the BAX Glofsalated legal claim payment less amounts paichbyirtsurance providers
to litigate the matter.

Operating cash flows decreased by $231.9 millio2G@9 as cash flows from both our continuing arstaintinued operations were lower compared to 200 decrease in
operating cash flows from continuing operations wasnly due to the third-quarter 2009 contributtorour primary U.S. pension plan, of which $92.4liovi was made in cash.
While not affecting our cash flow, we also contkixli $57.6 million in Brink’s stock to our pensidor a total contribution of $150 million to the pla The pension contribution
cash outflow was partially offset by $43 millionimcome tax refunds, much of which were primarfig tesult of tax deductions associated with thé easl stock contribution
the pension plan. Lower operating profit in 200@®éad a negative effect on cash flows from opematalthough we used less cash for working capgalls.

The decrease in operating cash flows related toditnued operations was primarily due to BHS’ ctislvs in 2008 exceeding FBLET cash refunds, thmary source of
operating cash flows from discontinued operation2009.
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Investing Activities

Cash flows from investing activities decreased b4.$ million in 2010 primarily due to a $26.1 nolli increase in cash used to acquire businesséw|liyasffset by a $21.8
million decrease in capital expenditures as a tegwdn increase in the use of capital leases qoiae armored vehicles and CompuSafe® units inINArherica.

Cash flows from investing activities used $118.8iam less cash in 2009 versus 2008 primarily dughe spin-off of BHS in 2008. BHS used $150.8liolin 2008 primarily
for the installation of home security equipmentdastomers, and we contributed $50 million to BHi$ha date of the spin-off. Our continuing opeyasi used more cash for
investing activities in 2009 compared to 2008 fosiness acquisitions and higher capital expendifypartially offset by proceeds from the sale ckets.

Capital expenditures and depreciation and amoitizatre as follows:

Outlook Years Ended December & $ change
(In millions) 2011 2010 2009 2008 2010 2009
Property and Equipment Acquired during tt
year
Capital expenditures
Internationa $ @ 110.7 103.1 1127 $ 7.€ (9.6)
North America (a) 38.1 67.5 52.€ (29.4) 14.€
Capital expenditure $ 19C-20C 148.¢ 170.€ 165.2 $ (21.¢) 5.3
Capital lease(b) :
Internationa $ @ 4.1 13.4 8C $ 9.3 5.4
North America (a) 29.¢ - - 29.¢ -
Capital lease $ 3C-40 33.¢ 13.4 8C $ 20.t 5.4
Total:
Internationa $ ©)] 114.¢ 116.5 1207 $ @.7) 4.2
North America (a) 67.€ 67.5 52.€ 0.4 14.€
Total $ 22C-24C 182.7 184.C 173 $ 1.3 10.7
Qutlook Years Ended December & $ change
(In millions) 2011 2010 2009 2008 2010 2009
Depreciation and amortizatiol
Depreciation and amortizatio
Internationa $ @ 92.€ 97.t 90.t $ 4.9 7.C
North America (a) 44.C 37.€ 31.¢ 6.4 5.8
Depreciation and amortizatic $ 16C-17C 136.€ 135.1 122: $ iL5 12.¢

(@) Not provided.
(b) Represents the amount of property andpetent acquired using capital leases. Since thetasre acquired without using cash, the amouetsa included in the
consolidated cash flow statement. Amounts areigeavhere to assist in the comparison of assetsirgehjin the current year versus prior years.

Capital expenditures in 2010 were primarily for neash processing and security equipment, armoreidles, information technology and CompuSafe® un@apital
expenditures in 2010 decreased mainly due to l@xpenditures in our North America segment. Theelse in our North America segment was mainly ddfewer purchases
of armored vehicles and CompuSafe® units, as weebbaather than purchased those assets.

Capital expenditures in 2009 were slightly higheart the same period of 2008.
« Capital expenditures in 2009 were primarily for neagh processing and security equipment, armoreidles, and information technology.
« Higher capital expenditures in our North Americgreent were partially offset by a decrease in oterlmtional segment.
« The increase in our North America segment was maiok to higher expenditures for armored vehidssye elected to buy rather than lease these eshiat well ¢
increased spending on Compu&® units.
« The decrease in Brink’s International capital exgiemes from the priogear period was due to lower spending overall, @ & the changes in currency exchange 1
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Capital expenditures have exceeded depreciatiormarudtization in the last several years and tleisdris expected to continue in the next severatsyasa result of growth in
the infrastructure of our operations, including nenanch facilities and leasehold improvements, dinaw technology investments, and investment inséfety and security of
our operations.

Financing Activities

Summary of Financing Activities

Years Ended December &
(In millions) 2010 2009 2008

Cash provided (used) by financing activities
Borrowings and repayment

Shor-term debr $ 27.1 0.9 (4.9

Long-term revolving credit facilitie 121.2 (10.7) 93.t

Other lon¢-term deb (15.9) (11.9) (12.6)
Debt financing cost (2.5) - -
Cash proceeds from s-leasebacl 1.2 13.€ -
Repurchase shares of common stock of F's (33.7) (6.9 (56.€)
Dividends attributable tc

Shareholders of Brir's (18.9) (18.9) (18.2)

Noncontrolling interests in subsidiari (18.9) (13.9) (12.9)
Proceeds and tax benefits related to stock comfiensand othe (0.2) 1.1 11.1

Cash flows from financing activities $ 60.C (46.6) 0.4

In 2010, our net borrowings were $132.4 milliorcampared to net repayments in 2009 of $22.3 millire increased borrowings resulted primarily fiomding 2010 busine:
acquisitions and repurchasing shares of our comstaok.

In 2010, we purchased 1,682,845 shares of our canstozk for $33.7 million at an average price 0@ $3 per share. In 2009, we purchased 234,45@slodiour common
stock at an average cost of $26.20 per share. ¥éeuaked $0.8 million in early 2009 to settle sharehases initiated in December 2008.

Our operating liquidity needs are typically finaddgy cash from operations, short-term debt andRiéolving Facility, described below.

In 2010, Venezuela began limiting conversions diviao fuertes to U.S. dollars to $350,000 per legpatity per month. As a result, we do not antitépapatriation of cash from
our Venezuelan operations for the foreseeabledutihis may limit our ability to use funds earnied/enezuela for general corporate purposes, imetuceducing our U.S. det
At December 31, 2010, our Venezuelan subsidiaiéd $3.3 million of cash and short-term investmet@sominated in U.S. dollars and $18.2 million a$tt denominated in
bolivar fuertes.

Dividends

We paid dividends of $0.10 per share in each ofdhe quarters of 2010. Future dividends are ddpehon our earnings, financial condition, shardad’ equity levels, our
cash flow and business requirements, as deternbiyndige board of directors.
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Capitalization

We use a combination of debt, leases and equitgpitalize our operations.

As of December 31, 2010, debt as a percentagepitbiaation (defined as total debt and sharehaldequity) was 40% compared to 25% at DecembeRB09. The increase
resulted from higher debt of $193.6 million whicttieased primarily from the funding of businessuggitions and share repurchases and the increasedficapital leases to
acquire armored vehicles and CompuSafe® units.

Summary of Debt, Equity and Other Liquidity Infornten

Amount availabl
under credit

facilities Outstanding Balanc
December 31 December 31
(In millions) 2010 2010 2009 $ change (a
Debt:
Multi-currency revolving facilitie: $ 222 % 11.C 65 $ 4.5
Revolving Facility 182.¢ 217.2 98.C 119.2
Letter of Credit Facilitie: 84.2 - - -
2010 Credit Facility 20.C - - -
Dominion Terminal Associates bon - 43.2 43.2 -
Capital lease - 64.2 32.¢ 314
Other - 53.€ 15.1 38.E
Debt $ 309.:. $ 389.2 195.6 $ 193.€
Total equity $ 583.1 595.t $ (12.9)

(a) In addition to cash borrowings and repaymentschiange in the debt balance also includes changasiiancy exchange rates and new capital leasemagrgs
Net Debt and Reconciliation to GAAP Measur

December 31

(In millions) 2010 2009 $ change
Debt:

Shor-term $ 36.E 72 $ 29.2
Long-term 352.7 188.4 164.:
Total Debt $ 389.2 1956 $ 193.€
Cash and cash equivalel $ 183.( 143.C $ 40.C
Less amounts held by cash logistics operation (38.5) - (38.5)
Amount available for general corporate purpc $ 144.5 143.C $ 1.5
Net Debt $ 244 52¢ $ 192.1

(a) Title to cash received and processed in certamuofsecure cash logistics operations transfers tmwa short period of time. The cash is gengraiédited to customers’
accounts the following day and we do not considexsi available for general corporate purposes énnlanagement of our liquidity and capital resour@ed in ou
computation of Net Deb

Net Debt is a supplemental r-GAAP financial measure that is not required bypasented in accordance with GAAP. We use Net Bela measure of our financial
leverage. We believe that investors also may lletiDebt to be helpful in evaluating our finand&aterage. Net Debt should not be considered ast@mative to Debt
determined in accordance with GAAP and should k&veed in conjunction with our consolidated balasbeets. Set forth above is a reconciliation of Diebt, a non-GAAP
financial measure, to Debt, which is the most diyesomparable financial measure calculated andnteg in accordance with GAAP, as of December 8102 and December
31, 2009. At December 31, 2010, Net Debt was $2Biion excluding cash and debt in Venezuelan opena.

Net Debt (Cash) position changed primarily dueh®decrease in the cash and cash equivalents bal&ros that affected ca
and cash equivalents during 2010 were:

« Acquisitions net of cash acquired ($101 milliomda
« Share repurchases ($34 million)
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Debt

We have an unsecured $400 million revolving bamditrfacility (the “Revolving Facility”) with a sytficate of banks. The Revolving Facility’s intereste is based on LIBOR
plus a margin, alternate base rate plus a margicprpetitive bid. The Revolving Facility allowset Company to borrow or issue letters of creditotberwise satisfy credit
needs) on a revolving basis over a fgear term ending in July 2014. As of December281,0, $182.8 million was available under the RevgWacility. Amounts outstandil
under the Revolving Facility as of December 31,®0¢ere denominated primarily in U.S. dollars an@tesser extent in Canadian dollars.

The margin on LIBOR borrowings under the Revolvitagility, which can range from 1.225% to 2.325%et&jing on our credit rating, was 1.75% at Decen3ie2010. The
margin on alternate base rate borrowings undeRthelving Facility can range from 0.225% to 1.325%e also pay an annual facility fee on the Revavracility based on
our credit rating. The facility fee, which can ganfrom 0.15% to 0.55%, was 0.375% at the end ©020

We have two unsecured multi-currency revolving barddit facilities with a total of $60.0 million iavailable credit, of which approximately $22.21ioit was available at
December 31, 2010. A $40 million facility expitiesDecember 2011 and a $20 million facility expiredDecember 2012. Interest on these facilitidsaised on LIBOR plus a
margin. The margin ranges from 0.14% to 2.50%. alge have the ability to borrow from other bardtsthe banks’ discretion, under short-term uncorneuit

agreements. Various foreign subsidiaries mairg#hier lines of credit and overdraft facilities wamumber of banks.

We have two unsecured letter of credit facilitietaling $189 million, of which approximately $8#llion was available at December 31, 2010. A $t8Bion facility expires
in July 2011 and a $54 million facility expiresrecember 2014. The Revolving Facility and the raitrency revolving credit facilities are also d<er issuance of letters of
credit and bank guarantees.

We also have a bilateral committed credit facifttye “2010 Credit Facility”) with a total of $20rfillion in available credit that expires in MarcB2L. Interest on this facility is
based on LIBOR plus a margin, which ranges fron¥2t0 2.5%. As of December 31, 2010, $20.0 millieas available under the 2010 Credit Facility.

We expect to refinance facilities maturing in 2011.

The Revolving Facility, the two letter of credicftities, the two unsecured multi-currency revolyibank credit facilities and the 2010 Credit Fagitiontain subsidiary
guarantees and various financial and other covenartte financial covenants, among other thingsit lbur total indebtedness, limit priority debinit asset sales, limit the use
of proceeds from asset sales and provide for mimroaverage of interest costs. The credit agreesr@gmnot provide for the acceleration of paymehtaufl our credit rating £
reduced. If we were not to comply with the terrisuar various loan agreements, the repayment teoukl be accelerated and the commitments couldithelrawn. An
acceleration of the repayment terms under one agmeecould trigger the acceleration of the repaynbenms under the other loan agreements. In Noeer2®10, we obtained
appropriate waivers in connection with the bankeymtf our Belgium subsidiary to ensure that we rencampliant with the terms of our facilities. Were in compliance with
all financial covenants at December 31, 2010.

We have $43.2 million of bonds issued by the Ped@Borts Authority of Virginia recorded as debtaur balance sheet. Although we are not the pgiatigor of the debt,
we have guaranteed the debt and we believe thatilveltimately pay this obligation. The guarantegginated as part of a former interest in Dommicerminal Associates, a
deep water coal terminal. We continue to pay irsieoa the debt. The bonds bear a fixed intesgstof 6.0% and mature in 2033. The bonds maymaatrior to 2033 upon tl
occurrence of specified events such as the detatimmthat the bonds are taxable or if we faillbiade by the terms of the guarantee.

Based on our current cash on hand, amounts awailatgler our credit facilities and current projestiof cash flows from operations, we believe thatwill be able to meet our
liquidity needs for more than the next 12 months.

On January 24, 2011, we issued $100 million in o notes through a private placement debt tcéiosa(the “Notes”). The Notes are comprised dd $iillion in series A

notes with a fixed coupon rate of 4.57% and $50ionilin series B notes with a fixed coupon rat&®0%. The Notes are due in January 2021 wittcjal payments under t
series A notes to begin in January 2015. The axef $100 million were utilized to pay down thevRlving Facility.
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Equity
At December 31, 2010, we had 100 million sharesooimon stock authorized and 46.4 million sharaseidsand outstanding.

Share Purchases
In September, 2007, our board of directors autledrthe purchase of up to $100 million of our outditag common shares. We purchased $100 milliomaifes of our common

stock as follows:
. We used $60.2 million to purchase 1,044,3G0eshof common stock through the end of 2008 avanage price of $57.58 per share.

o In 2009, we used $6.1 million to purchase,238 shares of common stock at an average prig2@&p0 per share.
. During 2010, we purchased 1,682,845 shares of@munwn stock for $33.7 million at an average prit§20.03 per share.

Dividends

We paid regular quarterly dividends on our commimiclsduring the last three years. On January Q01 2the board declared a regular quarterly divddeinl0 cents per share
payable on March 1, 2011. Future dividends aredéent on the earnings, financial condition, shaldgr equity levels, cash flow and business requéngts, as determined by
the board of directors.

Employee Benefits Tru

In September 2008, we terminated The Brink's Comppgamployee Benefits Trust (the “Employee Benefitast’). Immediately prior to termination, the sésiheld by the trust
were distributed to us and the shares were retifBte purpose of the Employee Benefits Trust (poatetmination) was to hold shares of our commonksto fund obligations
under compensation and employee benefit prograatptbvided for the issuance of stock. After #ertination of the trust, newly issued shares aeel tis satisfy these
programs.

Through 2007, shares of common stock were votetthdyrustee in the same proportion as the sharesmion stock voted by our employees participaitingur 401(k)
plan. Our 401(k) plan divested all shares of @mmmon stock in January 2008. After the 401(k) mlarested all shares of our common stock, sharéiseofrust were not voted
in matters voted on by shareholders.

Preferred Stocl

At December 31, 2010, we had the authority to isgue 2.0 million shares of preferred stock, paiue $10 per share.

Off Balance Sheet Arrangements

We have operating leases that are described indtes to the consolidated financial statements rié¢e 14 for operating leases that have resicalabwyuarantees or other tei

that cause the agreement to be considered a \aiigblest. We use operating leases to lower astraf financings. We believe that operating lses® an important
component of our capital structure.
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Contractual Obligations
The following table reflects our contractual obtigas as of December 31, 2010.

Estimated Payments Due by Per

Later
(In millions) 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 Years Total
Contractual obligation:
Long-term debt
obligations $ 15.¢ 6.C 2.2 218.¢ 11 44.¢ 288.t
Capital lease obligatior 13.2 14.€ 10.3 8.€ 7.€ 9.7 64.2
Operating lease
obligations 81.t 68.€ 55.1 38.2 30.C 62.2 336.1
Purchase obligation
Service contract 10.7 2.C 0.8 0.8 0.€ 0.1 15.C
Other 2L - - - - - 2L
Other longterm liabilities
reflected on the
Company'’s balance
sheet under GAAF
Primary U.S. pension
plan - 35.¢ 33.¢ 30.1 26.7 9.C 135.F
Other retirement
obligations:
UMWA plans - - - - - 331.C 331.C
Black lung and
other plans 7.8 7.4 7.1 6.7 6.4 63.5 98.¢
Workers compensatic
and other claim 19.€ 15.1 8.7 5.2 3.2 22.¢ 75.C
Uncertain tax position 1.€ - - - - - 1.€
Other 0.8 0.8 0.8 0.8 0.8 9.8 13.¢
Total $ 153.¢ 150.¢ 119.C 308.¢ 76.5 553.1 1,362.:

U.S. Pension Plans

Pension benefits provided to eligible U.S. emplayeere frozen on December 31, 2005, and are netdad to employees hired after 2005 or to thoseeoed by a collective
bargaining agreement. There are approximatelyd®@lb@neficiaries in the plans. In 2009, we conted $150 million to the plans, which helped redieeunderfunded status
of U.S. plans to $152 million at the end of 20@&ased on current assumptions we will begin anneafributions to the plan in 2012 which will contifor five years, totaling
$135.5 million.

UMWA Plans
Retirement benefits related to former coal operatinclude medical benefits provided by the Pitistwal Group Companies Employee Benefit Plan folMMRepresented
Employees. There are approximately 4,600 berzefes in the UMWA plans. The company does not ekfiemake additional contributions to these plamtl 2029.

Black Lung
Under the Federal Black Lung Benefits Act of 19BBInk’s is responsible for paying lifetime blacknigi benefits to miners and their dependents fonddiled and approved
after June 30, 1973. There are approximately 88€kdung beneficiaries.

Other
We also have a plan that provides retirement healtb benefits to certain eligible salaried empésyeBenefits under this plan are not indexedrfiiation.

Risks Associated with U.S. Retirement Obligationsiclude:
« Changing discount rates and other assumptiondectedt measurement dates (normally December 31)
« Investment returns of plan assets
« Addition of new participants (historically immatakidue to freezing of pension benefits and exirfrapal business)
« Mortality rates
« Change in laws

The Contractual Obligations table above includesyents projected to be paid with our corporate fuadld does not include payments made with retireplan assets.
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Underfunded (Overfunded) Status of U.S. RetiremenPlans

Actual Projectec
(in millions) 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015
U.S. pension plans
Beginning underfunded balan $ 152.2 191.% 177.C 123.1 65.4 7.8
Net periodic pension credit ( (20.9) (18.9) 17.9 (29.2) (25.€) (30.9)
Payment from Brin's - - (35.9) (33.9) (30.7) (26.7)
Benefit plan experience (gain) Ic 60.€ 5.€ 1.8 (1.€ (0.3 (0.7
Other (0.8 (1.4 (2.0 (2.7) (1.6) (1.5)
Ending underfunded (overfunded) balal $ 191.% 177.C 123.1 65.4 7.8 (51.9)
UMWA plans
Beginning underfunded balan $ 157.5 164.1 162.¢ 161.% 161.C 160.7
Net periodic postretirement cost (credit) 1.8 (2.9 (2.7 (0.7) 0.3 0.2
Payment from Brin's - - - - - -
Benefit plan experience lo 4.5 - - - - -
Other 0.2 - - - - -
Ending underfunded balan $ 164.1 162.¢ 161.% 161.C 160.7 160.¢
Black lung and other plans
Beginning underfunded balan $ 47.1 62.2 57.2 52.t 47.€ 43.5
Net periodic postretirement cost | 2.¢ 2.8 2.7 2.t 2.2 2.2
Payment from Brin's (5.9 (7.9 (7.9 (7.2) (6.7) (6.9
Benefit plan experience ga (2.9 - - - - -
Health care reform remeasurem 19.5 - - - - -
Other 0.1 - - - - -
Ending unfunded balant $ 62.2 57.2 52.5 47.€ 43.5 39.2

(@) Excludes amounts reclassified from accumulatedratbmprehensive incom

52




Summary of Total Expenses Related to All U.S. Retment Liabilities

This table summarizes actual and projected exp@nseme) related to U.S. retirement liabilities.od expenses are allocated to non-segment resiitlisthe balance allocated
to North American operations. The market valuehefinvestments used to pay benefits for our retr@mlans significantly declined in 2008. Expensgated to our U.S
pension plans are expected to increase over thdeeyears as market losses are amortized inturegs from other comprehensive income.

Actual Projectec
(in millions) 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015
U.S. pension plan $ (0.9 9.1 12.5 12.5 0.€ (8.2
UMWA plans 17.€ 13.4 13.1 12.¢ 12.€ 12.7
Black lung and other plar 4.7 5.4 5.4 5.2 5.2 5.2
Total $ 21.7 27.¢ 31.C 30.7 18.€ 9.7
Amounts allocated tc
North American segmel $ (1.0 3.C 4.2 4.4 (0.2 (3.6)
Non-segmen 22.7 24.C 26.7 26.8 18.€ 138
Total $ 21.7 27.¢ 31.C 30.7 18.€ 9.7

Summary of Total Payments from Brink’s to U.S. Plais and Payments from U.S. Plans to Participants

This table summarizes actual and estimated payments
« from Brink’s to U.S. retirement plans, and
« from the plans to participants.

Actual Projectec
(in millions) 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015
Payments from Brink’s to U.S. Plans
U.S. pension plan $ = - 35.€ SO1¢ 30.1 26.7
UMWA plans 0.3 - - - - -
Black lung and other plans ( 5.8 7.8 7.4 7.1 6.7 6.4
Total $ 5.€ 7.8 43.2 41.C 36.€ 33.1
(a)These plans are not fund
Payments from U.S. Plans to participant:
U.S. pension plan $ 38.C 41.1 43.1 45.2 45.7 47.1
UMWA plans 38.1 36.E 36.€ 37.2 36.€ 36.¢
Black lung and other plar 5. 7.8 7.4 7.1 6.7 6.4
Total $ 82.C 85.4 87.4 89.€ 89.2 90.5

The amounts in the tables above are based onetyafiestimates, including actuarial assumptianefeDecember 31, 2010. The estimated amountshélhge in the future to
reflect payments made, investment returns, acuavaluations, and other changes in estimatesuah@mounts could differ materially from the esibed amounts.

53




Contingent Matters

Bankruptcy of Brink's Belgium

Background Our cash-in-transit subsidiary in Belgium (BrialBelgium) filed for bankruptcy in November 201@eafa restructuring plan was rejected by local nrémployee
and was placed into bankruptcy on February 2, 204/#.continue to operate our separate Global Sesviait in Belgium, which provides secure transpbdiamonds, jewelry,
precious metals, banknotes and other commodities.

DeconsolidationBrink’s Belgium continued to provide cash-in-trarservices for customers after the bankruptcydilior approximately three months under the managéwfe
a court-appointed trustee. We no longer contrglrovide funding for the subsidiary. In accordandth FASB ASC Topic 810Consolidation, we deconsolidated the subsidii
in November 2010, when the trustee assumed caoittbe subsidiary. We estimated that the fair gafiour investment at the date of deconsolidatias zero. Our carrying
value of the investment and advances to the suvgidi the date of the deconsolidation was $11Ilfomj which we wrote off as a result of the deoolidation, resulting in a
pretax loss. We also have incurred approximatély $nillion of other charges related to the bankeywf the subsidiary. The losses related to declidation and other charg
have been recorded in operating income (expengbginonsolidated statements of income.

Legal dispute. In December 2010, the court-appointed providiadaninistrators of Brink’s Belgium filed a clairf€20 million against a subsidiary of Brink’s. \We not
believe that this claim has merit, and we are gagsa vigorous defense to contest this action. baleeve that it is reasonably possible that we iniur a loss of up to €20
million (equivalent to $26.5 million at December, 2010) if we lose in the court proceeding, bus ialso reasonably possible that we will prevaihe court resulting in no los
We do not believe that any loss within this rargpriobable and have not accrued for this mattée ultimate resolution of this matter is unknow #ime estimated liability me
change in the future. We do not believe thatulienate disposition of this matter will have a @l adverse effect on our liquidity, financialgitton or results of operations.

Other

We are involved in various other lawsuits and ckimthe ordinary course of business. We are bletta estimate the range of losses for some cktheatters. We have
recorded accruals for losses that are conside@zhpte and reasonably estimable. We do not betlatehe ultimate disposition of any of these ew@twill have a material
adverse effect on our liquidity, financial positionresults of operations.
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APPLICATION OF CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The application of accounting principles requites tise of assumptions, estimates and judgmentsmal{e assumptions, estimates and judgments baseshamg other things,
knowledge of operations, markets, historical tremad likely future changes, similarly situated Inesises and, when appropriate, the opinions of acbngith relevant
knowledge and experience. Reported results caae been materially different had management uskfiesent set of assumptions, estimates and judgsne

Deferred Tax Asset Valuation Allowance

Deferred tax assets result primarily from net opegaosses and the net tax effects of tempordifgminces between the carrying amount of assetdiaitities for financial
statement and income tax purposes, as determirtt enacted tax laws and rates.

Accounting Policies

We establish valuation allowances in accordanck RASB ASC Topic 740ncome Taxeswhen we estimate it is not more likely than rattta deferred tax asset will be
realized. We decide to record valuation allowarprésarily based on an assessment of historicaliegs and future taxable income that incorporatasignt, feasible tax-
planning strategies. We assess deferred tax assets individual jurisdiction basis. Changesar statutes, the timing of deductibility of expense expectations for future
performance could result in material adjustmentsuwovaluation allowances, which would increaseexrease tax expense. Our valuation allowanceasafi@lows.

Valuation Allowances

December 31

(In millions) 2010 2009

u.s. $ 15.7 9.8

Non-U.S. 30.2 35.€
Total $ 45.¢ 45.4

Application of Accounting Policies
U.S. Deferred Tax Assets
There were no significant changes to our deferm&dissets and valuation allowances in 2010.

Our deferred tax assets, before valuation allowsndecreased in 2009 as a result of an increastiiament asset values from the equity market angment and our
contribution to the primary U.S. pension plan. Tikelihood of realizing additional amounts of trenraining deferred tax assets improved due to inipgomarket conditions,
including credit markets. As a result, we revised estimate of the amount of U.S. valuation alloees needed and reversed $117.8 million in inconra tontinuing
operations.

We used various estimates and assumptions to égahmneed for the valuation allowance in the Ul8ese included
« projected revenues and operating income for our ehSties,
« estimated required contributions to our U.S. retieat plans, and
« interest rates on projected U.S. borrowings.

Had we used different assumptions, we might havéendiifferent conclusions about the need for vatuedllowances. For example, using different assiomg in 2010 we
might have concluded that we require a valuatitowalnce offsetting our U.S. deferred tax asseteeatend of 2010. Further, in 2009 we might hamectuded that we should
keep the valuation allowance offsetting our U.Seded tax asset, or we might have concluded tiaskwould have reversed less than we did. In #w#,ur tax provision on
income from continuing operations could have bgetou$117.8 million higher in 2009.

Nor-U.S. Deferred Tax Assets
We changed our judgment about the need for valuatiowances for deferred tax assets in certairh@h jurisdictions as a result of improvementsperating results and an

improved outlook about the future operating perfance. As a result, we reversed $0.9 million otiméibn allowances in 2010 and $2.0 million of vaiom allowances in 2009
through continuing operations.
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Goodwill, Other Intangible Assets and Property andequipment Valuations
Accounting Policies

At December 31, 2010, we had property and equipme$698.9 million, goodwill of $244.3 million arather intangible assets of $83.2 million, net afianulated depreciation
and amortization. We review these assets for plesgnhpairment using the guidance in FASB ASC T@&56, Intangibles - Goodwill and Otherfor goodwill and other
intangible assets and FASB ASC Topic 3Bfhperty, Plant and Equipmenfor property and equipment. Our review for imp@ént requires the use of significant judgments
about the future performance of our operating sli@ses. Due to the many variables inherent ingstimates of the fair value of these assets, @iffegs in assumptions could
have a material effect on the impairment analyses.

Application of Accounting Policies

Goodwill

We review goodwill for impairment annually and wieger events or circumstances make it more likedy thot that impairment may have occurred. Appliceof the goodwill
impairment test requires judgment, including thenidfication of reporting units, assignment of assd liabilities to reporting units, assignmehgoodwill to reporting units,
and determination of the fair value of each repgrtinit. We estimate the fair value of each repgrtinit using a discounted cash flow methodologle fair value of each
reporting unit is compared to its carrying valuel&ermine if impairment is indicated. Due to sthiy of profitability and cash flow generation mdpwith expectations for futu
cash flows, fair value of each reporting unit sabsially exceeds its carrying value.

Indefinite-lived intangibles

We review indefinite-lived intangibles for impairmteannually and whenever events or circumstancé® hanore likely than not that impairment may haeeurred. An
indefinite-lived intangible is also evaluated eagporting period to determine whether events arclinistances continue to support an indefinite usiééu The annual
impairment test is performed by comparing the éagyalue of the intangible to its estimated faaiue. No impairment testing was performed durlmgytear for indefinite-
lived intangibles acquired in the fourth quartenasndicators of impairment existed in the shonet from acquisition date to year end.

Other Intangible Assets and Property and Equipment

We review long-lived assets besides goodwill afoindefinite-lived intangibles for impairment whever events or changes in circumstances indibatehe related carrying
amounts may not be recoverable. For purposes esisg) impairment, assets are grouped at the Idexedds for which there are identifiable cash flowvat are largely
independent of the cash flows of other groups sétss To determine whether impairment has occuwed;ompare estimates of the future undiscountedash flows of groups
of assets to their carrying value.

We have had no significant impairments of proparty equipment in the last three years.
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Retirement and Postemployment Benefit Obligations
We provide benefits through defined benefit pengilams and retiree medical benefit plans and ustdguatory requirements.
Accounting Policy

We account for pension and other retirement benbfigations under FASB ASC Topic 71Gpmpensation — Retirement Benefitéd/e account for postemployment benefit
obligations, including workers’ compensation obtigas, under FASB ASC Topic 71€ompensation — Nonretirement Postemployment Benefit

To account for these benefits, we make assumptibagpected return on assets, discount ratestimflademographic factors and changes in the lamwisregulations covering
the benefit obligations. Because of the inheretatility of these items and because the obligatiare significant, changes in the assumptions doaNeé a material effect on our
liabilities and expenses related to these benefits.

Our most significant retirement plans include oumary U.S. pension plan and the retiree medicahglof our former coal business that were collettibargained with the
United Mine Workers of America (the “UMWA™)The critical accounting estimates that determimecturrying values of liabilities and the resultamgnual expense are discus
below.
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Application of Accounting Policy

Discount Rate Assumptions for Plans Accounted und&SB ASC Topic 71!

For plans accounted under FASB ASC Topic 715, wedlint estimated future payments using discoues tased on market conditions at the end of the yaayeneral, our
liability changes in an inverse relationship teenetst rates. That is, the lower the discount tagehigher the associated plan obligation.

We derive the discount rates used to measure #geprt value of our benefit obligations using thehddow matching method. Under this method, we gare the plan’s
projected payment obligations by year with the esponding yields on the Mercer Yield Curve. Eaghris projected cash flows are then discounted batheir present value
at the measurement date and an overall discountsaetermined. The overall discount rate is tlremded to the nearest tenth of a percentage.point

The discount rates for the U.S. pension plans, UMtee medical plans and Black Lung obligatioresev

Primary U.S. Plai UMWA Plans Black Lung
2010 2009 2008 2010 2009 2008 2010 2009 2008

Discount rate

Retirement
cost 5.% 6.7% 6.4% 5.€% 6.2% 6.4% 5.3% 6.2% 6.1%

Benefit
obligation at yea
end 5.2% 5.S% 6.2% 5.2% 5.€% 6.2% 4.8% 5.4% 6.2%

Sensitivity Analysis

The discount rate we select at year end affectsdahetions of plan obligations at year end anduations of net periodic expenses for the follogvirear.

The tables below compare hypothetical plan obligatialuations for our largest plans as of Decen3fie2010, actual expenses for 2010 and projectpdreses for 2011

assuming we had used discount rates that wereemertage point lower or higher.

Plan Obligations at December 31, 20

Hypothetical Actual Hypothetical
(In millions) 4.2% 5.2% 6.2%
Primary U.S. pension ple $ 998.4 869.( 764.€
UMWA plans 524.¢ 474.% 431.7

Actual 2010 and Projected 2011 Expense (Incc

Hypothetical sensitivity analysis for

Hypothetical sensitivity analysis for

(In millions, except percentage discount rate assumptic discount rate assumptic

Actual 1% lower 1% higher Projectec 1% lower 1% highet
Years Ending December 3 2010 2010 2010 2011 2011 2011
Primary U.S. pension pla
Discount rate assumptic 5.8% 4.%% 6.% 5.2% 4.2% 6.2%
Retirement cost (credi $ (2. 9.t (12,9 $ 7.7 17.t 0.7
UMWA plans
Discount rate assumptic 5.8% 4.%% 6.S% 5.2% 4.2% 6.2%
Retirement cos $ 17.¢ 19.1 167 $ 13.4 14.€ 12.4
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Expecte-Return-on-Assets Assumption for Plans Accountedden FASB ASC Topic 715

Our expected-return-on-assets assumption, whigtfour net periodic benefit cost, reflects thegkterm average rate of return we expect the pdarta to earn. We select the
expected-return-on-assets assumption using adwoedur investment advisor and actuary considegach plan’s asset allocation targets and expeste@lbinvestment
manager performance and a review of the most réeegtterm historical average compounded rategtfrn, as applicable. We selected 8.75% as thecteg-return-on-assets
assumption as of December 31, 2010 and 2009.

Over the last ten years, the annual returns opdarary U.S. pension plan have averaged, on a cangex basis, 4.4%, net of fees, while the 20-yedr2b-year compounded
annual return averaged 9.2%, and the 29-year cong@aliannual return averaged 10.3%.

Sensitivity Analysis

Effect of using different expec-rate-of-return assumptionsOur 2010 and projected 2011 expense would have diferent if we had used different expected-rateeturn
assumptions. For every hypothetical change ofpameentage point in the assumed long-term ratetafm on plan assets (and holding other assumptionstant), our 2010 and
2011 expense would be as follows.

Hypothetical sensitivity analysis for Hypothetical sensitivity analysis for
(In millions, except percentage expecte-returr-on asset assumptic expecte-returr-on asset assumptic
Actual 1% lower 1% higher Projectec 1% lower 1% highet
Years Ending December 3 2010 2010 2010 2011 2011 2011
Expecterreturr-on-asset assumptic 8.8% 7.8% 9.8% 8.8% 7.8% 9.8%
Primary U.S. pension ple $ (2.7 5.€ 97 $ 7.7 15.1 0.2
UMWA plans 17.¢ 20.7 14.¢ 13.4 16.2 10.5

Effect of improving or deteriorating actual futunearket returns Our funded status at December 31, 2011, and@le 2xpense will be different from currently pragset
amounts if our projected 2011 returns are bettevarse than the 8.75% return we have assumed.

Hypothetical sensitivity analysis of
2011 asset return better or worse than

(In millions, except percentage expectec

Better Worse
Years Ending December 3 Projectec return return
Return on investments in 20 8.8% 17.5% 0%

Funded Status at December 31, 2!

Primary U.S. pension ple $ (15€) 97) (21€)
UMWA plans (16%) (137) (18¢)
2012 Expens

Primary U.S. pension plan ( $ 11 9 14
UMWA plans 13 9 17
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Effect of using fair market value of assets to hetee expense. For our defined-benefit pension plans, we calcutaigected investment returns by applying the exgoklcing-
term rate of return to the market-related valuplah assets. In addition, our plan asset actugaials and losses that are subject to amortizatietbased on the market-related
value.

The market-related value of the plan assets igifft from the actual or fair-market value of theeds. The actual or fair-market value is, atiatpo time, the value of the
assets that is available to make payments to peersi@nd to cover any transaction costs. The reekated value recognizes changes in fair-valomfthe expected value on a
straight-line basis over five years. This recogmitmethod spreads the effects of year-over-yeatiit} in the financial markets over several years

Our expenses related to our primary U.S. pensian plould have been different if our accounting @olvere to use the fair market value of plan assstead of the market-
related value to recognize investment gains argkks

(In millions) Based on mark-related value of asse Hypothetical (&
Actual Projectec Projectec
Years Ending December 3 2010 2011 2012 2010 2011 2012

Expense (Income

Primary U.S. pension ple $(2.1) 7.7 11.2 $24.0 17.5 11.3

(@) Assumes that our accounting policy wause the fair market value of assets instedldeofarket-related value of assets to determinexpense related  to our
primary U.S. pension plan.

For our UMWA plans, we calculate expected investmeturns by applying the expected long-term rdteturn to the fair market value of the assethatbeginning of the
year. This method is likely to cause the expeogdarn on assets, which is recorded in earning8uttuate more than had we used the accountingadelogy of our define-
benefit pension plans.

Medical Inflation Assumption
We estimate the trend in health care cost inflatiopredict future cash flows related to our retineedical plans. Our assumption is based on retantexperience and industry
trends.

For the UMWA plans, our largest postretirement plame have assumed a medical inflation rate of 382011, and we project this rate to decline totB#2017. The
compound growth rate of per-capita health carescosthe UMWA plans has been 5.6% over the lastisgears. If we had assumed that medical inflatides were one
percentage point higher in each future year, tha pbligation for these plans at December 31, 2@b@Jd have been approximately $52.5 million highed the expense for
2010 would have been $2.8 million higher. If well@@sumed that the medical inflation rates werepameentage point lower, the plan obligation atémlber 31, 2010, would
have been approximately $44.7 million lower andriflated 2010 expenses would have been $2.4 mithoer.

If we had projected medical inflation rates to bdyedecline from 7% to 4.5% by 2027, instead oébdy declining to 5% by 2017 as we estimated, tha pbligation for the
UMWA retiree medical benefit plan would have be&0.$ million higher for 2010 and our expense wddd$3.7 million higher for 2011.

In addition, the Patient Protection and AffordaBkere Act could substantially change the health aatkinsurance industries in the United Stateschvbould increase our costs.
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Black Lung

The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act,alihivas enacted in March 2010, contains an amendiméiné laws governing federal black lung bendéitscoal miners. The
amendment creates a presumption that benefitsgheuhwarded to current or former coal minghat have accumulated 15 or more years of coal enmgloyment if they are
able to prove that they have a disabling pulmomnizsgase. Previously, miners were required to detnate that their disabling pulmonary disease veased by black lung
disease, and not by some other cause such as ggrarkitd age. Under the new law, the burden obpbecomes the employer’s to establish that theldiisg pulmonary
disease is not black lung disease or that the rsidesease did not result from coal mine employmeurviving spouses will no longer be requiregbtove that black lung
disease caused the death of a miner to contineévieg benefits.

The new law will be used to assess claims thatamently being reviewed, unless the claim wagftbefore January 1, 2005. Minemsho have been denied benefits in the past
(either as a result of not being able to prove they have a disabling pulmonary disease, or nioigbeble to prove that their disease was black llisgase) may reapply for
benefits and these claims will be assessed usagétv rules.

The amendment will likely increase the approvatsdbr coal miners applying to receive black luegdfits; therefore we expect the number of paricip receiving black lung
benefits may increase over the next few years.réifeeasured our black lung obligation as of March2B110, to reflect an estimate of the increase in amowuntstpaid to
miners as a result of the new law. The obligatimmeased $19.3 million as a result of the remesasent, from $42.3 million before the remeasurent@®$61.6 million.

Approval rates used in the remeasurement of thekilang obligation were increased to reflect amneste of the effect of the new legislation. Appabrates are difficult to
estimate since the effect of the change in thelag/not yet been observed in practice. The lighibuld change in the future if the approval ratsed in the estimates of the
liabilities are either too high or too low. Thesstimated amounts will change in the future toefpayments made, actuarial revaluations, and ottenges in

estimates. Actual amounts could differ materifdbm the currently estimated amounts.

Workers’ Compensation

Besides the effects of changes in medical costekers compensation costs are affected by the gg\ard types of injuries, changes in state anéfaidregulations and their
application and the quality of programs which @ssisemployee’s return to work. Our liability fiuture payments for workers’ compensation claimsvialuated annually with
the assistance of an actuary.

Numbers of Participant:
The valuations of all of these benefit plans afecéd by the life expectancy of the participaitscordingly, we rely on actuarial information toeglict the number and life
expectancy of participants. We use the followingtality table for our major plans.

Plan Mortality table

UMWA plans RF-2000 Employee, Annuitant Healthy Blue Col
Black Lung RF-2000 Blue Colla

Primary U.S. pensio RF-2000 Combined Healthy Blue Coll

The number of participants by major plan in thet fiae years is as follows:

Number of participants

Plan 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006

UMWA plans 4,60( 4,70C 4,90(C 5,00( 5,20(C
Black Lung 80C 70C 70C 80C 80C
U.S. pensior 21,00( 21,10( 21,50( 22,50( 24,80(

Since we are no longer operating in the coal ingluste anticipate that the number of participantthe UMWA retirement medical plan will decline ovane due to
mortality. Since the U.S. pension plan has beezefn, the number of its participants should alsdike over time.
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Foreign Currency Translation

The majority of our subsidiaries outside the U@&duct business in their local currencies. Ouarfials report results in U.S. dollars, which imgithe results of these
subsidiaries.

Accounting Policy

Our accounting policy for foreign currency tranigatis different depending on whether the economliich our foreign subsidiary operates has besigdated as highly
inflationary or not. Economies with a three-yeamulative inflation rate of more than 100% are édeed as highly inflationary. At the end of 200& did not have any
subsidiaries operating in highly inflationary ecaries. Effective January 1, 2010, we began accogritir our Venezuelan subsidiaries as operatirgghighly inflationary
economy.

Nor-Highly Inflationary Economies

Assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries onrhighly inflationary economies are translated ibtS. dollars using rates of exchange at the belaheet date. Translation
adjustments are recorded in other comprehensiweriaqloss). Revenues and expenses are transtat@sof exchange in effect during the year.n$aation gains and losses
are recorded in net income.

Highly Inflationary Economie

Foreign subsidiaries that operate in highly inflatiry countries must use the reporting currenay (iI8. dollar) as the functional currency. Localrency monetary assets and
liabilities are remeasured into dollars each badasteet date, with remeasurement adjustments Aedtoansaction gains and losses recognized inrggrn Nonmonetary asse
and liabilities do not fluctuate with changes iodbcurrency exchange rates to the dollar.

Application of Accounting Policy

Venezuelan operations

Our Venezuelan operations constitute a materialqroof our overall consolidated operations, ancoacited for $186 million or 6% of total Brink’s renues in 2010. Our
operating margins in Venezuela have varied depgnaiinthe mix of business during any year and h@enlup to three times our overall internationahsegt operating margin
rate.

Venezuela currency exchange rates
Since 2003, the Venezuelan government has cordrtiie exchange of local currency into other curiesidncluding the U.S. dollar.

« From 2003 to the present the government has maedaan official exchange rate. The rate is avhilaimly for transactions that have been approvedhs
governments currency control agency, known as CADIVI, orhétpurpose of the conversion is to purchase goodsreices that are on a list of approved itembe
official rate was 2.15 bolivar fuertes to the dpil@ 2008 and 2009. In January 2010, the officiairency was devalued and split into two separtieia rates, one fc
priority items such as food, and another rate tbleoimports and other purposes. The ability tohexge funds at either of these rates requires @RABlapprova
unless the purpose of the conversion is to purcaeds or services that are on lists of approvetst The new rates were 2.6 and 4.3 bolivar faga¢he dollar
In addition to the official rate, a parallel marletchange rate was available until a June 201Qdiaallowed the use of the parallel rate. Priodduoe 2010, the paral
rate could be used to convert local cash into dalldhe average parallel bolivar fuerte to dolie was 4.2 in 2008, 6.0 in 2009 and 6.9 in the five months of 201(
« The June 2010 law also introduced a new governis@mttioned process to convert local currency inltacs at a rate known as the SITME rate. The SITékEhang

process requires each transaction be approvedebgdbernmensg central bank. On a daily basis, the central haniishes ranges of prices at which it may apg
transactions to purchase dol@@nominated bonds, resulting in an exchange ratgeraf 4.3 to 5.3 bolivar fuertes to the U.S. dolleo date, approved transactions t
been at the upper end of the range. Currency exgsausing the SITME rate may not exceed $350,@800epal entity per montl
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Translating our Venezuelan operations in our coitgdéd results

2008 and 2009

Prior to December 21, 2009, we had requested CABIafiproval to allow our dividends be convertedidtiars using the official rate. As a result, weed the official rate to
translate our Venezuelan financial information.isTik consistent with the guidance issued by therfrational Practices Task Force of the CenteAfdtit Quality (the “IPTF”)
and U.S. GAAP. This guidance provides that, inahsence of unusual circumstances, the rate uselivfdend remittances should be used to transta@gn financial
statements.

In December 2009, we repatriated dividends genéifateour Venezuelan operations that had been urpaidthe last several years using the paralleket@xchange rate. We
decided to repatriate our dividends using the peradte due to significant delays in receiving tieeded government approval to repatriate dividendse official rate. We
began translating our financial statements for\éemezuelan operations using the parallel ratectife December 21, 2009, the date of our decisomte we expected to pay
future dividends using the parallel rate.

We recognized foreign currency translation lossestfier comprehensive income (loss) in 2009 asultref translating at the parallel rate insteathef official rate on Decemkt
21, 2009. Losses recorded were

« $85 million attributable to Brink’s

« $54 million attributable to noncontrolling interesand

« $139 million in total.

2010

Effective January 1, 2010, we began accountindy/farezuelan subsidiaries as operating in a higHlgtionary economy. We remeasured our bolivartiielenominated net
monetary assets and translated our earnings ahdloas at the parallel rate in 2010 until it wasallowed and replaced by the SITME rate in Junk020To the extent our
Venezuelan subsidiaries need to obtain U.S. doNeescurrently expect our Venezuelan subsidiatieS. dollar-denominated transactions to be se#tted SITME rate of 5.3
bolivar fuertes to the U.S. dollar. We also uded tate to remeasure our local currency-denomihaét monetary assets and translated our earnimysash flows into U.S.
dollars beginning in June 2010. We recognized.2 #8llion net remeasurement loss in 2010.

Despite the limitations on the amount of local eagy which may be converted to dollars under theecti law, we believe that we will be able to obtaufficient U.S. dollars to
purchase imported supplies and fixed assets tatpeur business in Venezuela. We believe thelaewwill limit the repatriation of cash investedWenezuela for the
foreseeable future.

The investment in our Venezuelan subsidiaries,casth and other monetary assets held by these griesdare as follows:
December 31
(in millions) 2010 2009

Equity-method investment in Venezuelan subsidiarie: $ 50.€ 47.1

Net monetary assets held by our Venezuelan subeisl
Cash and shc-term investments denominated in U.S. dol $ 38 3.¢

Net monetary assets denominated in bolivar fue
Cash and cash equivale $ 18.Z 7.
Accounts receivable, accounts payable and otlet 12.¢ 27.¢
Total $ 31.C 35.7

(a) The amount represents retained earnings retroéncy translation adjustments of the business.
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RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

Recently Adopted Accounting Standar

We adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Steh(i&FAS") 168,The FASB Accounting Standards Codification andHlezarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles— a replacement of FASB Statement No. #82ctive for our quarter ende®eptember 30, 2009. SFAS 168 establishedr&®B Accounting Standards Codification
(“Codification”) as the sole source of authoritativon-governmental accounting principles to beiadph the preparation of financial statementsdnformity with generally
accepted accounting principles in the U.S. (“GAARR)hough SFAS 168 does not change GAAP, the adomif SFAS 168 affected our financial statemeimsesall future
references to authoritative accounting literatugereow in accordance with SFAS 168.

We adopted the accounting principles establishedASP FAS 132(R)-Employers’ Disclosures about Postretirement Beri®fin Assetsyhich is now part of FASB ASC
Topic 715,Compensation — Retirement Benefigdfective for us on December 31, 2009. This gudgarequires enhanced disclosures about plan asseiemployer’s defined
benefit pension or other postretirement plans deoto provide users of financial statements wituaderstanding of how investment allocation deaisiare made, the major
categories of plan assets, the inputs and valugidmiques used to measure the fair value of gdaets, and significant concentrations of risk iwifilan assets.

We adopted the accounting principles establishe8fA&S 141(R)Business Combinationavhich is now part of FASB ASC Topic 80Business Combinationsffective
January 1, 2009. FASB ASC Topic 805 establishgsirements for an acquirer to record the assetsigsl liabilities assumed, and any related nonodiintg interests related
to the acquisition of a controlled subsidiary, meed at fair value, as of the acquisition date2008, we expensed all acquisition costs for tretisas that were expected to
close in 2009. In 2009 and 2010, we recognizedsgand losses related to the acquisition of cdimigpinterests in affiliates previously accounted finder the equity method or
cost method — see note 6 to our consolidated finhstatements. The adoption of this new guidatidenot otherwise have an effect on our historfcancial statements, but
does affect the way we account for acquisitionerafie effective date.

We adopted the accounting principles establishe8B&S 160Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financitatements an Amendment of ARB Nq.\Blich is now part
of FASB ASC Topic 810Consolidation, effective January 1, 2009. FASB ASC Topic 81falaisshes new accounting and reporting standamdh&noncontrolling interest,
previously known as minority interest, in a subaigiand for the deconsolidation of a subsidiarpisBtatement clarifies that a noncontrolling ia&rin a subsidiary is an
ownership interest in the consolidated entity #faduld be reported as a separate component wijuiityen the consolidated financial statements.ditidnally, consolidated net
income is to be reported with separate disclostiteeoamounts attributable to the parent and tontirecontrolling interests. Prior to the adoptidrthis new guidance,
noncontrolling interests were deductions from inedmarriving at net income. Under FASB ASC Topi®, noncontrolling interests are a deduction frehincome used to
arrive at net income attributable to Brink’s.

We adopted the accounting principles establisheBB4&S 161 Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and Heddghativities an Amendment of SFAS 18&ich is now part
of FASB ASC Topic 815Derivatives and Hedgingeffective January 1, 2009. FASB ASC Topic 81duiees enhanced disclosures about an entity'saterévand hedging
activities. The adoption of this new guidance hackffect on our financial statements.

We adopted the accounting principles establishe8fA&S 165 Subsequent Eventsvhich is now part of FASB ASC Topic 85Subsequent Eventeffective for our quarter
ended June 30, 2009. FASB ASC Topic 855 estalsligkaeral standards of accounting and disclosuegesits that occur after the balance sheet datedfate financial
statements are issued or are available to be is3iedadoption of this new guidance did not hawneaterial effect on our financial statements.

We adopted the accounting principles establisheBASB Staff Position ("FSP") EITF 03-6-Determining Whether Instruments Granted in SharedBaPayment Transactions
Are Participating Securitie, which is now part of FASB ASC Topic 26Barnings per Share effective January 1, 2009. FASB ASC Topic 260 efentities that accrue cash
dividends (whether paid or unpaid) on share-basgdhent awards during the award’s service periodiiiddends that are nonforfeitable. The adoptiothis new guidance did
not have a material effect on our financial statetsie

We adopted the accounting principles establisheB3fy 157-2Partial Deferral of the Effective Date of SFAS 15Vhich is now part of FASB ASC Topic 82Bair Value
Measurements and Disclosuresffective January 1, 2009. This guidance delaiieceffective date of FASB ASC Topic 820 for ahmecurring fair value measurements of
nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilitieeeTadoption of this guidance did not have a mdtefiact on our results of operations or finangiasition.

We adopted the accounting principles establisheBSF FAS 157-4Determining Fair Value When the Volume and Levéldivity for the Asset or Liability Have Signifitdy
Decreased and Identifying Transactions That Are Qiaterly, which is now part of FASB ASC Topic
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820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosuresfective for our quarter ended June 30, 2008SB ASC Topic 820 provides guidance for estimafiag value when the
volume and level of activity for the asset or lighihave significantly decreased. FASB ASC TopO&lso provides guidance for identifying circumstes that indicate a
transaction is not orderly and affirms that theeatije of fair value measurement in a market foasset that is not active is the price that woeddzeived in an orderly (i.e., t
distressed) transaction on the measurement datg andrent market conditions. If the market is deiaed to be not active, the entity must considleaailable evidence in
determining whether an observable transactionderty. The adoption of this new guidance did repténa material effect on our results of operatmmnancial position.

We adopted the accounting principles establishedH8P FAS 115-2 and FAS 124Recognition and Presentation of Other-Than-Tempptaxpairments which is now part
of FASB ASC Topic 320lnvestments — Debt and Equity Securitiesffective for our quarter ended June 30, 2009. BASC Topic 320 provides guidance on the recogmitio
of other-than-temporary impairments of investmemtdebt securities and provides new presentatiahdisctlosure requirements for other-than-tempomapairments of
investments in debt and equity securities. Theptido of this new guidance did not have a mateffdct on our financial statements.

We adopted the accounting principles establishedd8P FAS 107-1 and APB 28-hterim Disclosures about Fair Value of Financialstrumentswhich is now part of FASB
ASC Topic 825Financial Instruments effective for our quarter ended June 30, 2008SB ASC Topic 825 requires disclosures about tirevidue of financial instruments in
interim reporting periods whereas, previously,drelosures were required only in annual finansiatements. The adoption of this new guidancdtessin the disclosure of
the fair value of our significant fixed-rate longrtn debt and our available-for-sale securitiesfamgipinterim reporting periods. This new guidawiig not otherwise have an
effect on our financial statements.

We adopted the accounting principles establishedd8P FAS 141(R)-1Accounting for Assets Acquired and Liabilities Assd in a Business Combination that Arise from
Contingencieswhich is now part of FASB ASC Topic 80Business Combinationffective for our quarter ended June 30, 2008is Guidance is effective for each of our
business combinations which were completed onter danuary 1, 2009. FASB ASC Topic 805 providhes tontingent assets acquired or liabilities aggim a business
combination be recorded at fair value if the acitjois-date fair value can be determined duringrtfeasurement period. If the acquisition-date falug cannot be determined,
such items would be recognized at the acquisitate d they meet the recognition requirements 0SBAASC Topic 450Contingencies In periods after the acquisition date,
items not recognized as part of the acquisitionreabgnized subsequently would be reflected inghasequent period’s income. The adoption ofrtkis guidance did not have
a material effect on our financial statements.

In August 2009, the FASB issued Accounting Stansldfddate (“ASU”) 2009-09yleasuring Liabilities at Fair Valuewhich was effective for us on October 1, 2009sTASU
clarifies the application of certain valuation tafues in circumstances in which a quoted pricaniractive market for the identical liability is retailable. The adoption of this
guidance did not have a material effect on ounfaia statements.

In September 2009, the FASB issued ASU 20091 &stments in Certain Entities That Calculate Ng$et Value per Share (or Its Equivalent)hich was effective for our ye
ending December 31, 2009. ASU 2009-12 allows investorsstonet asset value as a practical expedientitoags the fair value of certain investments thanhdt have readily
determinable fair values and sets forth disclosegeiirements for these investments. The adopfiohi® ASU helped us in applying the enhanced dsale requirements
established by FSP FAS 132(R)-1. Otherwise, tloptoh of this guidance did not have a materiaéetfon our financial statements.

We adopted the accounting principles established®%y 2009-16;Transfers and Servicing: Accounting for Transfefr§imancial Assetsffective January 1, 2010. This ASU

removes the concept of a qualifying special-purgotéy (QSPE) from SFAS 148ccounting for Transfers and Servicing of Finandakets and Extinguishment of Liabilities
and removes the exception from applying FASB Intation 46RConsolidation of Variable Interest EntitieJ his statement also clarifies the requirementssimation and

limitations on portions of financial assets that afigible for sale accounting. The adoption & trew guidance did not have a material effect enfinancial statements.

We adopted the accounting principles established®y 2009-17 Consolidations: Improvements to Financial ReportingEnterprises Involved with Variable InterestiEes,
effective January 1, 2010. This ASU requires anoamgreassessment and replaces the quantitativestiiks and rewards calculation for determiningcWwheporting entity, if
any, has a controlling financial interest in a ghté interest entity (“VIE”) with a primarily quaditive analysis. The qualitative analysis is basedtientifying the party that has
both the power to direct the activities that magh#icantly affect the VIE's economic performan(he “power criterion”) and the obligation to abisdosses from or the right to
receive benefits of the VIE that could potentiddly significant to the VIE (the “losses/benefiteribn”). The party that meets both these critesidgemed to have a controlling
financial interest. The party with the controllifigancial interest is considered to be the primazeyeficiary and as a result is required to conatdidhe VIE. The adoption of tl
new guidance did not have a material effect onfioancial statements.

In January 2010, the FASB issued ASU 2010408fhroving Disclosures about Fair Value Measuremen#sSU 2010-06 both expands and clarifies the dmale requirements
related to fair value measurements. Entities agaired to disclose separately the amounts of Sigmif
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transfers in and out of Level 1 and Level 2 of fdie value valuation hierarchy and describe thesoea for the transfers. Additionally, entities exquired to disclose information
about purchases, sales, issuances, and settleareatgross basis in the reconciliation of Levehi3-falue measurements. The new guidance alsdietagxisting fair-value
measurement disclosure guidance about the lewdisafgregation, inputs, and valuation technigu#'e. adopted the new disclosures effective Janua2@10, except for the
Level 3 rollforward disclosures. The Level 3 rotificard disclosures will be effective for us Januar2011. The adoption of the ASU did not have gema effect on our
disclosures as we did not have any significantsfiens in and out of Level 1 and Level 2 of the failue valuation hierarchy in 2010.

We adopted the accounting principles established®y 2010-09Subsequent Events: Amendments to Certain Recagaitid Disclosure Requirementsffective January 1,
2010. Under this amended guidance, SEC filermarnenger required to disclose the date througltiwvsubsequent events have been evaluated in dlygissued and revised
financial statements.

In January 2010, the FASB issued ASU 2010A&;0ounting and Reporting for Decreases in Ownersfhii@ Subsidiary—a Scope Clarificatipwhich clarifies the scope of the
decrease in ownership provisions of ASC 810ddnsolidation, and related guidance. The ASU clarified thatstamdard applies to a subsidiary or group of adbet is a
business, a subsidiary that is a business thetnsferred to an equity method investee or joimtwe, or an exchange of a group of assets thatitates a business for a
noncontrolling interest in an entity (including equity method investee or joint venture). The A&&b expands the disclosures required upon deddatoh of a subsidiary to
disclose the valuation techniques used to meaberfair value of any retained investment in therfer subsidiary, the nature of continuing involvetredter the former
subsidiary has been deconsolidated or derecogaizeéavhether the transaction resulting in deconatibd was with a related party or if the deconsaikd entity will become a
related party. Finally, the ASU also requires tatities disclose valuation techniques used to areake fair value of previously held equity intgeprior to acquiring control
a business combination achieved in stages. We eddipis guidance effective January 1, 2010. Sge P& for disclosures regarding our remeasurenfempeeviously held
equity interest in SPP and page 117 for disclosabesit our 2010 deconsolidation of Brink’s Belgium.

In May 2010, the FASB issued ASU 2010-F8reign Currency Issues: Multiple Foreign Currerieychange Rateswhich codified an SEC Staff Announcement madibat
March 18, 2010, Emerging Issues Task Force (“ElTR&eting. The Staff Announcement provides the S&@'s view on certain exchange rates relatesiv@stments in
Venezuela. The use of different rates for remeament and translation purposes causes Venezuglartgd balances for financial reporting purposestae actual U.S. dollar
denominated balances to be different. The SECGistitated that any differences between the ammreyorted for financial reporting purposes andadt.S. dollar
denominated balances that may have existed pritretapplication of the highly inflationary accoingt requirements (January 1, 2010, for calendar-ged registrants

including Brink’s) should be recognized in the inmstatement, unless the issuer can documentihdifference was previously recognized as a cutiwal&ranslation
adjustment, in which case the difference shouldebegnized as a currency translation adjustmentatigpted the guidance effective March, 31, 2016,renognized these
differences as a currency translation adjustmenf danuary 1, 2010, upon the adoption of highfiationary accounting in Venezuela. See relatsdldsures above in Note 1 —
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies — Forei@urrency Translation — Venezuela.

In December 2010, the FASB ratified EITF 10f8sclosure of Supplementary Pro Forma InformationBusiness CombinationgITF 10-G affects public entities that have
entered into material business combinations andimegjthat pro forma disclosures should reflectatsumption that the business combination had oegtas of the beginning
the prior annual period. It also requires a dgsicnh of nonrecurring pro forma adjustments. EIIG is effective and should be applied prospebtif@ business
combinations completed during periods beginningraitecember 15, 2010, with early adoption permittéée are required to adopt the new rule in 201t We have adopted
this standard for acquisitions occurring in 20Bke related disclosures on page 103.

Standards Not Yet Adopte

In October 2009, the FASB issued ASU 20094di8/tiple-Deliverable Revenue Arrangementshich will be effective for us on January 1, 20ABU 2009-13 establishes a
selling price hierarchy for determining the selljprice of a deliverable in a multiple-deliverablesamgement. In addition, the revised guidance reguadditional disclosures
about the methods and assumptions used to evaludtiple-deliverable arrangements and to identify significant deliverables within those arrangetseWe are currently
evaluating the potential effect of the amended guég on our financial statements.

In October 2009, the FASB issued ASU 2009-Qédrtain Revenue Arrangements that Include Softieeents which will be effective for us on January 1, 201ASU 2009-

14 amends ASC Topic 985 to exclude from its scapgible products that contain both software andsaftware components that function together tovéela product’s
essential functionality. We are currently evalngtihe potential effect of the amended guidancewrfinancial statements.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES A BOUT MARKET RISK

We currently serve customers in more than 100 cmstincluding approximately 50 countries whereoperate subsidiaries. These operations exposeausariety of market
risks, including the effects of changes in interagts, commodity prices and foreign currency erghaates. These financial and commodity exposanesnonitored and
managed by us as an integral part of its oversitl management program.

We periodically use various derivative and nonagive financial instruments, as discussed belovhedge our interest rate, commaodity prices aneidarcurrency exposures
when appropriate. The risk that counterpartiehésé instruments may be unable to perform is mi@chby limiting the counterparties used to majoaficial institutions with
investment grade credit ratings. We do not expeatcur a loss from the failure of any counterpact perform under the agreements. We do not ageative financial
instruments for purposes other than hedging uniteyffiinancial or commercial exposures.

The sensitivity analyses discussed below for theketaisk exposures were based on the facts andrstances in effect at December 31, 2010. Acasallts will be
determined by a number of factors that are not umdmagement'’s control and could vary materialnfrthose disclosed.

Interest Rate Risk

We use both fixed and floating rate debt and letséisance our operations. Floating rate obligagiancluding our Revolving Facility, expose udltetuations in cash flows
due to changes in the general level of interessraFixed rate obligations, including our Dominiberminal Associates debt, are subject to fluctretiin fair values as a result
changes in interest rates.

Based on the contractual interest rates on théiriipaate debt at December 31, 2010, a hypotheti@®s increase in rates would increase cash outflomapproximately $0.7
million over a twelvemonth period. In other words, our weighted averagerest rate on our floating rate instruments @486 per annum at December 31, 2010. If thateme
rate were to increase by 0.3 percentage points/é 2he cash outflows associated with these ingnis would increase by $0.7 million annually. Efifect on the fair value ¢
our Dominion Terminal Associates debt for a hypttia 10% decrease in the yield curve from year-20#0 levels would result in a $3.3 million increas the fair value of
this debt.
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Foreign Currency Risk

We have exposure to the effects of foreign curremahange rate fluctuations on the results offatlus foreign operations. Our foreign operatioesigrally use local currencies
to conduct business but their results are repantéS. dollars.

We are exposed periodically to the foreign curreratg fluctuations that affect transactions notaeimated in the functional currency of domestic &éign operations. To
mitigate these exposures, we, from time to timégreinto foreign currency forward contracts. Atdeenber 31, 2010, no material foreign currency fadi@ntracts were
outstanding. We do not use derivative financiatimments to hedge investments in foreign subsetiaince such investments are long-term in nature.

The effects of a hypothetical simultaneous 10% egiption in the U.S. dollar from year-end 2010 Is\against all other currencies of countries inalhihive have continuing
operations are as follows:

Hypothetical
Effects
Increase/
(In millions) (decrease
Effect on Earnings
Translation of 2010 earnings into U.S. dol $ (10.9)
Transaction gains (losse¢ 1.7
Effect on Other Comprehensive Income (Lo
Translation of net assets of foreign subsidi (72.€)

The hypothetical foreign currency effects aboveili¢ihe consolidated effect attributable to Brinkfsa simultaneous change in the value of a latgebrer of foreign currencies
relative to the U. S. dollar. The foreign curremoyposure effect related to a change in an indalidurrency could be significantly different.

Venezuela Designated as Highly Inflationary Econam3010

The economy in Venezuela has had significant iivitain the last several years. In December 200thhee-year cumulative inflation rate exceede®d.0@s a result,
beginning January 1, 2010, we designated Venezuet@nomy as highly inflationary for accountinggmses, and we consolidated our Venezuelan ressittg our accounting
policy for subsidiaries operating in highly inflatiary economies.
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

THE BRINK'S COMPANY

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010
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MANAGEMENT’'S ANNUAL REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Management of the Company is responsible for @stéibly and maintaining adequate internal contr@rdinancial reporting as defined in Rule 13a-1&ffJler the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934. Our internal control ovegfigial reporting is designed to provide reasonabsrance to our management and board of direeigasding the
preparation and fair presentation of publishedrfgial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or détmisstatements. Therefore, even those systeresndieed to be effective can
provide only reasonable assurance with respedhaméial statement preparation and presentation.

Management assessed the effectiveness of our @ahtewntrol over financial reporting as of DecemBgr 2010. In making this assessment, managemedtths criteria set fort
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations offtteadway Commission (COSO) in “Internal Contrdhtegrated Framework.”

In reliance on guidance set forth in Question 8 tfrequently Asked Questions” interpretative rekegssued by the Staff of the SEC's Office of tige€Accountant and the
Division of Corporation Finance in September 20 revised on September 24, 2007, regarding SiesuEikchange Act Release No. 34-47986, ManagemBep®rt on
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and Gdition of Disclosure in Exchange Act Periodic Rep, management determined that it would exclhdebusiness of
Servicio Pan Americano de Proteccion, S.A. de C'SPP”), which was acquired on November 17, 20i@mfthe scope of the assessment of the effectigesfezur internal
control over financial reporting. The reason fustexclusion is that we acquired SPP in Novembé&02and it was not practical for management to aohdn assessment of
internal control over financial reporting in therjpel between the date the acquisition was complatetithe date of management’s assessment. Acgbydinanagement
excluded SPP from its assessment of internal coower financial reporting. SPP represents $22GIbom of total assets and $51.7 million of revesder the year ended
December 31, 2010, of our consolidated financeteshents.

SPP will be included in management’s assessmantarhal control over financial reporting for thedal year ending December 31, 2011.
Based on this assessment, our management beliateas of December 31, 2010, our internal comivel financial reporting is effective based on @@SO criteria.

KPMG LLP, the independent registered public accimgnfirm which audits our consolidated financiateiments, has issued an attestation report ohternial control over
financial reporting. KPMG's attestation report apps on page 71.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
The Brink’s Company:

We have audited The Brink’'s Company’s (the Compamigrnal control over financial reporting as ofd@enber 31, 2010, based on criteria establishéatémnal Control —
Integrated Frameworissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatiarise Treadway Commission (COSO). The Companysagement is responsible for maintaining
effective internal control over financial reportingd for its assessment of the effectiveness efrial control over financial reporting, includedtie accompanying
Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control oWarancial Reporting Our responsibility is to express an opinion om @ompanys internal control over financial reporti
based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stedelof the Public Company Accounting OversightiBq@nited States). Those standards require thailareand perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance abouheteffective internal control over financial refilog was maintained in all material respects. Qudiincluded obtaining an
understanding of internal control over financiglogting, assessing the risk that a material weakegists, and testing and evaluating the desigropadating effectiveness of
internal control based on the assessed risk. Qdit also included performing such other proceda®s/e considered necessary in the circumstanceseléwe that our audit
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed to provide reasonablesassuregarding the reliability of financial repog and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in ataoce with generally accepted accounting principdesompany’s internal control over financial refiog includes those
policies and procedures that (1) pertain to thenteaance of records that, in reasonable detailjrately and fairly reflect the transactions angdgstions of the assets of the
company; (2) provide reasonable assurance thagacéions are recorded as necessary to permit @itggraof financial statements in accordance withegelly accepted
accounting principles, and that receipts and exiperes of the company are being made only in aced with authorizations of management and dirsabthe company; and
(3) provide reasonable assurance regarding pre@reatitimely detection of unauthorized acquisitiose, or disposition of the company’s assets thalidchave a material effect
on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or detaisstatements. Also, projections of any evatmatf effectiveness to future
periods are subject to the risk that controls megome inadequate because of changes in conditiottsat the degree of compliance with the policdeprocedures may
deteriorate.

In our opinion, The Brink’s Company maintainedaihmaterial respects, effective internal contreéofinancial reporting as of December 31, 2018edeon criteria established
in Internal Control — Integrated Frameworksued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrise Treadway Commission.

The Brink’s Company acquired Servicio Pan Americdadroteccion, S.A. de C.V. (“SPP”) on November2(710, and management excluded from its assesshte
effectiveness of The Brink’s Company'’s internal tohover financial reporting as of December 311@0SPP’s internal control over financial reportaggociated with total
assets of $220.5 million and total revenues of BHillion included in the consolidated financightements of The Brink’Company and subsidiaries as of and for the yeded
December 31, 2010. Our audit of internal contrardinancial reporting of The Brink's Company aksacluded an evaluation of the internal control duaincial reporting of
SPP.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasdaf the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@nited States), the consolidated balance slédtke Brink’s
Company and subsidiaries as of December 31, 200 @@®9, and the related consolidated statemeriteofe, comprehensive income (loss), sharehol@epsity, and cash

flows for each of the years in the three-year geended December 31, 2010, and our report datedi&gh25, 2011 expressed an unqualified opiniothose consolidated
financial statements.

/s KPMG LLP

Richmond, Virginia
February 25, 2011
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
The Brink’s Company:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of The Brink’s Company and subsidiaties Company) as of December 31, 2010 and 2009thendtlated
consolidated statements of income, comprehensoanie (loss), shareholders’ equity, and cash flawgéch of the years in the three-year period el mber 31, 2010.
These consolidated financial statements are thponsibility of the Companyg management. Our responsibility is to expresspaman on these consolidated financial statem
based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversighauBio(United States). Those standards require teagilan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance abouheshtite financial statements are free of materiabtatement. An audit includes examining, on aliasts, evidence supporting
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statgsn An audit also includes assessing the acaayptinciples used and significant estimates madménagement, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement preseraWe believe that our audits provide a reastmbasis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetaeaferred to above present fairly, in all matemspects, the financial position of The Brink’er@pany and subsidiaries as of
December 31, 2010 and 2009, and the results af dtiperations and their cash flows for each of thary in the three-year period ended December 3D, 20 conformity with
U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

As disclosed in note 1 to the consolidated findrst@ements, the Company adopted the provisioi®&aiement of Financial Accounting Standards NA(R%, Business
Combinationgincluded in FASB ASC Topic 80Business Combinationseffective January 1, 2009.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasdaf the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), The Brink's Company'’s internahicol over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2010, basedriteria established imternal Control — Integrated Framewoigsued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatafrise
Treadway Commission (COSO), and our report datéalugey 25, 2011 expressed an unqualified opiniothereffectiveness of the Company'’s internal cdraver financial
reporting. The Brink's Company acquired Serviciom Panericano de Proteccion, S.A. de C.V. (“SPP"Nowvember 17, 2010, and management excluded froasgsssment of
the effectiveness of The Brink's Company'’s intero@htrol over financial reporting as of Decembey 2110, SPP’s internal control over financial rejmay associated with total
assets of $220.5 million and total revenues of B5dillion included in the consolidated financigktements of The Brink’Company and subsidiaries as of and for the yeded
December 31, 2010. Our audit of internal contraroinancial reporting of The Brink’'s Company aksacluded an evaluation of the internal control direincial reporting of
SPP.

/s KPMG LLP

Richmond, Virginia
February 25, 2011
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THE BRINK'S COMPANY
and subsidiaries

Consolidated Balance Sheets

December 31

(In millions, except per share amoun 2010 2009
ASSETS
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivalel $ 183.( 143.C
Accounts receivable (net of allowance: 2(- $7.2; 200¢- $7.1) 525.1 427.¢
Prepaid expenses and otl 121.C 81.C
Deferred income taxe 48.% 38.t
Total current asse 877.4 690.1
Property and equipment, r 698.¢ 549t
Goodwill 244 213.7
Other intangible: 83.2 69.4
Deferred income taxe 276.C 254.1
Other 90.7 103.(
Total asset $ 2,270.t 1,879.¢
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS ' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Shor-term borrowings $ 36.t 7.2
Current maturities of lor-term deb 29.C 16.1
Accounts payabl 141t 127.2
Accrued liabilities 469.( 369.¢
Total current liabilities 676.C 520.:
Long-term debr 323.7 172.2
Accrued pension cos 266.¢ 192.1
Retirement benefits other than pensi 218.¢ 198.:
Deferred income taxe 30.€ 30.t
Other 1715 170.t
Total liabilities 1,687. 1,284.(
Commitments and contingent liabilities (notes 312,14, 17 and 21
Equity:
The Brink's Company“Brink’<") shareholde’’ equity:
Common stock, par value $1 per sh
Shares authorized: 101
Shares issued and outstanding: 2- 46.4; 200¢- 47.9 46.4 47.¢
Capital in excess of par vall 542.¢ 550.2
Retained earninc 537.t 514.¢
Accumulated other comprehensive income (Ic
Benefit plan adjustmen (550.%) (520.5)
Foreign currency translatic (64.0) (60.7)
Unrealized gains on availal-for-sale securitie 4.4 3.2
Accumulated other comprehensive | (610.9) (578.0
Total Brink's shareholde’ equity 516.2 534.¢
Noncontrolling interest 66.€ 60.€
Total equity 583.1 595.¢
Total liabilities and sharehold¢ equity $ 2,270t 1,879.¢

See accompanying notes to consolidated financébstents.

73




THE BRINK'S COMPANY
and subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Income

Years Ended December &

(In millions, except per share amoun 2010 2009 2008
Revenues 3,121t 3,135.( 3,163.t
Costs and Expenses
Cost of revenue 2,536.¢ 2,534t 2,505.;
Selling, general and administrative exper 429.: 430.2 434.5
Total costs and expens 2,965.’ 2,964.’ 2,939.¢
Other operating income (expen: (9.5) (3.5 4.€
Operating profit 146.2 166.¢ 228t
Interest expens (14.¢) (11.9) (12.0
Interest and other incon 8.1 10.€ 8.1
Income from continuing operations before 139.€ 166.2 224.¢
Provision for (benefit from) income tax 67.1 (61.1) 53.C
Income from continuing operations 72.5 227.L 171.€
Income from discontinued operations, net of 0.2 Alg 51.k
Net income 72.€ 231.¢ 223.1
Less net income attributable to noncontrolling iegts (15.7) (31.7) (39.§)
Net income attributable to Brink’s 57.1 200.2 183.%
Amounts attributable to Brink 's:
Income from continuing operatiol 56.€ 195.% 131.¢
Income from discontinued operatio 0.2 4.5 51.F
Net income attributable to Brink's 57.1 200.2 183.%
Earnings per share attributable to Brink’s common shareholders
Basic:
Continuing operation 1.1¢ 4.14 2.8t
Discontinued operatior 0.01 0.1C 1.11
Net income 1.1€ 4.2% 3.9€
Diluted:
Continuing operation 1.17 4.11 2.82
Discontinued operatior 0.01 0.1C 1.1C
Net income 1.1€ 4.21 3.9
Weighted-average share:
Basic 48.2 47.2 46.5
Diluted 48.4 47.5 46.7

See accompanying notes to consolidated finanaatstents.
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THE BRINK'S COMPANY
and subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (ks)

Years Ended December &
(In millions) 2010 2009 2008

Net income $ 72.€ 231.¢ 223.1

Other comprehensive income (los
Benefit plan adjustment

Net experience gains (losses) arising during thee (67.¢) 68.2 (501.29)
Deferred profit sharini (0.4) - -
Tax benefit (provision) related to net experienagg and losses arising during the y 24.1 0.3 32.7
Reclassification adjustment for amortization obpmiet experience loss included in net incc 37.¢ 28.2 11.€
Tax benefit related to reclassification adjustrr (13.5 (9.5 (0.7
Prior service cost (credit) from plan amendmentrduthe yeal (19.9) - 3.1
Tax benefit (provision) related to prior servicestfrredit) from plan amendment during the y 7.1 - (0.5
Reclassification adjustment for amortization obpervice cost (credit) included in net inco 2.7 1.2 0.3
Tax provision (benefit) related to reclassificatexjustmen (0.€ (0.1) 0.€
Benefit plan adjustments, net of t (30.2) 87.7 (454.5)

Foreign currency

Translation adjustments arising during the y 4.€ (92.9) (47.0
Reclassification from availat-for-sale securitie (0.6) - -
Tax benefit (provision) related to translation atjoents (0.7 0.7 0.8
Reclassification adjustment for deconsolidatiom éérmer subsidiar (2.0) - -
Foreign currency translation adjustments, netx 1. (93.7) (46.2)

Available-for-sale securities

Unrealized net gains (losses) on avail-for-sale securities arising during the y: 5.4 2.1 (7.2)
Reclassification to foreign curren 0.€ - -
Tax benefit (provision) related to unrealized naihg and losses on availa-for-sale securitie (1.7) - 2.€
Reclassification adjustment for net (gains) logseadized in net incom (3.9 - 6.2
Tax provision (benefit) related to reclassificatexijustmen 1.1 - (2.2)
Unrealized net gains (losses) on avail-for-sale securities, net of ti 1.€ 2.1 (0.6)
Other comprehensive income (lo: (26.7) (3.3 (501.9)
Comprehensive income (los $ 46.1 228.¢ (278.2)
Amounts attributable to Brir's:
Net income $ 57.1 200.z 183.¢
Benefit plan adjustmen (30.2) 87.7 (454.5)
Foreign currenc' (3.2 (40.9) (43.9)
Available-for-sale securitie 1.2 2.€ (0.6)
Other comprehensive income (lo (32.2 50.C (499.0
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to E's 24.¢ 250.2 (315.%)
Amounts attributable to noncontrolling interes
Net income 15.7 31.7 39.¢
Foreign currenc! 5.2 (52.¢) (2.3
Available-for-sale securitie 0.4 (0.5 -
Other comprehensive income (lo: 5.€ (53.%) (2.3
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to nonoditg interests 21.2 (21.€) 37.E
Comprehensive income (los $ 46.1 228.¢ (278.2)

See accompanying notes to consolidated finanaatstents.
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THE BRINK'S COMPANY
and subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity

Years Ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008

Capital Accumulated
in Excess Other
Shares Common of Par Retainec Comprehensivi  Noncontrolling
(In millions) (@) Stock Value Earnings Loss Interests Total
Balance as of December 31, 20( 484 % 48.4 452.€ 675.¢ (130.5 68.2 1,114t
Net income - - - 183.2 - 39.¢ 223.1
Other comprehensive lo - - - - (499.0 (2.3) (501.3
Shares repurchased (see note (1.0 (1.0 (9.8) (45.7, - - (56.5;
Termination of Employee Benefits Trt a.7) a.7) 1.7 - - - -
Dividends to:
Brink’s common shareholders ($0.40 per sh = = = (18.2; = - (18.2
Noncontrolling interest - - - - - (12.4 (12.4
Shar-based compensatio
Stock options and awarc
Compensation expen - - 9.5 - - - 9.5
Consideration from exercise of stock optic 0.1 0.1 18.F - - - 18.€
Excess tax benefit of stock compensa - - 8.2 - - - 183
Other shar-based benefit progran 0.1 0.1 4.2 (0.3) - - 4.1
Retire shares of common stc (0.2) (0.2) (3.8) (16.0; - - (20.0;
Spir-off of Brink’s Home Security Holdings, Ir
(“BHS”) (see note 17 - - - (468.9 LS - (467.4
Purchases of subsidiary shares fi
noncontrolling interest - - - - - (2.0) (2.0)
Balance as of December 31, 2008 45.7 45.7 486.% 310.C (628.0 91.c 305.2
Net income - - 200.2 - 31.7 231.¢
Other comprehensive income (lo - - - - 50.C (53.3 (3.3)
Shares repurchased (see note (0.2) (0.2) (2.5) (3.4) - - (6.1)
Shares contributed to pension plan (see nott 2.2 2.2 55.2 - - - 57.€
Dividends to:
Brink’s common shareholders ($0.40 per sh - - - (18.4, - - (18.4,
Noncontrolling interest - - - - - (13.7; (13.7;
Shar-based compensatio
Stock options and awarc
Compensation expen - - 6.€ - - - 6.€
Consideration from exercise of stock optic 0.1 0.1 1.2 - - - 1.3
Excess tax benefit of stock compensa - - 0.1 - - - 0.1
Other shar-based benefit progran - - 3.2 (0.4) - - 2.8
Adjustment to spi-off of BHS (see note 17 - - - 26.€ - - 26.€
Acquisitions of new subsidiaries (see not¢ - - - - - 4. 4.
Balance as of December 31, 20( 47.¢ 47.¢ 550.2 514.¢ (578.0 60.€ 595.¢
Net income - - - 57.1 - 15.7 72.€
Other comprehensive income (lo - - - - (32.3 5.€ (26.7,
Shares repurchased (see note (2.7 (1.7) (19.5; (12.5; - - (33.7,
Dividends to:
Brink’s common shareholders ($0.40 per sh = = = (18.9; = - (18.9
Noncontrolling interest - - - - - (18.4 (18.4
Shar-based compensatio
Stock options and awarc
Compensation expen - - 6.2 - - - 6.2
Consideration from exercise of stock optic 0.4 0.4 6.1 - - - 6.5
Excess tax benefit of stock compensa - - 0.7 - - - 0.7
Other shar-based benefit progran (0.2) (0.2) (1.1) (3.0 - - (4.3)
Acquisitions of new subsidiaries (see not¢ - - - - - 3.1 3.1
Balance as of December 31, 2010 464 % 46.4 542.€ 537.t (610.3 66.€ 583.1

(@ Includes 1.7 million shares at December 30720eld by The Brink's Company Employee Benefitgst that were not allocated to participants. frhst was terminated

in 2008 (see note 1€

See accompanying notes to consolidated financébstents.
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THE BRINK'S COMPANY
and subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Years Ended December &

(In millions) 2010 2009 2008
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income $ 72.€ 231.¢ 223.1
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cashigeal by operating activitie:
Income from discontinued operations, net of (0.3) (4.5) (51.5)
Depreciation and amortizatic 136.€ 135.1 122.2
Stock compensation exper 6.2 6.€ 7.8
Deferred income taxe (2.9 (91.0 (20.0
Deconsolidation of Brir's Belgium and wril-down to fair value 134 - -
Gains and losse
Sales of property and other as (1.2 (9.9 (13.1)
Acquisitions of controlling interest afty-method or co-method investment 13.7 (14.9) -
Bargain purchase g (5.2 - -
Impairment charge:
Available-for-sale securitie - - 7.1
Long-lived asset: 0.7 2.7 1.¢c
Retirement benefit funding (more) less thapemse
Pensior (4.2 (102.%) (12.2)
Other than pensio 16.€ 158 (5.2
Other operating 3.8 4.3 5.C
Change in operating assets and liabilities, nefffeficts of acquisitions
Accounts receivabl (37.7) 8.¢ (24.7)
Accounts payable, income taxes payable and acdialgtities 38.¢ (16.49) 40.€
Prepaid and other current ass (14.9 3.t (21.¢)
Other 7.7 2.3 (5.8
Discontinued operatior (9.9 23.E 172.%
Net cash provided by operating activit 235.% 195.2 427.1
Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital expenditure (148.9) (170.6) (165.9)
Acquisitions (100.%) (74.€) (12.7)
Available-for-sale securities
Purchase (3.0 (11.1) (3.5
Sales 1.2 4.7 2L
Cash proceeds from sale of property, equipmenirarestment: 4.¢ 10.5 16.€
Cash held by home security business at-off - - (50.0
Other (9.7 - 2.C
Discontinued operatior - - (150.¢)
Net cash used by investing activit (255.9) (241.7) (359.¢
Cash flows from financing activities:
Borrowings (repayments) of del
Shor-term debi 27.1 (0.9 (4.4)
Lon¢-term revolving credit facilitie 121.2 (20.7 93.t
Other lon-term debt:
Borrowings 3.€ 0.€ -
Repayment (19.5 (11.9) (12.¢)
Cash proceeds from s-leaseback transactio 1.2 13.€ -
Debt financing cost (2.5 - -
Repurchase shares of common stock of F's (33.7) (6.9) (56.€)
Dividends to:
Shareholders of Brir's (18.€ (18.9) (18.2)
Noncontrolling interests in subsidiari (18.9) (13.7) (12.9)
Proceeds from exercise of stock optit 1.2 1.2 16.2
Excess tax benefits associated with stock compiems 0.€ 0.2 12.5
Minimum tax withholdings associated with stock cangatior (1.9 (0.9 (17.€)
Other (0.2 (0.2) -
Net cash provided (used) by financing activit 60.C (46.€) 0.4
Effect of exchange rate changes on ¢ 0.1 (15.4) (13.1)
Cash and cash equivaler
Increase (decreas 40.C (207.9) 54.F
Balance at beginning of ye 143.( 250.¢ 196.£
Balance at end of ye. $ 183.( 143.C 250.¢

See accompanying notes to consolidated financébstents.
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THE BRINK'S COMPANY
and subsidiaries

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1- Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentatiol

The Brink’s Company (along with its subsidiaries;” “our,” “Brink’s” or the “Company”), based inihmond, Virginia, is a leading provider of sectnasportation, cash
logistics and other security-related services toklsaand financial institutions, retailers, govermtnagencies, mints, jewelers and other commergiatations around the
world. Brink’s is the oldest and largest secuasmsiportation and cash logistics company in the,ds81 a market leader in many other countries.

Principles of Consolidatior

The consolidated financial statements include tu@ants of Brink’s and the subsidiaries it controaBontrol is determined based on ownership rightsvhen applicable, based
on whether we are considered to be the primaryflmaey of a variable interest entity. Our inter@s 20%- to 50%-owned companies that are not ofiett are accounted for
using the equity method (“equity affiliates”), ustewe do not sufficiently influence the managenoénhe investee. Other investments are accoumtedsf cost-method
investments or as available-for-sale. All sigrafit intercompany accounts and transactions havedleginated in consolidation.

Revenue Recognitio

Brink’s. Revenue is recognized when services related toradrmar transportation, ATM servicing, cash logssticoin sorting and wrapping and the secure tiateson of
valuables are performed. Customer contracts haeespthat are fixed and determinable and we asBessustomer’s ability to meet the contractual &rincluding payment
terms, before entering into contracts. Customatraets generally are automatically extended dffterinitial contract period until either party témates the agreement.

BHS (discontinued operatior Monitoring revenues were recognized monthly agises were provided pursuant to the terms of sifbsccontracts, which had contract prices
that were fixed and determinable. BHS assessesutb&criber’s ability to meet the contract terms|uding payment terms, before entering into thetreet. Generally,
nonrefundable installation revenues and a portidherelated direct costs of acquiring new sultsgs (primarily sales commissions) were deferretirasognized over an
estimated 15 year subscriber relationship peridhen an installation was identified for disconnectiany unamortized deferred revenues and defeosts related to that
installation were recognized at that time.

Taxes collected from customer3.axes collected from customers and remitted to gowental authorities are not included in revenue$é consolidated statements of income.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on handrdedeposits and investments with original maesitf three months or less. As of December 310 2€dsh and cash
equivalents includes $38.5 related to cash heldeltain of our cash processing businesses. Custbn@sh that is processed in these secure caititsgoperations transfers
title to us for a short period of time. We rectind customers’ cash as part of our cash and cashagents with a corresponding liability of the smamount. The cash is
credited to customers’ accounts the following dagt we do not consider it as available for genesgbarate purposes in the management of our liquatid capital resources.

Available-for-sale Securities

We have securities held as of December 31, 201@@60€ designated as available-for-sale securiiepdrposes of FASB ASC Topic 320yestments — Debt and Equity
Securitiesand are recorded in other noncurrent assets indhsolidated balance sheets. Unrealized gain$oasds on available-for-sale securities are gelyexgdorted in
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) e@lized. Realized gains and losses as well @ds in value judged to be other-th@mporary are reported in interest
other income.

Trade Accounts Receivable

Trade accounts receivable are recorded at thedadamount and do not bear interest. The allow&orogoubtful accounts is our best estimate ofahmunt of probable credit
losses on our existing accounts receivable. Wernhéhe the allowance based on historical writeeafferience. We review our allowance for doubtfidaunts

quarterly. Account balances are charged off ag#iiresallowance after all means of collection hegen exhausted and the potential for recoverynsidered remote.

Property and Equipmen

Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Digien is calculated principally on the straidime method based on the estimated useful livesdividual assets or classes
assets.
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Leased property and equipment meeting capital leategia are capitalized at the lower of the preésalue of the related lease payments or thevidire of the leased asset at
inception of the lease. Amortization is calculatedthe straight-line method based on the lease. ter

Leasehold improvements are recorded at cost. Aratidn is calculated principally on the straigimtel method over the lesser of the estimated usiédubdf the leasehold
improvement or lease term. Renewal periods ateded in the lease term when the renewal is detexdhio be reasonably assured.

Part of the costs related to the development artase of internal-use software is capitalized andréized over the estimated useful life of thewafte. Costs that are
capitalized include external direct costs of matlsrand services to develop or obtain the softwaard,internal costs, including compensation andleyeg benefits for
employees directly associated with a software dgraknt project.

Estimated Useful Live Years

Buildings 16 to 25
Building leasehold improvemen 310 10
Vehicles 3to 10
Capitalized softwar 3to5

Other machinery and equipme 3to 10
Machinery and equipment leasehold improvem 31010

Expenditures for routine maintenance and repairngroperty and equipment are charged to expensegorMenewals, betterments and modifications arétaliged and amortize
over the lesser of the remaining life of the asseif applicable, the lease term.

BHS (discontinued operation) retained ownershimoét security systems installed at subscriber iogst Costs for those systems were capitalizeddapdeciated over the
estimated lives of the assets. Costs capitalizgzheof security systems included equipment anttrizds used in the installation process, direlsbtaequired to install the
equipment at subscriber sites, and other costiased with the installation process. These otlests included the cost of vehicles used for ifetiah purposes and the portion
of telecommunication, facilities and administrato@sts incurred primarily at BHS’ branches thatevessociated with the installation process. Dimbr and other costs
represented approximately 70% of the amounts diggith while equipment and materials representguicgmately 30% of amounts capitalized. In adadiitio regular straight-
line depreciation expense each period, BHS chagespense the carrying value of security systestimated to be permanently disconnected baseda@npeaiod’s actual
disconnects and historical reconnection experience.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Gooduwill is recognized for the excess of the pusehprice over the fair value of tangible and id@tile intangible net assets of businesses acquirgdngible assets arising
from business acquisitions include customer liststomer relationships, covenants not to competdemarks and other identifiable intangibles. rigtale assets that are subj
to amortization have, at December 31, 2010, remginseful lives ranging from 1 to 15 years andeam@rtized based on the pattern in which the ecoodemefits are used or
on a straight-line basis.

Impairment of Lon¢-Lived Assets

Goodwill is not amortized but is tested at leastually for impairment at the reporting unit levehich is at the operating segment level or onellbew an operating segment.
Goodwill is assigned to one or more reporting uattthe date of acquisition. Our reporting units BMEA; Latin America; Asia Pacific and North Ameai The goodwill
impairment test, performed at October 1 of each,yiea two-step test. The first step identifiesetter there is potential impairment by comparirgyftir value of a reporting
unit to the carrying amount, including goodwill tife fair value of a reporting unit is less thandarrying amount, the second step of the impaitriest is required to measure
the amount of any impairment loss. Indefinite-tiiatangibles are also tested for impairment atleanually by comparing the carrying value of findee-lived intangible asset
to their estimated fair values. We base our esémaf fair value on projected future cash flows.

We completed goodwill impairment tests during eatthe last three years with no impairment charggsired. No impairment test was performed dutiregyear for
indefinite-lived intangibles acquired in the fougharter as no indicators of impairment existethashort time from acquisition date to year end.

Long-lived assets other than goodwill and otheefirdte lived intangibles are reviewed for impaimevhen events or changes in circumstances indibatearrying value of an
asset may not be recoverable.

For long-lived assets other than goodwill thattarbe held and used in operations, an impairmentiisated when the estimated total undiscountsti faw associated with the

asset or group of assets is less than carryingev#limpairment exists, an adjustment is maderitewthe asset down to its fair value, and a lesgcorded as the difference
between the carrying value and fair value.
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Retirement Benefit Plan:

We account for retirement benefit obligations ung&6B ASC Topic 715Compensation — Retirement Benefité/e derive the discount rates used to measurprédsent value
of our benefit obligations using the cash flow nhittg method. Under this method, we compare the'plarojected payment obligations by year with tberesponding yields
on the Mercer Yield Curve. Each year’s projectashcflows are then discounted back to their pres#loe at the measurement date and an overalluiscate is

determined. The overall discount rate is then deahto the nearest tenth of a percentage pointus&e similar approach to select the discount fatesajor non-U.S.

plans. For other non-U.S. plans, discount rateslaveloped based on a bond index within the cpuwiftdomicile.

We select the expected long-term rate of returnraption for our U.S. pension plan and retiree madatans using advice from an investment advisoramactuary. The
selected rate considers plan asset allocationts&rgepected overall investment manager performanddong-term historical average compounded raftesturn.

Benefit plan experience gains and losses are réedjin other comprehensive income (loss). Accatea net benefit plan experience gains and loss¢ekceed 10% of the
greater of a plan’s benefit obligation or plan &sse the beginning of the year are amortized é@tmings from other comprehensive income (loss) straight-line basis. The
amortization period for pension plans is the avenagnaining service period of employees expecteddeive benefits under the plans. The amortingtiriod for other
retirement plans is primarily the average remaitifegexpectancy of inactive participants.

Income Taxes

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recordegd¢ognize the expected future tax benefits orscokévents that have been, or will be, reportedifiierent years for financial
statement purposes than tax purposes. Deferreast®ts and liabilities are determined based odiffezence between the financial statement andgses of assets and
liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect toe yyear in which these items are expected to revevianagement periodically reviews recorded detetax assets to determine if
it is more-likely-than-not that they will be readid. If management determines it is not more-likbgn-not that a deferred tax asset will be redliza offsetting valuation
allowance is recorded, reducing comprehensive ircfass) and the deferred tax asset in that period.

Foreign Currency Translation
Our consolidated financial statements are repant&dlS. dollars. Our foreign subsidiaries maintgieir records primarily in the currency of the ooy in which they operate.

Our accounting policy for foreign currency tranglatis different depending on whether the economyliich our foreign subsidiary operates has besigdated as highly
inflationary or not. Economies with a three-yeamulative inflation rate of more than 100% are edeed as highly inflationary.

Assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries onrhighly inflationary economies are translate@ ibtS. dollars using rates of exchange at the balgheet date. Translation
adjustments are recorded in other comprehensiarieqloss). Revenues and expenses are transtatg@sof exchange in effect during the year.n$aation gains and losses
are recorded in net income.

Foreign subsidiaries that operate in highly inflatiry countries must use the reporting currenay (iI8. dollar) as the functional currency. Localrency monetary assets and
liabilities are remeasured into dollars each batesteet date, with remeasurement adjustments hedteansaction gains and losses recognized inneggrn Nonmonetary asse
and liabilities do not fluctuate with changes indbcurrency exchange rates to the dollar.

Venezuela
Our Venezuelan operations accounted for $186 milin6% of total Brink’s revenues in 2010. Our igting margins in Venezuela have varied dependimthe mix of
business during any year and have been up to times our overall international segment operatiraggin rate.

In December 2009, we repatriated dividends gengfafeour Venezuelan operations that had been urpaidthe last several years using the legal panalérket exchange rat
We decided to repatriate our dividends using thalfe rate due to significant delays in receivihg needed government approval to repatriate didgat the official rate. We
began translating our financial statements for\éemezuelan operations using the parallel ratectife December 21, 2009, the date of our decigomte we expected to pay
future dividends using the parallel rate. Thisassistent with the guidance issued by the Int@nat Practices Task Force of the Center for A@iiglity (the “IPTF”) and U.S.
GAAP. This guidance provides that, in the absafasusual circumstances, the rate used for dividemittances should be used to translate forefgmétial statements.

80




In 2009, we recognized foreign currency translatasses because we changed to the parallel rapufposes of translating our Venezuelan finanaisitmon. We recognized
foreign currency translation losses in other corhensive income (loss) in 2009 of

« $85 million attributable to Brink’s

« $54 million attributable to noncontrolling interesand

« $139 million in total.

The economy in Venezuela has had significant iivihain the last several years. In determining whettenezuela is a highly inflationary economy, wewvously used the
consumer price index ("CPI") which is based onittilation rates for the metropolitan area of Cagééenezuela. Beginning January 1, 2008, a ndtmresumer price index
("NCPI") was developed for the entire country offéeuela. However, because inflation data was veitable to compute a cumulative three-year inflatiate for Venezuela
using only NCPI, we used a blended NCPI and CRlt@tetermine whether the three-year cumulatiffation rate had exceeded 100% at December 31,.2009

At December 31, 2009, the blended three-year cuigelanflation rate was approximately 100.5%. Aseault, beginning January 1, 2010, we designatete¥eela’'s economy
as highly inflationary for accounting purposes, arglconsolidated our Venezuelan results using ocounting policy for subsidiaries operating in Higimflationary economies
We remeasured bolivar fuerte-denominated net monatsets at each balance sheet date using théeperte until June 9, 2010, when the Venezuelavegnment replaced the
parallel rate with a new exchange process thatiregjeach transaction be approved by the goverrsnegnitral bank (the “SITME” rate). On a daily igghe central bank
publishes ranges of prices at which it may apptosesactions to purchase dollar-denominated baeds|ting in an exchange rate range of 4.3 to bl¥ér fuertes to the U.S.
dollar. To date, approved transactions have be#reaipper end of the range. To the extent we teebtain U.S. dollars, we currently expect oug\dollar-denominated
transactions to be settled at a rate of 5.3 bofivartes to the U.S. dollar. We have used this tatremeasure our bolivar fuerte-denominated naonetssets and liabilities into
U.S. dollars at December 31, 2010, resulting inviaolfuerte-denominated net monetary assets atleee31, 2010, of $31.0 million. We recognized3z22million net
remeasurement loss in 2010.

Under the new law, approved transactions may noéexk $350,000 per legal entity per month. Degp#enew law, we believe that we will be able toadbisufficient U.S.
dollars to purchase imported supplies and fixeetas® operate our business in Venezuela. Weueellee new law will limit the repatriation of castvested in Venezuela for
the foreseeable future. At December 31, 2010Veumezuelan subsidiaries held $3.3 million of casth short-term investments denominated in U.S. dolad $18.2 million of
cash denominated in bolivar fuertes. On an equigghod basis, we had investments in our Venezugdanations of $50.6 million at December 31, 20T@e amount includes
retained earnings net of currency translation adjasts of the business.

Concentration of Credit Risks

We routinely assess the financial strength of $icgmit customers and this assessment, combinedtméttarge number and geographic diversity of aust@mers, limits our
concentration of risk with respect to accountsirgdde. Financial instruments which potentiallypgct us to concentrations of credit risks are g@pally cash and cash
equivalents and accounts receivables. Cash aihdecpsvalents are held by major financial instdos.

Use of Estimates

In accordance with U.S. generally accepted accogmtiinciples (“GAAP”), our management has madealper of estimates and assumptions relating togperting of assets
and liabilities and the disclosure of contingersteds and liabilities to prepare these consolidfitedhcial statements. Actual results could diffeaterially from those
estimates. The most significant estimates usetidayagement are related to goodwill and other loregt assets, pension and other retirement beasdi¢ts and obligations, le
contingencies, deferred tax assets, purchase atamations and foreign currency translation.

Fair-value estimates.We have various financial instruments includedun financial statements. Financial instrumentscareied in our financial statements at either coggir
value. We categorize how we estimate fair valunaincial instruments and our retirement plan &sas follows:

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active ratgkhat are accessible at the measurement datkefdical assets and liabilities. Thefair valuerarchy gives th
highest priority to Level 1 input:

Level 2: Observable prices that are based on snpoit quoted on active markets, but are corrobdfayemarket date

Level 3: Unobservable inputs are used when litlao market data is available. The fair valuednehy gives the lowest priority to Level 3 inpt
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New Accounting Standards

Recently Adopted Accounting Standar

We adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Steh(iFAS") 168,The FASB Accounting Standards Codification andHlegarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles— a replacement of FASB Statement No. #82ctive for our quarter ende®eptember 30, 2009. SFAS 168 establishedr&®B Accounting Standards Codification
(“Codification”) as the sole source of authoritativon-governmental accounting principles to beiadph the preparation of financial statementsdnformity with GAAP.
Although SFAS 168 does not change GAAP, the adopifSFAS 168 affected our financial statementsesial future references to authoritative accogliterature are now i
accordance with SFAS 168.

We adopted the accounting principles establishedA8P FAS 132(R)-Employers’ Disclosures about Postretirement Beriiin Assetswhich is now part of FASB ASC
Topic 715,Compensation — Retirement Benefigsfective for us on December 31, 2009. This gudgarequires enhanced disclosures about plan asseiemployer’s defined
benefit pension or other postretirement plans deoto provide users of financial statements withuaderstanding of how investment allocation deaisiare made, the major
categories of plan assets, the inputs and valugidmiques used to measure the fair value of sdaets, and significant concentrations of risk iwifilan assets.

We adopted the accounting principles establishe8fAS 141(R)Business Combinationavhich is now part of FASB ASC Topic 80Business Combinationsffective
January 1, 2009. FASB ASC Topic 805 establishgsirements for an acquirer to record the assetsigd liabilities assumed, and any related nonodlitig interests related
to the acquisition of a controlled subsidiary, meed at fair value, as of the acquisition date2008, we expensed all acquisition costs for tretisas that were expected to
close in 2009. In 2009 and 2010, we recognizedsgand losses related to the acquisition of cdimigpinterests in affiliates previously accounted finder the equity method or
cost method — see note 6 to our consolidated finhstatements. The adoption of this new guidatidenot otherwise have an effect on our historficancial statements, but
does affect the way we account for acquisitionsrafie effective date.

We adopted the accounting principles establishe8B&S 160Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financitatements an Amendment of ARB Nq.\Blich is now part
of FASB ASC Topic 810Consolidation, effective January 1, 2009. FASB ASC Topic 81falsisshes new accounting and reporting standamdh&noncontrolling interest,
previously known as minority interest, in a subaigiand for the deconsolidation of a subsidiarhisBtatement clarifies that a noncontrolling ia&rin a subsidiary is an
ownership interest in the consolidated entity #faduld be reported as a separate component wijuiityen the consolidated financial statements.ditidnally, consolidated net
income is to be reported with separate disclostiteeoamounts attributable to the parent and tathrcontrolling interests. Prior to the adoptidrthis new guidance,
noncontrolling interests were deductions from inedmarriving at net income. Under FASB ASC Topi®, noncontrolling interests are a deduction freghincome used to
arrive at net income attributable to Brink’s.

We adopted the accounting principles establisheBB4&S 161 Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and Heddghativities an Amendment of SFAS 18&ich is now part
of FASB ASC Topic 815Derivatives and Hedgingeffective January 1, 2009. FASB ASC Topic 81duiees enhanced disclosures about an entity'saterévand hedging
activities. The adoption of this new guidance haceffect on our financial statements.

We adopted the accounting principles establishe8fAS 165Subsequent Eventsvhich is now part of FASB ASC Topic 85Subsequent Eventeffective for our quarter
ended June 30, 2009. FASB ASC Topic 855 estalsligkaeral standards of accounting and disclosueegesits that occur after the balance sheet datedfate financial
statements are issued or are available to be is3edadoption of this new guidance did not hawneaterial effect on our financial statements.

We adopted the accounting principles establisheBASB Staff Position ("FSP") EITF 03-6-Determining Whether Instruments Granted in SharedfaPayment Transactions
Are Participating Securitie, which is now part of FASB ASC Topic 26Barnings per Share effective January 1, 2009. FASB ASC Topic 260 efentities that accrue cash
dividends (whether paid or unpaid) on share-basgdent awards during the award’s service periodiiiddends that are nonforfeitable. The adoptiothis new guidance did
not have a material effect on our financial statetsie

We adopted the accounting principles establisheB3fy 157-2Partial Deferral of the Effective Date of SFAS 15Vhich is now part of FASB ASC Topic 82Bair Value
Measurements and Disclosuresffective January 1, 2009. This guidance deldafieceffective date of FASB ASC Topic 820 for adihmecurring fair value measurements of
nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilitieeeTadoption of this guidance did not have a mdtefiact on our results of operations or finangiasition.

We adopted the accounting principles establisheBSF FAS 157-4Determining Fair Value When the Volume and Levéldivity for the Asset or Liability Have Signifitdy
Decreased and Identifying Transactions That Are Qiaterly, which is now part of FASB ASC Topic 82Bair Value Measurements and Disclosuresfective for our quarter
ended June 30, 2009. FASB ASC Topic 820 providédagce for estimating fair value when the volumd kevel of activity for the asset or liability hagignificantly
decreased. FASB ASC Topic 820 also
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provides guidance for identifying circumstanceg thdicate a transaction is not orderly and affitimst the objective of fair value measurement iaaket for an asset that is r
active is the price that would be received in atedy (i.e., not distressed) transaction on thesusament date under current market conditionfidfrharket is determined to be
not active, the entity must consider all availabl@ence in determining whether an observable &@tion is orderly. The adoption of this new guickadid not have a material
effect on our results of operations or financiasition.

We adopted the accounting principles establishedH8P FAS 115-2 and FAS 124Recognition and Presentation of Other-Than-Tempptaxpairments which is now part
of FASB ASC Topic 320lnvestments — Debt and Equity Securitiesffective for our quarter ended June 30, 2009. BASC Topic 320 provides guidance on the recogmitio
of other-than-temporary impairments of investmemtdebt securities and provides new presentatiahdistlosure requirements for other-than-temporapairments of
investments in debt and equity securities. Theptido of this new guidance did not have a mateffdct on our financial statements.

We adopted the accounting principles establishedH8P FAS 107-1 and APB 284hterim Disclosures about Fair Value of Financialstrumentswhich is now part of FASB
ASC Topic 825Financial Instruments effective for our quarter ended June 30, 2008SB ASC Topic 825 requires disclosures about tirevidue of financial instruments in
interim reporting periods whereas, previously,drelosures were required only in annual finansiatements. The adoption of this new guidancdtessin the disclosure of
the fair value of our significant fixed-rate longrtn debt and our available-for-sale securitiesfagipinterim reporting periods. This new guidamiig not otherwise have an
effect on our financial statements.

We adopted the accounting principles establishedA8P FAS 141(R)-1Accounting for Assets Acquired and Liabilities Assd in a Business Combination that Arise from
Contingencieswhich is now part of FASB ASC Topic 80Business Combinationsffective for our quarter ended June 30, 2008is Guidance is effective for each of our
business combinations which were completed onter danuary 1, 2009. FASB ASC Topic 805 providhes tontingent assets acquired or liabilities aggim a business
combination be recorded at fair value if the acitjois-date fair value can be determined duringrtfeasurement period. If the acquisition-date falug cannot be determined,
such items would be recognized at the acquisitate d they meet the recognition requirements 0SBAASC Topic 450Contingencies In periods after the acquisition date,
items not recognized as part of the acquisitionreabgnized subsequently would be reflected inghsequent period’s income. The adoption ofrtkis guidance did not have
a material effect on our financial statements.

In August 2009, the FASB issued Accounting Stansldfddate (“ASU”) 2009-09yleasuring Liabilities at Fair Valuewhich was effective for us on October 1, 2009sTASU
clarifies the application of certain valuation tatjfues in circumstances in which a quoted pricaniractive market for the identical liability is reotailable. The adoption of this
guidance did not have a material effect on ounfaia statements.

In September 2009, the FASB issued ASU 20091 &stments in Certain Entities That Calculate Ng$et Value per Share (or Its Equivalent)hich was effective for our ye
ending December 31, 2009. ASU 2009-12 allows investorsstonet asset value as a practical expedientitoags the fair value of certain investments thanhdt have readily
determinable fair values and sets forth disclosegeiirements for these investments. The adopfiohi® ASU helped us in applying the enhanced dsale requirements
established by FSP FAS 132(R)-1. Otherwise, tloptoh of this guidance did not have a materiadetfon our financial statements.

We adopted the accounting principles establisheA®y 2009-16Transfers and Servicing: Accounting for Transfefr&imancial Assetsffective January 1, 2010. This ASU

removes the concept of a qualifying special-purgogéy (QSPE) from SFAS 148ccounting for Transfers and Servicing of Finandakets and Extinguishment of Liabilities
and removes the exception from applying FASB Intation 46RConsolidation of Variable Interest EntitieJ his statement also clarifies the requirementssimation and

limitations on portions of financial assets tha afigible for sale accounting. The adoption & trew guidance did not have a material effect anfinancial statements.

We adopted the accounting principles established®y 2009-17 Consolidations: Improvements to Financial ReportingEnterprises Involved with Variable Interestikes,
effective January 1, 2010. This ASU requires anoamgreassessment and replaces the quantitativesbisks and rewards calculation for determiningcivlieporting entity, if
any, has a controlling financial interest in a ghté interest entity (“VIE”) with a primarily quaditive analysis. The qualitative analysis is basedtientifying the party that has
both the power to direct the activities that magh#icantly affect the VIE's economic performan(he “power criterion”) and the obligation to abisdéosses from or the right to
receive benefits of the VIE that could potentiddly significant to the VIE (the “losses/benefiteribn”). The party that meets both these critesidégemed to have a controlling
financial interest. The party with the controllifigancial interest is considered to be the primaeyeficiary and as a result is required to conatdidhe VIE. The adoption of tl
new guidance did not have a material effect onfioancial statements.

In January 2010, the FASB issued ASU 2010408fhroving Disclosures about Fair Value Measuremen#sSU 2010-06 both expands and clarifies the dmale requirements

related to fair value measurements. Entities agaired to disclose separately the amounts of dignif transfers in and out of Level 1 and Levef the fair value valuation
hierarchy and describe the reasons for the tramsfelditionally,
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entities are required to disclose information almurchases, sales, issuances, and settlementgrossabasis in the reconciliation of Level 3 fa@tle measurements. The new
guidance also clarifies existing fair-value meament disclosure guidance about the level of diseggafion, inputs, and valuation techniques. We tedbfhe new disclosures
effective January 1, 2010, except for the LevadlBarward disclosures. The Level 3 rollforward dissures will be effective for us January 1, 20The adoption of the ASU
did not have a material effect on our disclosugewa did not have any significant transfers in antof Level 1 and Level 2 of the fair value valoathierarchy in 2010.

We adopted the accounting principles established®y 2010-09Subsequent Events: Amendments to Certain Recagaitid Disclosure Requirementsffective January 1,
2010. Under this amended guidance, SEC filermarnenger required to disclose the date througltiwvsubsequent events have been evaluated in dlygissued and revised
financial statements.

In January 2010, the FASB issued ASU 2010A&;0ounting and Reporting for Decreases in Ownersfi@ Subsidiary—a Scope Clarificatipwhich clarifies the scope of the
decrease in ownership provisions of ASC 810dd@nsolidation, and related guidance. The ASU clarified thatdtaendard applies to a subsidiary or group of adbet is a
business, a subsidiary that is a business thetnsferred to an equity method investee or joimtwe, or an exchange of a group of assets thatitates a business for a
noncontrolling interest in an entity (including equity method investee or joint venture). The A&&b expands the disclosures required upon deddasoh of a subsidiary to
disclose the valuation techniques used to meaberfair value of any retained investment in therfer subsidiary, the nature of continuing involvetredter the former
subsidiary has been deconsolidated or derecogaizeéavhether the transaction resulting in deconatibd was with a related party or if the deconsaikd entity will become a
related party. Finally, the ASU also requires tatities disclose valuation techniques used to areake fair value of previously held equity intgeeprior to acquiring control
a business combination achieved in stages. We eddlpis guidance effective January 1, 2010. Sge pA for disclosures regarding our remeasurenfempeeviously held
equity interest in SPP and page 117 for disclosabesit our 2010 deconsolidation of Brink’s Belgium.

In May 2010, the FASB issued ASU 2010-Fareign Currency Issues: Multiple Foreign Currerieychange Rateswhich codified an SEC Staff Announcement madibat
March 18, 2010, Emerging Issues Task Force (“ElTR&eting. The Staff Announcement provides the S&@'s view on certain exchange rates relatesivestments in
Venezuela. The use of different rates for remeament and translation purposes causes Venezuglartgd balances for financial reporting purposestae actual U.S. dollar
denominated balances to be different. The SECistitated that any differences between the ansraported for financial reporting purposes andadt.S. dollar
denominated balances that may have existed pritretapplication of the highly inflationary accoingt requirements (January 1, 2010, for calendar-gad registrants

including Brink’s) should be recognized in the inmstatement, unless the issuer can documentihdifference was previously recognized as a cutiwal&ranslation
adjustment, in which case the difference shouldebegnized as a currency translation adjustmentatigpted the guidance effective March, 31, 2016,renognized these
differences as a currency translation adjustmenf danuary 1, 2010, upon the adoption of highfiationary accounting in Venezuela. See relatestdldsures above in Note 1 —
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies — Forei@urrency Translation — Venezuela.

In December 2010, the FASB ratified EITF 10f8sclosure of Supplementary Pro Forma InformationBusiness CombinationgITF 10-G affects public entities that have
entered into material business combinations andiregjthat pro forma disclosures should reflectatsumption that the business combination had oegtas of the beginning
the prior annual period. It also requires a desicnh of nonrecurring pro forma adjustments. EIIG is effective and should be applied prospebtif@ business
combinations completed during periods beginningraitecember 15, 2010, with early adoption permittéée are required to adopt the new rule in 201t We have adopted
this standard for acquisitions occurring in 20B&e related disclosures on page 103.

Standards Not Yet Adopte

In October 2009, the FASB issued ASU 20094i8/tiple-Deliverable Revenue Arrangementshich will be effective for us on January 1, 20ABU 2009-13 establishes a
selling price hierarchy for determining the selliprice of a deliverable in a multiple-deliverablesmgement. In addition, the revised guidance reguadditional disclosures
about the methods and assumptions used to evaludtiple-deliverable arrangements and to identify significant deliverables within those arrangetseWe are currently
evaluating the potential effect of the amended gig on our financial statements.

In October 2009, the FASB issued ASU 2009-Qédrtain Revenue Arrangements that Include Softieeents which will be effective for us on January 1, 201ASU 2009-

14 amends ASC Topic 985 to exclude from its scapgible products that contain both software andsuaftware components that function together tovéela product’s
essential functionality. We are currently evalngtihe potential effect of the amended guidancewrfinancial statements.
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Note 2— Segment Information

We identify our operating segments based on hoauress are allocated and operating decisions ade mdlanagement evaluates performance and alloegesrces based on
operating profit or loss, excluding corporate adiens. We have four geographic operating segmantsunder the aggregation criteria set forthA$B ASC 280Segment
Reporting, we have two reportable segments: InternationdiNarth America.

The primary services of the reportable segmentsidiec
« Cash-in-transit (“CIT”) — armored vehicle transadidn
« Automated teller machine (“ATM”) — replenishmentaservicing
« Global Services — transportation of valuables dlgba
« Cash Logistics — supply chain management of cash
« Payment Services — consumers pay utility and dillsrat payment locations
« Guarding Services — including airport security

We currently serve customers in more than 100 cmstincluding approximately 50 countries whereoperate subsidiaries.

Revenue: Operating Profit (Loss
Years Ended December & Years Ended December &

(In millions) 2010 2009 2008 2010 2009 2008
Business Segments
Internationa $ 2,203." 2,240.¢ 2,231 % 164.¢ 156.¢ 215.C
North America 917.¢ 894.1 932.2 44.1 56.€ 56.¢

Business segmen 3,121t 3,135.( 3,163.t 208.¢ 213. 271.¢
Non-segmen - - - (62.€) (46.€) (43.4)
Total $ 3,121.t 3,135.( 3,163 $ 146.% 166.¢ 228.t

Capital Expenditure Depreciation and Amortizatic
Years Ended December & Years Ended December &

(In millions) 2010 2009 2008 2010 2009 2008
Business Segment
Internationa $ 110.7 103.1 1127 $ 84.t 88.t 85.7
North America 38.1 67.€ 52.€ 43.C 36.€ 31.C

Property and equipme 148.¢ 170.€ 165.2 127.5 125.1 116.7
Amortization of intangible asset

Internationa - - - 8.1 9.C 4.8

North America - - - 1.C 1.C 0.8
Total $ 148.¢ 170.€ 165.: $ 136.€ 135.1 122.2

Assets
December 31

(In millions) 2010 2009 2008
Business Segment
Internationa $ 1,531.° 1,265.¢ 1,289.:
North America 426.¢ 335.£ 341.¢

Business Segmen 1,958.t 1,600.¢ 1,631.(
Non-segmen 312.C 278.¢ 184.¢
Total $ 2,270t 1,879.¢ 1,815.¢
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Long-Lived Assets (a Revenue:

December 31 Years Ended December &
(In millions) 2010 2009 2008 2010 2009 2008
Geographic
Non-U.S.:
France $ 159.¢ 167.2 167.C $ 533.C 615.2 697.7
Brazil 99.¢ 96.5 29.C 303.: 257.¢ 193.t
Venezuel: 38.c 33.2 75.C 185.¢ 376.1 350.¢
Other 543.( 372.¢ 280.2 1,355.¢ 1,154. 1,158.¢
Subtotal 841.( 669.7 551.2 2,378.( 2,403.¢ 2,400.¢
United State: 185.£ 162.¢ 143.F 743.F 731.€ 762.€
Total $ 1,026. 832.€ 694.7 $ 3,121.t 3,135.( 3,163.!

(a) Long-lived assets include property and equipment, radwill; other intangible assets, net; and defentearges

Revenues are recorded in the country where seiviog@iated or performed. No single customer représ more than 10% of total revenue.
December 31

(In millions) 2010 2009 2008

Net assets outside the U.!

Europe, Middle East and Afric $ 271.2 300.¢ 365.(
Latin America 346.£ 261.1 258.t
Asia Pacific 94.¢ 87.¢ 26.€
Other 75.2 34.€ 30.1
Total $ 787.¢ 684.¢ 680.2

December 31
(In millions) 2010 2009 2008

Investments in unconsolidated equity affiliates

Internationa $ 11.5 10.2 13.1
Total $ 11.F 10.z 13.1

Share of earnings of unconsolidated equity affiligs

Internationa $ 3.¢ ALy 4.7
Other - - 0.2
Total $ 3.8 Al 5.

Undistributed earnings of equity affiliates inclade consolidated retained earnings approximated 88llion at December 31, 2010, $5.3 million atd@mber 31, 2009, and
$8.1 million at December 31, 2008.
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Note 3— Retirement Benefits
Defined-benefit Pension Plans

Summary

We have various defined-benefit pension plans éogegligible current and former employees. Besaiitder most plans are based on salary and yeaeswafe. There are
limits to the amount of benefits which can be gaigarticipants from a U.S. qualified pension plale maintain a nonqualified U.S. plan to pay bisddr those eligible

current and former employees in the U.S. whoseflismexceed the regulatory limits.

Components of Net Periodic Pension Cost

(In millions) U.S. Plans Non-U.S. Plans Total
Years Ended
December 31 2010 2009 2008 2010 2009 2008 2010 2009 2008
Service cos $ - - -8 6.€ 6.1 9.7 $ 6.€ 6.1 9.7
Interest cost on
PBO 46.5 47.7 45.¢ 13.4 12.2 12.€ 59.¢ 59.¢ 58.7
Return on asset:
expectec (66.€) (61.2) (58.9) (10.€) (9.0 (11.¢) (77.9) (70.2) (70.5)
Amortization of
losses 19.5 9.1 1€ 3.2 315 3.7 22.7 12.€ ok
Settlement los - 0.2 - 0.1 - - 0.1 0.2 -
Net pension cos
(credit) $ (0.8) (4.1) 119 $ 12.7 12.€ 146 $ 11.¢ 8.7 3.2
Obligations and Funded Status
Changes in the projected benefit obligation (“PB@xiyl plan assets for our pension plans are asv®llo
(In millions) U.S. Plans Non-U.S. Plans Total
Years Ended December & 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009
PBO at beginning of ye: $ 810.t 769.% 223.L 196.: 1,033.¢ 965.€
Service cos - - 6.€ 6.1 6.€ 6.1
Interest cos 46.5 47.7 134 12.2 59.¢ 59.¢
Plan participant contributior - - 2.8 2.8 2.8 2.8
Plan settlement - (3.5 (0.5 - (0.5) (3.5
Acquisition - - 39.C - 39.C -
Benefits paic (38.0) (36.7) (8.9 (8.€ (46.€) (45.0
Actuarial (gains) losse 71.1 33.1 15.7 (0.6) 86.¢ 32.t
Foreign currency exchange effe - - (2.7) 15.5 (2.1) 15.5
PBO at end of ye: $ 890.1 810.t 289.¢ 223.L 1,179. 1,033.¢
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of y $ 658.2 440.1 188.¢ 147.¢ 847.1 588.(
Return on asse- actual 77.4 103.t 22.2 19.2 99.€ 122.7
Plan participant contributior - - 2.8 2.8 2.8 2.8
Employer contributions
Primary U.S. Plan (¢ - 150.C - - - 150.C
Other plan: 0.8 4.2 15.c 14.€ 16.1 19.C
Plan settlement - (359 (0.5) - (0.5 (3.5)
Acquisition - - 0.€ - 0.€ -
Benefits paic (38.0) (36.2) (8.9) (8.9) (46.€) (45.0)
Foreign currency effec: - - (2.0) 13.1 (2.0) 13.1
Fair value of plan assets at end of y $ 698.£ 658.2 218.¢ 188.¢ 917.C 847.1
Funded statu $ (191.%) (152.%) (71.0) (34.5) (262.7) (186.¢)
Included in:
Noncurrent asse - - (8.€) (8.2 (8.6) (8.2
Current liability, included in accrued liabiliti¢ 14 1.7 3.1 1.2 4.5 2.8
Noncurrent liability 190.: 150.€ 76.€ 41.5 266.¢ 192.1
Net pension liability $ 191.% 152.% 71.C 34.5 262.7 186.¢
(@) Comprised of $92.4 million of cash and $57.6 milliaf shares of Brir's common stock
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Other Changes in Plan Assets and Benefit Recognize®ther Comprehensive Income

(In millions) U.S. Plans Non-U.S. Plans Total
Years Ended December & 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009

Benefit plan experience loss recognize:
accumulated other comprehensive income

(loss):
Beginning of yea $ (367.9 (385.7) (17.9 (30.9) (384.) (415.9
Net experience gains (losses) arising duri

the yeal (60.5) 9.2 4.2 10.€ (64.6) 20.C
Reclassification adjustment for amortizatic

of

experience loss included in net inco 19.5 9.1 1.¢ 2.C 21.4 11.1

End of yeal $ (408.9 (3679 (19.6 (17.9 (428.0) (384.9)

Benefit plan prior service cost recognizec
accumulated other comprehensive income

(loss):
Beginning of yea $ - - (8.9 (10.9) (8.9 (10.9
Reclassification adjustment for amortizatic
of
prior service cost included in net incol - - 1.2 1.t 1.2 1.t
End of yeal $ = - (7.6 (8.9 (7.6) (8.9

Approximately $30.9 million of experience loss &1d5 million of prior service cost are expectedhéoamortized from accumulated other comprehensivene (loss) into net
periodic pension cost during 2011.

The net experience losses in 2010 were primarig/tdithe lower discount rate of the U.S. planstigir offset by the actual return on assets béiigier than expected. The net
experience gains in 2009 were primarily due todbieal return on assets being higher than exp@etddlly offset by the lower discount rate of tHeS. plans.

Information Comparing Plan Assets to Plan Obligatie
Information comparing plan assets to plan obligatias of December 31, 2010 and 2009 are aggrebeled. The ABO differs from the PBO in that the @Bs based on the
benefit earned through the date noted. The PBIDdes assumptions about future compensation Iéeefsans that have not been frozen.

ABO Greatel Plan Asset:
(In millions) Than Plan Assel Greater Than AB(C Total
December 31 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009
PBO $ 985.( 867.t 194.% 166.< 1,179. 1,033.¢
ABO 968.2 862.5 181.7 156.2 1,149.¢ 1,018.°
Fair value of plan asse 722.€ 678.¢ 194. 168.2 917.C 847.1

Assumptions
The weighted-average assumptions used in detergnthsnet pension cost and benefit obligation®forpension plans were as follows:

U.S. Plans Non-U.S. Plans
2010 2009 2008 2010 2009 2008

Discount rate

Pension cos 5.9% 6.6% 6.4% 6.2% 6.2% 5.5%

Benefit obligation at year er 5.3% 5.2% 6.2% 5.8% 6.2% 6.2%
Expected return on ass« Pension cos 8.8% 8.8% 8.8% 5.5% 5.8% 5.8%
Average rate of increase in salaries

Pension cos N/A N/A N/A 3.1% 4.C% 3.C%

Benefit obligation at year er N/A N/A N/A 3.3% 3.1% 4.C%

(a) Salary scale assumptions are determined througbricil experience and vary by age and industrye U.S. plan benefits are frozen. Pension benefitsiot increas
due to future salary increas:

The RP-2000 Combined Healthy Blue Collar mortatitgle and the RP-2000 Combined Healthy White Catlartality table were used to estimate the expelited of
participants in the U.S. pension plans. Expebites of participants in non-U.S. pension plansevestimated using mortality tables in the counfrgperation.
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Cash Flows

Estimated Contributions from the Company into PA@sets

Our policy is to fund at least the minimum actulyidetermined amounts required by applicable ratjohs. Based on December 31, 2010, data, assumspnd funding
regulations, we are not required to make a cortiohuo the primary U.S. plan for the fiscal ye@nl2.

On August 20, 2009, we made a voluntary $150 mmiltontribution to our primary U.S. retirement ptarimprove the funded status of the plan. The momtion was comprised
of $92.4 million of cash and 2,260,738 newly issabdres of our common stock valued for purposeiseo€ontribution at $25.48 per share, or $57.6ionilin the aggregate.
Because we considered the contribution to be afiignt event for the plan, we remeasured our pte benefit obligation and plan assets relatezlitgprimary U.S. pension
plan as of July 1, 2009. As part of the remeasergmwe changed the discount rate from 6.2% to 6.8%.

At the time we made the voluntary $150 million adnition we changed the method of valuing assetfufading purposes from the fair-market-value basithe asset-
smoothing basis. We elected the asset-smoothisig reduce the volatility of future required trisutions to the plan.

We expect to contribute approximately $1.4 milliorour nonqualified U.S. pension plan and $14.2iomilto our non-U.S. pension plans in 2011.

Estimated Future Benefit Payments from Plan AdedBeneficiaries
Our projected benefit payments at December 31, 20t@ach of the next five years and the aggrefiateyears thereafter are as follows:

(In millions) U.S. Plans Non-U.S. Plan: Total

2011 $ 41.1 10.7 51.¢
2012 43.1 11.7 54.¢
2013 45.2 12.4 57.€
2014 45.7 13.t 59.2
2015 47.1 14.C 61.1
2016 through 202 266.¢ 85.7 352.¢
Total $ 489.1 148.( 637.1

Multi-employer Pension Plans
We contribute to multi-employer pension plans iew of our non-U.S. subsidiaries. Multi-employemngion expense for continuing operations was $albmin 2010, $2.1
million in 2009 and $2.1 million in 2008.

Savings Plans

We sponsor various defined contribution plans tip leéigible employees provide for retirement. Watah 125% of up to 5% of our employeesgible contributions to our U.:
401(k) plan. Participants were formerly allowedrweest in Brink’s common stock, but in January 208ll Brink’s stock investments were reallocateadther investments. Our
matching contribution expense is as follows:

(In millions)

Years Ended December & 2010 2009 2008

U.S. 401(k) $ 16.2 134 11.7
Other Plan: 4.C 3.4 1.8
Total $ 20.3 16.€ 13.F
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Retirement Benefits Other than Pensions

Summary

We provide retirement health care benefits forielegcurrent and former U.S. and Canadian emplqgyieekiding former employees of our former U.S.Icoa

operation. Retirement benefits related to our &rooal operation include medical benefits providlgdhe Pittston Coal Group Companies Employee BeRkan for UMWA

Represented Employees (the “UMWA plans”) as welt@sts related to Black Lung obligations.

Components of Net Periodic Postretirement Cost
The components of net periodic postretirement ated to retirement benefits other than pensiggre as follows:

(In millions) UMWA plans Black lung and other plar Total
Years Ended
December 31 2010 2009 2008 2010 2009 2008 2010 2009 2008
Service cos $ - - - % - - 01 $ - - 0.1
Interest cost on
APBO 27.1 25.¢ 31.z 28 2.8 3.C 30.C 28.€ 34.c
Return on asset:
— expectec (25.9) (22.¢) (38.6) - - - (25.9) (22.¢) (38.6)
Amortization of
losses 16.C 16.7 7.8 L& 0.1 0.2 17.€ 16.€ 8.2
Curtailment gain
@ - - - - - 2.9 - - (2.9
Net periodic
postretirement
cost $ 17.€ 19.¢ 0.€ $ 4.7 2.8 14 $ 22.F 22.¢ 2.C
(a) In January 2008, Brink’s froze the Canadiaimement benefit plan.
Obligations and Funded Status

Changes in the APBO and plan assets related tematint health care benefits are as follows:
(In millions) UMWA plans Black lung and other plar Total
Years Ended December & 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009
APBO at beginning of ye: $ 465.5 483.€ 47.1 48.€ 512.€ 532.2
Interest cos 27.1 25.¢ 2.8 2.8 30.C 28.€
Plan amendmen - - 19.c - 19.c -
Benefits paic (37.¢) (39.6) (5.9) (7.€) (43.7) (47.2)
Medicare subsidy receive 3.2 3.2 - - 3.2 3.2
Actuarial (gain) loss, n¢ 16.2 (7.5) 1.3 Allg 15.C (3.0
Foreign currency exchange effects and o - - 0.1 (1.2) 0.1 (1.2)
APBO at end of yee $ 474.% 465.5 62.2 47.1 536.5 512.€
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of y $ 308.( 276.1 = = 308.C 276.1
Employer contribution - - 5.¢ 7.€ 5.¢ 7.€
Return on asse- actual 37.1 67.€ - - 37.1 67.€
Benefits paic (38.)) (39.)) (5.9 (7.6 (44.0 (46.7)
Medicare subsidy receive 3.2 3.2 - - 3.2 3.2
Fair value of plan assets at end of y $ 310.z 308.( - - 310.2 308.(
Funded statu $ (164.7) (157.5) (62.2) (47.7) (226.9) (204.6)
Included in:

Current, included in accrued liabilitit $ = = 7.7 658 7.7 658

Noncurrent 164.1 157.% 54.5 40.¢ 218.¢ 198.%
Retirement benefits other than pension liab $ 164.1 157.5 62.2 47.1 226.% 204.¢
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Other Changes in Plan Assets and Benefit Recognize®ther Comprehensive Income
Changes in accumulated other comprehensive inctass) (0f our retirement benefit plans other thanspens are as follows:

(In millions) UMWA plans Black lung and other plar Total
Years Ended December & 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009

Benefit plan experience gain (loss) recognize
accumulated other comprehensive income

(loss):
Beginning of yea $ (251.¢) (321.00 $ 9.9 52 $ (260.9 (326.9)
Net experience gains (losses) arising duri
the yeal 4.5 52.7 1.3 4.5 3.2 48.2
Reclassification adjustment for amortizatic
of
experience losses included in net incc 16.C 16.7 0.4 0.4 16.4 17.1
End of yeal $ (240.0 (2516 $ (7.6) 93 s (247.9) (260.9
Benefit plan prior service (cost) credit recogni.
in
accumulated other comprehensive income
(loss):
Beginning of yea $ - - % 2.€ 2¢ % 2.€ 2.¢
Prior service cost from plan amendme
during the yea - - (29.9) - (29.9) -

Reclassification adjustment for amortizatic
or curtailment
recognition of prior service credit includ:
in net income - - 1.4 (0.9) 1.4 (0.3
End of yeal $ = - $ (15.%) 2€ $ (15.%) 2.€

We estimate that $15.4 million of experience lasd $2 million of prior service cost will be amosit from accumulated other comprehensive incoms)(logo net periodic
postretirement cost during 2011.

We recognized net experience losses in 2010 asedaidth the UMWA obligations primarily related tioe lower discount rate and mortality losses, pHytoffset by the return
on assets being higher than expected.

We recognized net experience gains in 2009 assacwith the UMWA obligations primarily related toet return on assets being higher than expectedeswegjotiating a
contract at a discount for the prescription drugetage. The gains were partially offset by logm#marily related to extending the time it takesaach the ultimate health care
cost rate of 5% from four to six years.

Assumptions
The accumulated postretirement benefit obligatiddPBO”) for each of the plans was determined ugimg unit credit method and an assumed discountsatellows:

2010 2009 2008
Weightec-average discount rat
Postretirement cos
UMWA plans 5.% 6.2% 6.4%
Black lung 5.2% 6.2% 6.1%
Weightec-average 5.8% 6.2% 6.4%
Benefit obligation at year en
UMWA plans 5.2% 5.€% 6.2%
Black lung 4.8% 5.4% 6.2%
Weightec-average 5.2% 5.£% 6.2%
Expected return on asst 8.8% 8.£% 8.8%

The RP-2000 Employee, Annuitant, Blue Collar andnBmed Healthy Blue Collar mortality tables arenpairily used to estimate expected lives of participa

2010 Health Care Reform

ThePatient Protection and Affordable Care Aatvhich was enacted in March 2010, contains an @ment to the laws governing federal black lung ffienéor coal

miners. The amendment creates a presumption émetfibts should be awarded to current or former otakrs that have accumulated 15 or more yearsalfroine employment
if they are able to prove that they have a disghtinlmonary disease. Previously, miners were redub demonstrate that their disabling pulmonasgake was caused by bl:
lung disease, and not by some other cause suchdsrg or old age. Under the new law, the burdigproof becomes the employer’s to establish thatdisabling pulmonary
disease is not black lung disease or that the rsidesease did not result from coal mine employmeurviving spouses will no longer be requiregbtove that black lung
disease caused the death of a miner to contineévieg benefits.
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The new law will be used to assess claims thatamently being reviewed, unless the claim waslifiefore January 1, 2005. Miners who have beereddrenefits in the past
(either as a result of not being able to prove they have a disabling pulmonary disease, or nioigha&ble to prove that their disease was black Wisgase) may reapply for
benefits and these claims will be assessed usengetv rules. The amendment will likely increaseapproval rates for coal miners applying to recdilazk lung benefits. We
remeasured our black lung obligation as of March2®1L0, to reflect an estimate of the increasemounts to be paid to miners as a result of the laew The obligation
increased $19.3 million as a result of the remeament, from $42.3 million before the remeasurent@$61.6 million.

Approval rates used in the remeasurement of thekbilang obligation were increased to reflect amneste of the effect of the new legislation. Theadiunt rate used at
remeasurement was 5.3% (compared to 5.4% at Dece83hp2009) and the health care cost trend rateSu#é (compared to 8.0% at December, 31, 2009)préval rates are
difficult to estimate since the effect of the charig the law has not yet been observed in pracfide liability could change in the future if thepsoval rates used in the
estimates of the liabilities are either too highaw low. These estimated amounts will chang&énftiture to reflect payments made, actuarial teatans, and other changes in
estimates. Actual amounts could differ materiédbm the currently estimated amounts.

Health Care Cost Trend Rat

For UMWA plans, the assumed health care cost tratedused to compute the 2010 APBO is 7.0% for 28&glining ratably to 5.0% in 2017 and thereafte2009: 7.5% for
2010 declining ratably to 5.0% in 2016 and theezaft For the black lung obligation, the assumealthecare cost trend rate used to compute the 2CEO was 5.0%. Other
plans in the U.S. provide for fixed-dollar valuevecage for eligible participants and, accordinglse not adjusted for inflation.

The table below shows the estimated effects ofeap@mncentage-point change in the assumed heatcoat trend rates for each future year.
Effect of Change in Assumed Health

Care Trend Rate
(In millions) Increase 1% Decrease 19

Higher (lower):
Service and interest cost in 20 $ 2.8 (2.4)
APBO at December 31, 20: 53.E (45.7)

TheMedicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modeation Act of 2008the “Medicare Act”) provides for a prescriptiorudrbenefit under Medicare as well as a federal
subsidy to sponsors of retiree health care beplits that provide a benefit that is at least a@lig equivalent to Medicare prescription drug béts. Because of the broadness
of coverage provided under our plan, we believettha plan benefits are at least actuarially edaivato the Medicare benefits. The estimated efféthe legislation has been
recorded as a reduction to the APBO, as permityeld3P 106-2Accounting and Disclosure Requirements Relatetlédvtedicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and
Modernization Act of 2003included in FASB ASC Topic 71&ompensation — Retirement BenefitShe estimated value of the projected federasisiyoassumes no changes in
participation rates and assumes that the subsigycéved in the year after claims are paid. Ttarated reduction in per capita claim costs fatip@ants over 65 years old
was 8.6%.

Our net periodic postretirement costs were appratéhy $4.5 million lower in 2010, $4.3 million low& 2009 and $5.5 million lower in 2008 due to Medicare Act as a res
of lower interest cost and amortization of loss€be estimated net present value of the subsidlgcted as a reduction to the APBO, was approxima80.2 million at
December 31, 2010, and $46.6 million at Decembef6@9.

Cash Flows

Estimated Contributions from the Company to Plagets

Based on the funded status and assumptions at ecedh, 2010, we expect the Company to contribasé ¢o the plans to pay 2011 beneficiary paymemtblack lung and
other plans. We do not expect to contribute caghut UMWA plans since these plans have sufficenbunts held in trust to pay for beneficiary paytadar 2011. Our
UMWA plans are not covered by ERISA or other furgdiaws or regulations that require these plansdetrfunding ratios.
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Estimated Future Benefit Payments from Plan AgsdBeneficiaries
Our projected benefit payments at December 31, 2@t@ach of the next five years and the aggrefiateyears thereafter are as follows:

Before Medicare Subsic Medicare Net Projected
Black lung and

(In millions) UMWA plans other plans Subtotal Subsidy Paymentt
2011 $ 39.€ 7.8 47.4 (3. 44.:
2012 40.1 7.4 47.5 3.2 44.:
2013 40.€ 7.1 47.7 3.3 44 .4
2014 40.3 6.7 47.C (3.9 43.€
2015 40.2 6.4 46.€ (3.9 43.2
2016 through 202 189.¢ 27.¢ 217.¢ (17.€) 200.2
Total $ 390.7 63.2 454.( (34.0 420.(

Retirement Plan Assets

U.S. Plans
The fair values of the investments of our U.S. pamplans have been estimated using the net agket per share of the investments.
Except for the hedge fund of funds, which are catiegd as a Level 3 valuation, the fair valueslbinzestments of our U.S. pension plans are baselevel 1 valuation inputs.

December 31, 201 December 31, 200
% % % %
Total Fair Actual Target Total Fair Actual Target

(In millions, except percentage Value Allocation Allocation Value Allocation Allocation
U.S. Pension Plans
Cash, cash equivalents and receiva $ 0.1 = = 6.7 1 -
Equity securities

The Brink's Company common stock ( - - - 33.2 5 -

U.S. larg-cap (b) 210.7 30 30 189.7 29 30

U.S. small/mi-cap (b) 62.2 9 8 51.€ 8 8

International (b’ 85.¢ 12 12 75.€ 11 12
Fixec-income securities

Long duration (c 156.£ 23 23 137.¢ 21 23

High yield (d) 57.2 8 8 51.t 8 8

Emerging markets (¢ 27.¢ 4 4 24.€ 4 4
Other types of investment

Hedge fund of funds (i 98.1 14 15 87.2 13 15
Total $ 698.4 10C 10C 658.2 10C 10C
UMWA Plans
Equity securities

U.S. largrcap (b) $ 117.C 38 37 115.7 37 37

U.S. small/mi-cap (b) 28.4 9 9 29.¢ 10 9

International (b 447 15 14 48.€ 16 14
Fixec-income securities

Core fixed income (g 41.4 13 13 34.7 11 13

High yield (d) 25.€ 8 8 26.7 9 8

Emerging markets (¢ 12.7 4 4 12.4 4 4
Other types of investment

Hedge fund of funds (i 40.4 i3] il5 40.C i3] il5
Total $ 310.2 10C 10C 308.( 10C 10C

(@ Anindependent fiduciary made all investment decisiregarding these shares and, as a result,westiment is excluded from our target asset allona
(b)  These categories include actively managed ahditunds that track various indices such as the S&®PIndex, the Russell 2500 Index and the MSCIGduntry World
Ex-U.S. Index.

93




(c)  This category represents an actively managemahfund that seeks to duplicate the risk andrretharacteristics of a long-term fixed-incomeuwsties portfolio with an
approximate duration of 10 to 13 years by usingrg Iduration bond portfolio, including interestaawap agreements and Treasury futures contracthe purpose of
managing the overall duration of this fui

(d) This category represents an actively managettiah fund that invests primarily in fixed-incomecsrrities rated below investment grade, includiogporate bonds and
debentures, convertible and preferred securitidszan-coupon obligations. The fu’s average weighted maturity may vary and will galiginot exceed ten yeai

(e) This category represents an actively managgdahfund that invests primarily in U.S.-dollarraeminated debt securities of government, governmedated and corpora

issuers in emerging market countries, as well dienorganized to restructure the outstanding débuch issuer

(f) This category represents an actively managetlial fund that invests in different hedge-fundastments, with various strategies. The fund hajgfwoximately 40

separate hedge-fund investments. Strategies iedl(®) long-short equity, (2) event-driven andmissed-debt, (3) global macro, (4) credit hedgi&pmulti-strategy, and
(6) fixed-income arbitrage. Its investment objeetis to seek to achieve an attractive risk-adgusteurn with moderate volatility and moderate dii@nal market exposure
over a full market cycle

(g) This category represents an actively managetahfund that invests in funds with investmemntsriortgage backed securities, corporate bondsraredtment grade

securities. The category seeks to provide retanasa risk profile of the Barclays Capital U.S. Aggate Bond Inde»

Assets of our U.S. plans are invested with an divjeof maximizing the total return, taking intoreideration the liabilities of the plan, and minzing the risks that could cree
the need for excessive contributions. Plan assetsvested primarily using actively managed ant®with asset allocation targets listed in théemibelow. Our policy does
not permit the purchase of Brink’s common stodknimediately after any such purchase the aggregatenfirket value of the plan assets invested inBsicommon stock
exceeds 10% of the aggregate fair market valubeoftsets of the plan, except as permitted by ametion under ERISA. The plans rebalance thegtassn a monthly basis if
actual allocations of assets are outside predetedmanges. Among other factors, the performahesset groups and investment managers will affectong-term rate of
return.

All of the investments of our U.S. retirement plaas be redeemed daily, except for the hedge feifuhds, which can be redeemed quarterly, sub@eanly restrictions impos:
by the underlying hedge funds.

Non-U.S. Plans

The fair values of the investments of our non-&hsion plans have been estimated using the rest\sdse per share of the investments. Exceptdsh@nd cash equivalents
(categorized as a Level 1 valuation) and an infiait amount of Level 3 investments, the fair eawf all other investments of our non-U.S. pengians are based on Level 2
valuation inputs.

December 31, 201 December 31, 200

% % % %
Total Fair Actual Target Total Fair Actual Target
(In millions, except percentage Value Allocation Allocation Value Allocation Allocation
Non-U.S. Pension Plans
Cash and cash equivalel $ 0.2 0.3 - -
Equity securities
U.S. equity funds (8 28.1 22.F
Canadian equity funds ( 28.2 22.F
European equity funds ( 16.€ 14.¢
Asia-pacific equity funds (a 3.C 2.t
Emerging markets(e 5.7 Allg
Other no-U.S. equity funds (¢ 11.7 9.2
Total equity securitie 93.2 43 48 76.1 40 47
Fixec-income securities
Global credit (b; 23.7 22.1
Canadian fixe-income funds (c 17.F 14.2
European fixe-income funds (d 3.7 34
High-yield (e) 8.2 7.€
Emerging markets (i 4.5 4.2
Long-duration (g) 53.E 48.4
Total fixec-income securitie 111.1 52 52 100.5 53 53
Other types of investment
Convertible securities ( 7.4 6.2
Other 6.5 5.5
Total other types of investmer 13.€ 5 - 11.¢ 7 -
Total 218.€ 10C 10C 188.¢ 10C 10C

(a) These categories are comprised of equityxiadévely managed funds that track various ind&esh as S&P 500 Composite Total Return Index, &u$600 and 2000
Indices, MSCI Europe E-UK Index, S&P/TSX Total Return Index, MSCI EAFE dand others
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(b) This category represents investn-grade corporate bonds of U.S. and European isfwensdiverse industrie:

(c) This category seeks to achieve a return that exscéedScotia Capital Markets Universe Bond Inc

(d) This category is designed to generate incondeexhibit volatility similar to that of the Stemtj denominated bond market. This category primamitests in investment

grade or better securitie

This category consists of global high-yielshds. This category invests in lower rated and tedréixed income, floating rate and other debt siéies issued by European

and American companie

(f) This category consists of a diversified politiof listed and unlisted debt securities issugdjbvernments, financial institutions, companiestiver entities domiciled in
emerging market countrie

(g) This category is designed to achieve a retomsistent with holding longer term debt instrunsenthis category invests in interest rate andhiitth derivatives,
governmer-issued bonds, re-return bonds, and futures contra

(h) This category invests in convertible securitieglobal issuers from diverse industri

(e

~

Asset allocation strategies for our norS. plans are designed to accumulate a divergifietfolio among markets and asset classes in eodeduce market risk and increase
likelihood that pension assets are available tolEmefits as they are due. Assets of non-U.S.ipemsans are invested primarily using actively mged accounts. The
weightedaverage asset allocation targets are listed itathle below, and reflect limitations on types oféatments held and allocations among assets classesquired by loc
regulation or market practice of the country whiseassets are invested. Most of the investmédrdaranon-U.S. retirement plans can be redeemézhat monthly, except for a
portion of “Other” in the below table, which can tegleemed quarterly or are in the process of lefiod.

Changes in 2009 and 2010 of plan assets measufaid &lue using significant unobservable inputevel 3) for our retirement plans are as follows:

U.S. Pension Non-U.S.
(In millions) Plans UMWA Plans Pension Plan
Balance at December 31, 20 $ - - 3.2
Actual return on plan asse
Relating to assets still held at the reporting « 3.t 1.8 (1.9
Relating to assets sold during the pel - - -
Purchases, sales and settlem: 83.¢ 38.2 -
Transfers in and/or out of Level - - -
Balance at December 31, 20 87.2 40.C 1.t
Actual return on plan asse
Relating to assets still held at the reporting 13 0.4 (0.4)
Relating to assets sold during the pel - -
Purchases, sales and settlem: 9 - 0.3
Transfers in and/or out of Level - -
Balance at December 31, 20 $ 98.1 40.4 0.8
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Note 4— Income Taxes

Years Ended December &

(In millions) 2010 2009 2008
Income (loss) from continuing operations before ineme taxes

u.s. $ (2.0 37.C 25.¢
Foreign 141.€ 129.2 198.¢
Income from continuing operations before incomet $ 139.¢ 166.% 224.¢
Income tax expense (benefit) from continuing operains

Current tax expense (benefit)

U.S. federa $ 4.3 (29.1) 2.2
State 0.2 0.8 1.€
Foreign 64.€ 59.¢ 69.2
Current tax expens 69.4 29.¢ 73.C
Deferred tax expense (benef

U.S. federa (7.9 (72.5 3.¢
State - (8.2) 4.€
Foreign 5I5 (10.€) (28.5)
Deferred tax benef (2.3) (91.0) (20.0)
Income tax expense (benefit) of continuing operst $ 67.1 (61.1) 53.C

Years Ended December &

(In millions) 2010 2009 2008
Comprehensive provision (benefit) for income taxeallocable to

Continuing operation $ 67.1 (61.7) 53.C
Discontinued operatior (3.9 2.3 45.¢
Other comprehensive income (lo (16.7) 10.€ (33.9)
Shareholdel’ equity (0.7) (0.1) (13.9)
Comprehensive provision (benefit) for income ta $ 46.€ (48.9) 52.2

Rate Reconciliatior

The following table reconciles the difference begwehe actual tax rate on continuing operationsthadtatutory U.S. federal income tax rate of 35%.

Years Ended December &

(In percentages 2010 2009 2008

U.S. federal tax rat 35.(% 35.(% 35.(%

Increases (reductions) in taxes due
Adjustments to valuation allowanc 10.E (68.2) (6.1
Foreign income taxe (7.4) (3.5 (5.9)
Medicare subsidy for retirement pla 9.8 (0.€ (0.8
Tax settlemen (5.0) - -
French business tax ( 2.8 - -
Nontaxable acquisitic-related (gains) loss¢ 2.1 (2.9) -
Taxes on undistributed earnings of foreign affdis 1.1 (1.7 1.t
State income taxes, n (0.9 0.2 (0.5
Nondeductible repatriation char - 4.7 -
Other (0.5) - 0.2

Actual income tax rate on continuing operati 48.(% (36.71% 23.€%

(@) Effective January 1, 2010, a French busirmsgteviously reported as a pre-tax expense igtegas income tax expense due to the applicafi@P@\P rules to that tax

regime after French legislative chanc
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Components of Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities

December 31

(In millions) 2010 2009
Deferred tax assets

Retirement benefits other than pensi $ 82.C 81.¢
Pension liabilities 91.2 70.2
Workers compensation and other clait 33.2 37.C
Property and equipment, r 0.4 1.4
Other assets and liabilitie 99.7 70.C
Net operating loss carryforwar 38.€ 47.%
Alternative minimum and other tax credits 46.€ 28.E
Subtotal 391.¢ 336.:
Valuation allowance (45.9) (45.4)
Total deferred tax asse 346.( 290.¢

Deferred tax liabilities

Property and equipment, r 10.€ 6.C
Other assets and miscellane: 45.¢ 24.4
Deferred tax liabilities 56.4 30.4
Net deferred tax ass $ 289.€ 260.5
Included in:
Current assel $ 48.2 38.E
Noncurrent asse 276.C 254.1
Current liabilities, included in accrued liabilisi 4.7 (1.6
Noncurrent liabilities (30.6) (30.5)
Net deferred tax ass $ 289.€ 260.5
(@ U.S. alternative minimum tax credits of $3m#lion have an unlimited carryforward period, UfBteign tax credits of $8.6 million expire in 2QZind the remaining

credits of $0.4 million have various carryforwartipds.

Valuation Allowances

Valuation allowances relate to deferred tax adgsetarious federal, state and non-U.S. jurisdictioBased on our historical and expected futuralitxearnings, and a
consideration of available tax-planning strategieanagement believes it is more likely than not e will realize the benefit of the existing defst tax assets, net of valuation
allowances, at December 31, 2010.

Years Ended December &

(In millions) 2010 2009 2008
Valuation allowances
Beginning of yea $ 45.4 183.€ 56.C
Expiring tax credits (0.€) (0.7 (0.7
Acquisitions and dispositior (10.0) 0.2 (0.2)
Changes in judgment about deferred tax asse (0.9) (119.9) (11.0
Other changes in deferred tax assets, charge
Income from continuing operatiol 14.¢ 7.1 (2.2
Income from discontinued operatia (1.3 1.7 -
Other comprehensive income (loss) 0.1 (28.9) 148.2
Foreign currency exchange effe (1.9) i (6.6)
End of yeal $ 45.¢ 45.4 183.¢

(a) Changes in judgment about valuation allowancesbased on a recognition threshold of “more-likelgsttnot.”Amounts are based on beginningyeér balances
deferred tax assets that could potentially be zedliin future years. Amounts are recognized aonme from continuing operations. In 2009, inclugd47.8 millior
related to U.S. federal and state income ta

(b) In 2008, includes $145.5 million related to U.Stireenent plans’net experience losses incurred in 2008 that wetedeemed to be more likely than not of be
realized. In 2009, includes a $25.4 million ree¢related to net experience gains of U.S. retirgrp&ns recognized in 200
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Undistributed Foreign Earnings

As of December 31, 2010, we have not recorded féd&ral deferred income taxes on approximately $4illon of undistributed earnings of foreign sutisries and equity

affiliates. It is expected that these earnings$ mél permanently reinvested in operations outdigelt.S. It is not practical to compute the estedateferred tax liability on these
earnings.

Net Operating Losse

The gross amount of the net operating loss camydods as of December 31, 2010, was $156.2 millibine tax benefit of net operating loss carryforvgaltefore valuation
allowances, as of December 31, 2010, was $38.6omiland expires as follows:

(In millions) Federal State Foreign Total
Year of expiration
2011-201¢ $ - 0.8 6.1 6.9
201¢-202(C - 0.€ 1.6 2.2
2021 and thereafte - 7.8 0.2 8.1
Unlimited - - 21.4 21.4
$ = 9.2 29.5 38.€
Uncertain Tax Positions
A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amoofinrecognized tax benefits is as follows:
Years Ended December &
(In millions) 2010 2009 2008
Uncertain tax positions
Beginning of yea $ 19.C 19.8 25.F
Increases related to pr-year tax position 0.1 1.C 0.1
Decreases related to pr-year tax position (1.3 (2.0 (0.6)
Increases related to curr-year tax position 1.¢ 1.2 2.€
Settlement: (7.0 (0.9 (1.9)
Effect of the expiration of statutes of limitati (2.€) (1.2 (2.0
Increases (decreases) related to business contigatnd dispositior 8.2 - (5.0
End of yeal $ 19.4 19.C 19.2

Included in the balance of unrecognized tax bemefitDecember 31, 2010, are potenti